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Foreword
In today’s complex economic environment, the financial reporting has
become critical from the point of view of allocation of economic resources.
For proper allocation of economic resources, it is imperative that financial
information contained in the financial reports of corporates is reliable,
comparable and transparent so that the present and potential investors and
creditors and other users can make rational investment, credit, and similar
decisions. This is achievable only if the financial reports are prepared and
presented using high quality Accounting Standards. The Institute of
Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI), being the premier standard-setting
body in the country, has been making relentless efforts in this direction by
formulating/revising the Accounting Standards since 1977 to be followed
in the preparation and presentation of financial statements.

Accounting Standards lay down sound principles for recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosures of information in the financial
statements, which substantially improve the quality of financial statements.
Significant changes have taken place in Accounting Standards since the
issuance of last edition of Compendium of Accounting Standards, such as,
Accounting Standards have been notified by the Central Government and
various Announcements relating to applicability of the standards have been
issued. Keeping all this in view, it has been decided to publish an updated
edition of the Compendium containing the existing Accounting Standards
as on July 1, 2012, so that all the relevant pronouncements could be made
available at one place for easy reference of the users of the Accounting
Standards. Accordingly, this edition of the Compendium of Accounting
Standards contains the Accounting Standards harmonised with the
Accounting Standards notified by the Central Government and all the
Announcements issued and other developments subsequent to the last edition
of the Compendium.

The existing Accounting Standards contained in this Compendium are
presently applicable to all the entities. IFRS-converged Indian Accounting



Standards (Ind ASs) would be applicable to various classes of entities as
may be prescribed by the relevant authorities such as the Ministry of
Corporate Affairs for the companies governed under the Companies Act,
1956, from a future date. However, even after Ind AS come into force,
these existing Accounting Standards would continue to apply to entities
other than those to which IFRS-converged Indian Accounting Standards
would apply.

I firmly believe that this edition of the Compendium would be immensely
useful to the preparers of financial statements, members of the Institute in
discharging their duties and other users of the existing Accounting
Standards.

New Delhi CA. Jaydeep Narendra Shah
June 18, 2012 President



Preface
Accounting Standards have assumed great significance in today’s
environment, which is constantly evolving and changing. Accounting
Standards act as pillars of sound financial reporting system of a country,
which is an integral and important part of good corporate governance and
provides the shareholders and other stakeholders useful information about
the entity to make their economic and financial decisions. To strengthen
the financial reporting system existing in the country, Accounting Standards
are formulated or revised from time to time.

In view of developments subsequent to the publication of last edition of
the Compendium of Accounting Standards, the Compendium of Accounting
Standards as on July 1, 2012, has been compiled which incorporates all the
relevant developments. One of the significant developments since the last
edition of the Compendium is that the Accounting Standards AS 1 to 7 and
AS 9 to 29 have been notified by the Central Government on
recommendation of National Advisory Committee on Accounting Standards
(NACAS).  There were certain differences between the Accounting
Standards issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India and
the Accounting Standards notified by the Central Government. Accordingly,
a decision was taken by the Council of the ICAI to harmonise those
differences. All the changes required to implement the decision of the
Council have been incorporated while updating this edition of the
Compendium of Accounting Standards, such as, changes in the language,
inclusion of consensus portion of certain Accounting Standards
Interpretations (ASIs) in the notified Accounting Standards as ‘Explanation’
to the relevant paragraphs, harmonised criteria for classification of entities
as SMCs and SMEs, etc. Besides this, Limited Revision to AS 15, Employee
Benefits, and amendments to AS 11, The Effects of Changes in Foreign
Exchange Rates, made by the MCA, have also been incorporated. Various
Announcements issued by the Council subsequent to the last edition of the



Compendium have also been incorporated in this edition of Compendium
of Accounting Standards.

This Compendium contains the mandatory Accounting Standards as on 1st

July, 2012. Therefore, AS 30, AS 31 and AS 32 on financial instruments
issued by the ICAI have not been included in this Compendium of
Accounting Standards, as these Standards are not mandatory at present
and are only encouraged to be followed. These Accounting Standards will
be issued separately after considering incorporation of necessary changes
in AS 30, AS 31 and AS 32 issued in 2007, to bring the same in line with
corresponding Ind AS 39, Ind AS 32 and Ind AS 107, respectively.

I gratefully acknowledge the efforts of all persons involved in the
formulation of Accounting Standards at relevant times. I am also grateful
to the various regulators and other bodies, our members, and other
individuals in supporting the technical activities of the Institute and in
providing invaluable inputs/suggestions in the process of formulation of
Accounting Standards and other related pronouncements. I wish to place
on record my sincere appreciation of Dr. Avinash Chander, Technical
Director, for bringing out this revised edition of Compendium of Accounting
Standards and for his technical support to the Accounting Standards Board
in all its endeavours. I would like to thank the team of the Technical
Directorate; CA. Parminder Kaur, Assistant Secretary, and CA. Shilpi
Hisaria, Executive Officer, for their efforts in bringing out this publication,
and CA. Geetanshu Bansal, Sr. Executive Officer, and other staff for their
support to the Accounting Standards Board.

I firmly believe that this edition of the Compendium would be very useful
to all concerned.

CA. Manoj Fadnis
New Delhi Chairman
June 15, 2012 Accounting Standards Board
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ANNOUNCEMENTS OF THE COUNCIL REGARDING
STATUS OF VARIOUS DOCUMENTS ISSUED BY THE

INSTITUTE OF CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS OF INDIA

I. Clarification regarding Authority Attached to Documents
Issued by the Institute1 

1. The Institute has, from time to time, issued ‘Guidance Notes’ and
‘Statements’ on a number of matters. With the formation of the Accounting
Standards Board and the Auditing Practices Committee2, ‘Accounting
Standards’ and ‘Statements on Standard Auditing Practices’3 are also being
issued.

1 Published in the December, 1985 issue of the ‘The Chartered Accountant’.
2 The Auditing Practices Committee of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of
India was established in 1982 with, inter alia, the objectives of preparing the
Statements on Standard Auditing Practices (SAPs), Guidance Notes on matters related
to auditing, etc. At its 226th meeting held on July 2, 2002 at New Delhi, the Council of
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India approved the recommendations of
the Auditing Practices Committee to strengthen the role being played by it in the
growth and development of the profession of chartered accountancy in India. The
Council also approved renaming of the Committee as, “Auditing and Assurance
Standards Board” (AASB) with immediate effect to better reflect the activities being
undertaken by the Committee. Apart from changes designed to strengthen the process
for establishing auditing and assurance standards, such a move would bring about
greater transparency in the working of the Auditing Practices Committee now known
as the Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (AASB).
The Council also approved the renaming of the Statements on Standard Auditing
Practices (SAPs) as, “Auditing and Assurance Standards” (AASs). The ICAI in 2007
issued the ‘Revised Preface to the Standards on Quality Control, Auditing. Review,
Other Assurance and Related Services’. Pursuant to issuance of Revised Preface, the
‘Auditing and Assurance Standards’ (AAS) have been renamed as ‘Engagement and
Quality Control Standards’. The Engagement Standards comprise:
• Standards on Auditing (SAs) – To be applied in the audit of historical financial

information.
• Standards on Review Engagements (SREs) – To be applied in the review of

historical financial information.
• Standards on Assurance Engagements (SAEs) – To be applied in assurance

engagements, other than audits and reviews of historical financial information.
• Standards on Related Services (SRSs)–To be applied to engagements involving

application of agreed-upon procedures to information, compilation engagements,
and other related services engagements, as may be specified by the ICAI.

3 ibid.
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2. Members have sought guidance regarding the level of authority attached
to the various documents issued by the Institute and the degree of
compliance required in respect thereof. This note is being issued to provide
this guidance.

3. The ‘Statements’ have been issued with a view to securing compliance
by members on matters which, in the opinion of the Council, are critical for
the proper discharge of their functions. ‘Statements’ therefore are mandatory.
Accordingly, while discharging their attest function, it will be the duty of the
members of the Institute :–

(a) to examine whether ‘Statements’ relating to accounting matters
are complied with in the presentation of financial statements
covered by their audit. In the event of any deviation from the
‘Statements’, it will be their duty to make adequate disclosures in
their audit reports so that the users of financial statements may be
aware of such deviations; and

(b) to ensure that the ‘Statements’ relating to auditing matters are
followed in the audit of financial information covered by their audit
reports. If, for any reason, a member has not been able to perform
an audit in accordance with such ‘Statements’, his report should
draw attention to the material departures therefrom.

4. A list of ‘Statements’ issued by the Institute and currently in force is
given at the end of this note.4

5. ‘Guidance Notes’ are primarily designed to provide guidance to members
on matters which may arise in the course of their professional work and on
which they may desire assistance in resolving issues which may pose
difficulty. Guidance Notes are recommendatory in nature. A member should
ordinarily follow recommendations in a guidance note relating to an auditing
matter except where he is satisfied that in the circumstances of the case, it
may not be necessary to do so. Similarly, while discharging his attest function,

4 Subsequent to the issuance of this ‘Clarification’, various other pronouncements
of the Institute have been made mandatory, while some others have been withdrawn.
For details of these and other developments, see the Announcements published
hereafter and Appendix 1 to this Compendium ‘Applicability of Accounting
Standards to Various Entities’. With regard to Statements on auditing, ‘Handbook
of Auditing Pronouncements’ issued by the Institute may be referred. It may also be
noted that besides statements on accounting and auditing, the Institute has issued
statements on other aspects also, namely, Statement on Peer Review and Statement
on Continuing Professional Education.
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a member should examine whether the recommendations in a guidance note
relating to an accounting matter have been followed or not. If the same have
not been followed, the member should consider whether keeping in view the
circumstances of the case, a disclosure in his report is necessary.

6. There are however a few guidance notes in case of which the Council
has specifically stated that they should be considered as mandatory on
members while discharging their attest function. A list of these guidance
notes is given below:–

(i) Guidance Note on Treatment of Interest on Deferred Payments
read along with the pronouncement of the Council, published in
‘The Chartered Accountant’, March 1984.5

(ii) Provision for Depreciation in respect of Extra or Multiple Shift
Allowance, published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, May
1984.6

7. The ‘Accounting Standards’ and ‘Statements on Standard Auditing
Practices’7 issued by the Accounting Standards Board and the Auditing

5 The nomenclature of this document was changed by the Council of the Institute at
its 133rd meeting held in April, 1988. The new nomenclature was ‘Statement on
Treatment of Interest on Deferred Payments’. In view of para 8 of this ‘Clarification’,
with Accounting Standard (AS) 10 on ‘Accounting for Fixed Assets’, becoming
mandatory (see Announcement II) in respect of accounts for periods commencing
on or after 1.4.1991, the ‘Statement on Treatment of Interest on Deferred Payments’
stands automatically withdrawn except in the case of certain specified non-corporate
entities where it stands withdrawn in respect of accounts for periods commencing
on or after 1.4.1993 (see Announcements III, V and VI in this regard). It may be noted
that pursuant to the issuance of Accounting Standard (AS) 16 on ‘Borrowing Costs’,
which came into effect in respect of accounting periods commencing on or after 1-
4-2000, paragraph 9.2 and paragraph 20 (except the first sentence) of AS 10, relating
to treatment of finance costs including interest, stand withdrawn from that date.
6The nomenclature of this document was changed by the Council of the Institute at
its 133rd meeting held in April, 1988. The new nomenclature was ‘Statement on
Provision for Depreciation in respect of Extra or Multiple Shift Allowance’. This
statement has been withdrawn in respect of accounting periods commencing on or
after 1.4.1989, as per the Guidance Note on Accounting for Depreciation in
Companies, issued in pursuance of amendments in the Companies Act, 1956, through
Companies (Amendment) Act, 1988.
7 Refer footnote 2. ‘Statements on Standard Auditing Practices’ have been renamed
as ‘Engagement and Quality Control Standards.’
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Practices Committee8, respectively, establish standards which have to
be complied with to ensure that financial statements are prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting standards and that
auditors carry out their audits in accordance with the generally accepted
auditing practices. They become mandatory on the dates specified either
in the respective document or by notification issued by the Council.9

8. There can be situations in which certain matters are covered both by a
‘Statement’ and by an ‘Accounting Standard’/‘Statement on Standard Auditing
Practices’10. In such a situation, the ‘Statement’ shall prevail till the time the
relevant ‘Accounting Standard’/‘Statement on Standard Auditing Practices’11

becomes mandatory. It is clarified that once an ‘Accounting Standard’/
‘Statement on Standard Auditing Practices’12 becomes mandatory, the
concerned ‘Statement’ or the relevant part thereof shall automatically stand
withdrawn.13 

9. List of statements14 issued by the Institute and which are mandatory in
nature.

1. Statement on Auditing Practices.

2. Statement on Payments to Auditors for Other Services.

3. Statement on the Manufacturing and Other Companies (Auditor’s
Report) Order, 1975 (Issued under Section 227(4A) of the
Companies Act, 1956).

8 Refer footnote 2. The ‘Auditing Practices Committee’ has been renamed as ‘Auditing
and Assurance Standards Board’.
9 Subsequent to the publication of this Clarification, the Council has made various
Accounting Standards mandatory. The Announcements made by the Council in
this regard are reproduced hereafter.
10 Refer footnote 2. ‘Statements on Standard Auditing Practices’ have been renamed
as ‘Engagement and Quality Control Standards’.
11 ibid.
12 ibid.
13 See also ‘Clarification on Status of Accounting Standards and Guidance Notes’
(reproduced hereafter as Announcement XIII).
14 To know the current Status of Statements on auditing ‘Handbook of Auditing
Pronouncements’ issued by the Institute may be referred.
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4. Statement on Qualifications in Auditor’s Report.

5. Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP-1) on ‘Basic
Principles Governing an Audit’.

6. Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP-2) on ‘Objective
and Scope of the Audit of Financial Statements’.

7. Statement  on Standard Auditing  Practices  (SAP-3)  on
‘Documentation’.

8. Statement on the Responsibility of Joint Auditors.

9. Statement on the Treatment of Retirement Gratuity in Accounts.15

10. Statement on the Amendments to Schedule VI to the Companies
Act.

11. Statement of Accounting for Foreign Currency Translation.16

II. Accounting Standards 1, 7, 8, 9 and 10 Made Mandatory17 

1. It is hereby notified that the Council of the Institute, at its 144th meeting,
held on June 7-9, 1990, has decided that the following Accounting Standards

15 This statement was withdrawn from 1.4.1995 pursuant to the issuance of
Accounting Standard (AS) 15, ‘Accounting for Retirement Benefits in the Financial
Statements of Employers’. AS 15 became mandatory in respect of accounting
periods commencing on or after 1.4.1995. AS 15 (issued 1995) has been revised in
2005 and titled as ‘Employee Benefits’.  Subsequently, two limited revisions have
been made to AS 15 (revised 2005).  AS 15 (revised 2005), after incorporating the
said Limited Revisions, came into effect in respect of accounting periods commencing
on or after December 7, 2006. Announcement XXXIV in this regard may be referred
. AS 15 (revised 2005) is published elsewhere in this Compendium.
16 This ‘Statement’ was withdrawn from accounting periods commencing on or
after 1.4.1989 on the issuance of Accounting Standard (AS) 11 on ‘Accounting for
the Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates’. For current status of AS 11,
see Announcement IV read with footnote 40 and Announcements IX, XVIII, XXII,
XXXI, XXXII, XXXIII, XXXV, XXXVI and XL.
17 Published in July, 1990 issue of ‘The Chartered Accountant’.
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will become mandatory in respect of accounts for periods commencing on or
after 1.4.1991.18

(a) AS 1 - Disclosure of Accounting Policies

(b) AS 7 - Accounting for Construction Contracts19

(c) AS 8 - Accounting for Research and Development20

(d) AS 9 - Revenue Recognition

(e) AS 10 - Accounting for Fixed Assets

2. The Companies Act, 1956, as well as many other statutes require that
the financial statements of an enterprise should give a true and fair view of
its financial position and working results. This requirement is implicit even in
the absence of a specific statutory provision to this effect. However, what
constitutes ‘true and fair’ view has not been defined either in the Companies

18 Subsequently, however, the Council decided that these standards should be
mandatory for certain enterprises, viz., Sole proprietary concerns, Partnership firms,
Societies registered under the Societies Registration Act, Trusts, Hindu undivided
families, and Associations of persons, only in respect of accounts for periods
commencing on or after 1.4.1993. The Announcement made by the Council in this
regard is reproduced hereafter (See Announcement III). This Announcement was
partially modified by the Announcement published in January 1994 issue of ‘The
Chartered Accountant’ (See Announcement V). Further, in this regard, the Council
issued an Announcement on applicability of accounting standards in the context of
section 44AB of the Income Tax Act (See Announcement VI). Also, subsequently,
an Announcement on applicability of accounting standards to Charitable and/or
Religious Organisations was issued (See Announcement VIII). Further, a Clarification,
namely, General Clarification (GC) - 12/2002 on applicability of accounting standards
to Co-operative Societies was issued (See Announcement XVI).  It may be noted
that with the issuance of the Preface to the Statements of Accounting Standards
(revised 2004), the Announcement on ‘Applicability of Accounting Standards to
Charitable and/or Religious Organisations’ and GC-12/2002, stand superseded. The
revised Preface is published elsewhere in this Compendium.
19 AS 7 (issued 1983) was revised in 2002 and titled as ‘Construction Contracts’. The
revised AS 7 is published elsewhere in this Compendium.
20 AS 8 stands withdrawn from the date of Accounting Standard (AS) 26, ‘Intangible
Assets’, becoming mandatory for the concerned enterprises (see AS 26 published
elsewhere in this Compendium).
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Act, 1956 or in any other statute. The pronouncements of the Institute seek
to describe the accounting principles and the methods of applying these
principles in the preparation and presentation of financial statements so that
they give a true and fair view.

3. The ‘Preface to the Statements of Accounting Standards’21 issued by
the Institute in 1979 states (paragraphs 6.1 and 6.2):

“6.1 While discharging their attest function, it will be the duty of the
members of the Institute to ensure that the Accounting Standards are
implemented in the presentation of financial statements covered by their
audit reports. In the event of any deviation from the Standards, it will be
also their duty to make adequate disclosures in their reports so that the
users of such statements may be aware of such deviations.

6.2 In the initial years, the Standards will be recommendatory in
character and the Institute will give wide publicity among the users and
educate members about the utility of Accounting Standards and the
need for compliance with the above disclosure requirements. Once an
awareness about these requirements is ensured, steps will be taken, in
the course of time, to enforce compliance with accounting standards in
the manner outlined in para 6.1 above.”

4. In accordance with para 6.2 of the ‘Preface to the Statements of
Accounting Standards’22, the Council of the Institute has decided to make
Accounting Standards mandatory in a phased manner. Accordingly, the
Council has already made two Accounting Standards, viz., Accounting
Standard (AS) 4, ‘Contingencies and Events Occurring After the Balance
Sheet Date’23  and Accounting Standard (AS) 5, ‘Prior Period and

21 With the issuance of the Preface to the Statements of Accounting Standards
(revised 2004), the Preface to the Statements of Accounting Standards, issued in
January, 1979, stands superseded. The revised Preface is published elsewhere in
this Compendium.
22 ibid.
23 This Standard has been revised (published in April, 1995 issue of ‘The Chartered
Accountant’). The revised standard came into effect in respect of accounting periods
commencing on or after 1.4.1995 and is mandatory in nature. Pursuant to AS 29,
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, becoming mandatory in
respect of accounting periods commencing on or after 1-4-2004, all paragraphs of
AS 4 that deal with contingencies stand withdrawn  except to the extent they deal
with impairment of assets not covered by the existing Accounting Standards  (see
Announcement XX).
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Extraordinary Items and Changes in Accounting Policies’24 mandatory in
respect of accounts for periods commencing on or after 1.1.87. It has now
been decided by the Council to make five more Accounting Standards (listed
in para 1 above) mandatory in respect of accounts for periods commencing
on or after 1.4.1991.

5. Attention of the members is also invited to the ‘Clarification regarding
authority attached to the documents issued by the Institute’. According to
the said clarification, ‘Statements’ have been issued with a view to securing
compliance by members on matters which in the opinion of the Council are
critical for the proper discharge of their functions. ‘Statements’ therefore
are mandatory. Accordingly, while discharging their attest function, it will be
the duty of the members of the Institute:

(a) to examine whether ‘Statements’ relating to accounting matters
are complied with in the presentation of financial statements
covered by their audit. In the event of any deviation from the
‘Statements’, it will be their duty to make adequate disclosures in
their audit reports so that the users of financial statements may be
aware of such deviations; and

(b) to ensure that the ‘Statements’ relating to auditing matters are
followed in the audit of financial information covered by their audit
reports. If for any reason a member has not been able to perform
an audit in accordance with such ‘Statements’, his report should
draw attention to the material departures therefrom.

6. Once an Accounting Standard becomes mandatory, the duties of an
auditor with respect to such Standard are the same as those specified at
paragraph 5(a) above.

24 This Standard has been revised and titled as ‘Net Profit or Loss for the Period,
Prior Period Items and Changes in Accounting Policies’ (published in February,
1997 issue of ‘The Chartered Accountant’). The revised standard came into effect in
respect of accounting periods commencing on or after 1.4.1996 and is mandatory in
nature.  Subsequently, a limited revision has also been made in this standard
(published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, September 2001, pp. 342).
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7. While discharging their attest function, the members of the Institute
may keep the following in mind with regard to the above Standards.

AS 1- DISCLOSURE OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

8. In the case of a company, members should qualify their audit reports
in case –

(a) accounting policies required to be disclosed under Schedule VI or
any other provisions of the Companies Act, 1956 have not been
disclosed, or

(b) accounts have not been prepared on accrual basis, or

(c) the fundamental accounting assumption of going concern has not
been followed and this fact has not been disclosed in the financial
statements, or

(d) proper disclosures regarding changes in the accounting policies
have not been made.

9. Where a company has been given a specific exemption regarding any
of the matters stated in paragraph 8 above but the fact of such exemption
has not been adequately disclosed in the accounts, the member should mention
the fact of exemption in his audit report without necessarily making it a
subject matter of audit qualification.

10. If accounting policies have not been disclosed at one place, or if certain
significant accounting policies have not been disclosed, by a company on the
ground that their disclosure is not required under the Companies Act, 1956,
the member should disclose the fact in his audit report without necessarily
making it a subject matter of audit qualification. Such a disclosure would not
constitute a reservation, qualification or adverse remark except where the
auditor has specifically made it a subject matter of audit qualification.
Accordingly, in the case of a company, the Board of Directors need not
provide information or explanation with regard to such a disclosure (except
where the same constitutes a qualification) in their report under sub-section
(3) of section 217 of the Companies Act, 1956.
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11. In the case of enterprises25  not governed by the Companies Act, 1956,
the member should examine the relevant statute and make suitable qualification
in his audit report in case adequate disclosures regarding accounting policies
have not been made as per the statutory requirements. Similarly, the member
should examine if the fundamental accounting assumptions have been followed
in preparing the financial statements or not. In appropriate cases, he should
consider whether, keeping in view the requirements of the applicable laws, a
qualification in his report is necessary.

12. In the event of non-compliance, by enterprises26 not governed by the
Companies Act, 1956, with the disclosure requirements of AS 1 in situations
where the relevant statute does not require such disclosures to be made, the
member should make adequate disclosure in his audit report without necessarily
making it a subject matter of audit qualification.

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 7, 8, 9 AND 10

13. Non-compliance with any of the requirements of the above Standards
by any enterprise27 should be a subject matter of qualification except that, to
the extent that the disclosure requirements in the relevant standard are in
addition to the requirements of the Companies Act, 1956 or any other applicable
statute, the member should disclose the fact of non-compliance with such

25 Subsequently, however, the Council decided that these standards should be
mandatory for certain enterprises, viz., Sole proprietary concerns, Partnership firms,
Societies registered under the Societies Registration Act, Trusts, Hindu undivided
families, and Associations of persons, only in respect of accounts for periods
commencing on or after 1.4.1993. The Announcement made by the Council in this
regard is reproduced hereafter (See Announcement III). This Announcement was
partially modified by the Announcement published in January, 1994 issue of ‘The
Chartered Accountant’ (See Announcement V). Further, in this regard, the Council
issued an Announcement on applicability of accounting standards in the context of
section 44AB of the Income Tax Act (See Announcement VI). Also, subsequently,
an Announcement on applicability of accounting standards to Charitable and/or
Religious Organisations was issued (See Announcement VIII). Further, a Clarification,
namely, General Clarification (GC) - 12/2002 on applicability of accounting standards
to Co-operative Societies was issued (See Announcement XVI). It may be noted
that with the issuance of the Preface to the Statements of Accounting Standards
(revised 2004), the Announcement on 'Applicability of Accounting Standards to
Charitable and /or Religious Organisations' and GC-12/2002 stand superseded. The
revised Preface is published elsewhere in this Compendium.
26 ibid.
27 ibid

.
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disclosure requirements in his audit report without necessarily making it a
subject matter of audit qualifications. Accordingly, in the case of a company,
the Board of Directors need not provide information or explanation with
regard to such a disclosure (except where the same constitutes a qualification)
in their report under sub-section (3) of section 217 of the Companies Act, 1956.

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 4, 5 AND 11

14. Accounting Standard (AS) 4, ‘Contingencies and Events Occurring after
the Balance Sheet Date’28 and Accounting Standard (AS) 5, ‘Prior Period and
Extraordinary Items and Changes in Accounting Policies’29 have already been
made mandatory in respect of accounts for periods commencing on or after
1.1.1987. The Council of the Institute has also already announced that
Accounting Standard (AS) 11, ‘Accounting for the Effects of Changes in
Foreign Exchange Rates’, will become mandatory in respect of accounts for
periods commencing on or after 1.4.199130. It may be clarified that the
requirements of paragraph 13 above will also apply in making a qualification/
disclosure in respect of deviations from the requirements of these Accounting
Standards.
28 This Accounting Standard was revised (published in April, 1995 issue of ‘The
Chartered Accountant’). The revised standard came into effect in respect of
accounting periods commencing on or after 1.4.1995 and is mandatory in nature.
Pursuant to AS 29, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets,
becoming mandatory in respect of accounting periods commencing on or after
1-4-2004, all paragraphs of AS 4 that deal with contingencies stand withdrawn
except to the extent they deal with impairment of assets not covered by present
Indian Accounting Standards (see Announcement XX).
29 This Standard has been revised and titled as ‘Net Profit or Loss for the Period,
Prior Period Items and Changes in Accounting Policies’ (published in February,
1997 issue of ‘The Chartered Accountant’). The revised standard came into effect in
respect of accounting periods commencing on or after 1.4.1996 and is mandatory in
nature.  Subsequently, a limited revision has also been made in this standard (pub-
lished in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, September 2001, pp. 342).
30 The Council subsequently postponed the mandatory application of AS 11 to
accounts for the periods commencing on or after 1.4.1993 (See Announcement IV).
The standard was subsequently revised in December, 1994, which was published in
January, 1995, issue of ‘The Chartered Accountant’ and was mandatory in respect
of accounting periods commencing on or after 1.4.1995. The Council subsequently
clarified that this standard is not applicable to forward exchange transactions which
are entered into by authorised foreign exchange dealers (see Announcement IX).
The Standard has again been revised in 2003 and titled as ‘The Effects of Changes
in Foreign Exchange Rates’, (published in March, 2003, issue  of  ‘The Chartered
Accountant’). See footnote 40 and Announcements XVIII, XXII, XXXI, XXXII,
XXXIII, XXXV, XXXVI and XL also.
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MANNER OF MAKING QUALIFICATION/DISCLOSURE IN THE
AUDIT REPORT31

15. In making a qualification/disclosure in the audit report, the auditor should
consider the materiality of the relevant item. Thus, the auditor need not make
qualification/disclosure in respect of items which, in his judgement, are not
material.

16. While making a qualification, the auditor should follow the requirements
of the ‘Statement on Qualifications in Auditor’s Report’ issued by the Institute.

17. A disclosure, which is not a subject matter of audit qualification, should
be made in the auditor’s report in a manner that it is clear to the reader that
the disclosure does not constitute an audit qualification. The paragraph
containing the auditor’s opinion on true and fair view should not include a
reference to the paragraph containing the aforesaid disclosure.

EXAMPLES OF QUALIFICATIONS/DISCLOSURES IN THE AUDIT
REPORT32

18. Given below are some examples which illustrate the manner of making
qualification/disclosure in the audit report in case of deviations from the
requirements of mandatory Accounting Standards. It may be clarified that
these examples are aimed only at illustrating the manner of making
qualifications/disclosures and are not intended in any way to be exhaustive.

31 Subsequent to issuance of this ‘Announcement’, various other pronouncements
of the Institute have been issued and various developments have taken place. In
this regard, it may be noted that the auditor needs to comply with the requirements
of SA 700, ‘The Auditor’s Report on Financial Statements’ or SA 700 (Revised),
‘Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Financial Statements’, SA 705, ‘Modifications
to the Opinion in the Independent Auditor’s Report’ and SA 706, ‘Emphasis of
Matter Paragraphs and Other Matter Paragraphs in the Independent Auditor’s
Report’, as may be applicable, issued by the ICAI while making qualification/
disclosure in the audit report. The Council, in April 2012 decided that the SA 700
(Revised), SA 705 and SA 706 be applicable to audits of financial statements for
periods beginning on or after April 1, 2012, instead of April 1, 2011, as originally
decided in 2010 at the time of issuance of these Standards. For details, refer
‘Handbook of Auditing Pronouncements’.
32 ibid.
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Examples of Qualifications

(a) Where proper disclosures regarding changes in accounting policies have
not been made by a company.

“The company has not disclosed in its accounts the fact of change,
from this year, in the method of providing depreciation on plant and
machinery from straight-line method to written-down value method, as
also the effect of this change. As a result of this change, the net profit
for the year, the net block as well as the reserves and surplus are lower
by Rs……… each as compared to the position which would have
prevailed had this change not been made.

Subject to the above, we report that ....”.

(b) Where a manufacturing company has accounted for interest income
on receipt basis.

“The company has followed the policy of accounting for interest income
on receipt basis rather than on accrual basis. As a result, the net profit
for the year and the current assets are understated by Rs……… each
as compared to the position which would have prevailed if the company
had accounted for interest income on accrual basis.

Subject to the above, we report that ... ”.

(c) Where a company has capitalised financing costs related to certain
fixed assets for periods after such assets were ready to be put to use.

“Interest payable on borrowings related to the acquisition of fixed assets
has been capitalised for the periods during which the assets were in use
for commercial production. This is contrary to Accounting Standard
(AS) 10, ‘Accounting for Fixed Assets’ issued by the Institute of
Chartered Accountants of India.33  Consequently, the net profit for the

33 It may be noted that pursuant to the issuance of Accounting Standard (AS) 16,
‘Borrowing Costs’, which came into effect in respect of accounting periods
commencing on or after 1-4-2000, paragraph 9.2 and paragraph 20 (except the first
sentence) of AS 10, relating to treatment of finance costs including interest, stand
withdrawn from that date. Accordingly, while qualifying his report on financial
statements covering accounting periods commencing on or after April 1, 2000, in the
situation envisaged in this example, the auditor should make reference to AS 16
instead of AS 10.
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year, the net block and the reserves and surplus have been overstated
by Rs.... each as compared to the position which would have prevailed
if the company had complied with the requirements of AS 10.

Subject to the above, we report that ....”

Examples of Disclosures

(a) Where a company has not disclosed all significant accounting policies
and has also not disclosed the accounting policies at one place.

“The company has disclosed those accounting policies the disclosure of
which is required by the Companies Act, 1956. Other significant
accounting policies, viz., those relating to treatment of research and
development costs and treatment of exchange gains and losses have
not been disclosed nor have all the policies been disclosed at one place,
which is contrary to Accounting Standard (AS) 1, ‘Disclosure of
Accounting Policies’ issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants
of India.

We report that ....”

(b) Where a partnership firm34  does not make adequate disclosures
regarding the revaluation of its fixed assets.

34 Subsequently, however, the Council decided that these standards should be
mandatory for certain enterprises, viz., Sole proprietary concerns, Partnership firms,
Societies registered under the Societies Registration Act, Trusts, Hindu undivided
families, and Associations of persons, only in respect of accounts for periods
commencing on or after 1.4.1993. The Announcement made by the Council in this
regard is reproduced hereafter (See Announcement III). This Announcement was
partially modified by the Announcement published in January, 1994 issue of ‘The
Chartered Accountant’ (See Announcement V). Further, in this regard, the Council
issued an Announcement on applicability of accounting standards in the context of
section 44AB of the Income Tax Act (See Announcement VI). Also, subsequently,
an Announcement on applicability of accounting standards to Charitable and/
or Religious Organisations was issued (See Announcement VIII). Further, a
Clarification, namely, General Clarification (GC)- 12/2002 on applicability of
accounting standards to Co-operative Societies was issued (See Announcement
XVI). It may be noted that with the issuance of the Preface to the Statements of
Accounting Standards (revised 2004), the Announcement on 'Applicability of
Accounting Standards to Charitable and/or Religious Organisations' and GC-12/
2002 stand superseded. The revised Preface is published elsewhere in this
Compendium.
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“During the year, the enterprise revalued its land and buildings. The
revalued amounts of land and buildings are adequately disclosed in the
balance sheet. However, the method adopted to compute the revalued
amounts has not been disclosed, which is contrary to Accounting
Standard (AS) 10, ‘Accounting for Fixed Assets’ issued by the Institute
of Chartered Accountants of India.

We report that ....”

III. Applicability of Mandatory Accounting Standards to
Non-corporate Enterprises35

In the July 1990 issue of the Journal, the Council had notified its decision to
make the following Accounting Standards mandatory in respect of accounts
for periods commencing on or after 1.4.1991.

1. AS 1 - Disclosure of Accounting Policies

2. AS 7 - Accounting for Construction Contracts36

3. AS 8 - Accounting for Research and Development37

4. AS 9 - Revenue Recognition

5. AS 10 - Accounting for Fixed Assets

35 Published in May, 1991 issue of ‘The Chartered Accountant’. This Announcement
was partially modified by the Announcement published in January, 1994 issue of
‘The Chartered Accountant’ (See Announcement V). Further, in this regard, the
Council issued an Announcement on applicability of accounting standards in the
context of section 44AB of the Income Tax Act (See Announcement VI). Also,
subsequently, an Announcement on applicability of accounting standards to
Charitable and/or Religious Organisations was issued (See Announcement VIII).
Further, a Clarification, namely, General Clarification (GC)- 12/2002 on applicability
of accounting standards to Co-operative Societies was issued (See Announcement
XVI). It may be noted that with the issuance of the Preface to the Statements of
Accounting Standards (revised 2004), the Announcement on 'Applicability of
Accounting Standards to Charitable and/or Religious Organisations' and GC-12/
2002 stand superseded. The revised Preface is published elsewhere in this
Compendium.
36 AS 7 (issued 1983) was revised in 2002 and titled as ‘Construction Contracts’. The
revised AS 7 is published elsewhere in this Compendium.
37 AS 8 stands withdrawn from the date of Accounting Standard (AS) 26, ‘Intangible
Assets’, becoming mandatory, for the concerned enterprises (see AS 26 published
elsewhere in this Compendium).
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Based on the views expressed at various seminars organised to discuss the
implications of accounting and auditing standards as also in the light of several
representations received in this behalf, the matter has since been reconsidered
by the Council and the following has been decided.

1. Accounting Standards 1, 7, 8, 9, 10 and 11 should be mandatory in respect
of accounts for periods beginning on or after 1.4.1991 for companies governed
by the Companies Act, 1956 as well as for other enterprises except the
following –

(a) Sole proprietary concerns/individuals

(b) Partnership firms

(c) Societies registered under the Societies Registration Act

(d) Trusts

(e) Hindu undivided families

(f) Associations of persons.

2. In respect of the enterprises listed at (a) to (f) above, Accounting
Standards 1, 7, 8, 9,10 & 1138  should be mandatory in respect of accounts
for periods beginning on or after 1.4.1993.

3. The Statements on auditing matters should continue to be mandatory in
respect of audit of all enterprises.

IV. Accounting Standard 1139

The Accounting Standard No. 11 on Accounting for the Effects of Changes
in Foreign Exchange Rates which came into effect as recommendatory in
respect of accounting periods commencing on or after 1st April, 1989 had
been made mandatory in respect of accounts for periods commencing on or
after 1st April, 1991.

38 Regarding AS 11, see the Announcements made by the Council in this regard at IV,
IX, XVIII, XXII, XXXI, XXXII, XXXIII, XXXV, XXXVI and XL and footnote 40 for
subsequent developments.
39 Published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, June, 1992.
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However, in view of the partial convertibility of the rupee recently
announced and other related developments in the changed economic
environment, it has now been decided to reconsider this Accounting
Standard. Accordingly, the Council has resolved that the mandatory
application of this Accounting Standard shall stand postponed to accounts
for periods commencing on or after 1st April, 1993.

It is expected that reconsideration of this Accounting Standard will have
been carried out well before 1st April, 1993 .40

V. Mandatory Application of Accounting Standards in
respect of Certain Non-corporate Bodies41 

1. In May 1991 issue of ‘The Chartered Accountant’, an announcement was
carried regarding the decision of the Council of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India to defer the mandatory application of Accounting
Standards 1, 7, 8, 9, 10 and 11 to accounts for periods beginning on or after

40 The Standard was subsequently revised in December, 1994 , which was  published
in  January, 1995, issue of ‘The Chartered Accountant’ and was mandatory in respect
of accounting periods commencing on or after 1.4.1995. See Announcement IX also.
This Standard has again been revised in 2003, and titled as ‘The Effects of Changes
in Foreign Exchange Rates’, (published in March, 2003, issue  of  ‘The Chartered
Accountant’). The revised AS 11(2003) comes into effect in respect of accounting
periods commencing on or after 1-4-2004 and is mandatory in nature from that date.
The revised standard supersedes AS 11 (1994), except that in respect of accounting
for transactions in foreign currencies entered into by the reporting enterprise itself
or through its branches before the date the revised AS 11 (2003) comes into effect,
AS 11 (1994) continues to be applicable. See also Announcements XVIII, XXII,
XXXI, XXXII, XXXIII, XXXV, XXXVI and XL.
41 Published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, January, 1994 (page 639). For auditor’s
duties in relation to mandatory accounting standards, reference may be made to the
Announcement concerning mandatory accounting standards published in the July,
1990 issue of the Journal (See Announcement II). Further, in this regard, the Council
issued an Announcement on applicability of accounting standards in the context of
section 44AB of the Income Tax Act (See Announcement VI). Also, subsequently,
an Announcement on applicability of accounting standards to Charitable and/or
Religious Organisations was issued (See Announcement VIII). Further, a Clarification,
namely, General Clarification (GC)- 12/2002 on applicability of accounting standards
to Co-operative Societies was issued (See Announcement XVI). It may be noted
that with the issuance of the Preface to the Statements of Accounting Standards
(revised 2004), the Announcement on ‘Applicability of Accounting Standards to
Charitable and/or Religious Organisations’ and GC-12/2002 stand superseded. The
revised Preface is published elsewhere in this Compendium.
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1.4.1993, in respect of the following:

(a) Sole proprietary concerns/individuals

(b) Partnership firms

(c) Societies registered under the Societies Registration Act

(d) Trusts

(e) Hindu Undivided Families

(f) Associations of persons.

2. The matter was re-considered by the Council at its meeting held in
September, 1993 and it was decided, in partial modification of the earlier
decision, that the aforesaid Accounting Standards (except Accounting Standard
11, which has already been withdrawn), shall mandatorily apply in respect of
general purpose financial statements of the individual/bodies listed at (a) -
(f) above for periods beginning on or after 1.4.1993, where such statements
are statutorily required to be audited under any law. It may be reiterated that
the Institute issues Accounting Standards for use in the presentation of general
purpose financial statements issued to the public by such commercial,
industrial or business enterprises as may be specified by the Institute from
time to time and subject to the attest function of its members. The term
“General Purpose Financial Statements” includes balance sheet, statement
of profit and loss and other statements and explanatory notes which form
part thereof, issued for use of shareholders/members, creditors, employees
and public at large.

3. According to Accounting Standard 1, Disclosure of Accounting Policies,
‘accrual’ is one of the fundamental accounting assumptions. The Standard
requires that if any fundamental accounting assumption is not followed in the
preparation and presentation of financial statements, the fact should be
disclosed. Accordingly, in respect of individual/bodies covered by para 1
above, the auditor should examine whether the financial statements have
been prepared on accrual basis. In cases where the statute governing the
enterprise requires the preparation and presentation of financial statements
on accrual basis but the financial statements have not been so prepared, the
auditor should qualify his report. On the other hand, where there is no
statutory requirement for preparation and presentation of financial statements
on accrual basis, and the financial statements have been prepared on a basis
other than ‘accrual’ the auditor should describe in his audit report, the basis
of accounting followed, without necessarily making it a subject matter of a
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qualification. In such a case the auditor should also examine whether those
provisions of the accounting standards which are applicable in the context of
the basis of accounting followed by the enterprise have been complied with
or not and consider making suitable disclosures/ qualifications in his audit
report accordingly.

4. An example of a disclosure in the audit report of an enterprise which
follows cash basis of accounting is given below:

“It is the policy of the enterprise to prepare its financial statements on
the cash receipts and disbursements basis. On this basis revenue and
the related assets are recognised when received rather than when earned,
and expenses are recognised when paid rather than when the obligation
is incurred.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
assets and liabilities arising from cash transactions of ..... at ...... and of
the revenue collected and expenses paid during the year then ended on
the cash receipts and disbursements basis as described in Note X.”

VI. Mandatory Application of Accounting Standards in
respect of Tax Audit under Section 44AB of the Income Tax
Act, 196142 

In an announcement published in January, 1994 issue of ‘The Chartered
Accountant’ (p.639), members had been informed that Accounting Standards
1, 7, 8, 9 and 10 shall mandatorily apply in respect of general purpose financial
statements of the individuals/bodies specified in this behalf for periods beginning
on or after 1.4.1993, where such statements were statutorily required to be
audited under any law43  (the aforesaid announcement is reproduced below
for ready reference). Queries have been received as to whether the mandatory
accounting standards apply in respect of financial statements audited under
section 44AB of the Income-tax Act, 1961. It is hereby clarified that the
mandatory accounting standards also apply in respect of financial

42 Published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, August, 1994 (page 224). For auditor’s
duties in relation to mandatory accounting standards, reference may be made to the
Announcement concerning mandatory accounting standards published in the July,
1990 issue of the Journal (See Announcement II).
43 It may be noted that Accounting Standards 4 and 5 were made mandatory by the
Council of the Institute earlier in respect of accounts for periods commencing on or
after 1.1.1987.
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statements audited under section 44AB of the Income-tax Act, 1961.
Accordingly, members should examine compliance with the mandatory
accounting standards when conducting such audit.

Mandatory Application of Accounting Standards in respect of
Certain Non-corporate Bodies44

1. In May, 1991 issue of ‘The Chartered Accountant’, an announcement
was carried regarding the decision of the Council of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India to defer the mandatory application of Accounting
Standards 1, 7, 8, 9, 10 and 11 to accounts for periods beginning on or after
1.4.1993, in respect of the following:

(a) Sole proprietary concerns/individuals

(b) Partnership firms

(c) Societies registered under the Societies Registration Act

(d) Trusts

(e) Hindu Undivided Families

(f) Associations of persons.

2. The matter was re-considered by the Council at its meeting held in
September, 1993 and it was decided, in partial modification of the earlier
decision, that the aforesaid Accounting Standards (except Accounting Standard
11, which has already been withdrawn), shall mandatorily apply in respect of
general purpose financial statements of the individual/ bodies listed at (a) -
(f) above for periods beginning on or after 1.4.1993, where such statements
are statutorily required to be audited under any law. It may be reiterated that
the Institute issues Accounting Standards for use in presentation of general
purpose financial statements issued to the public by such commercial,
industrial or business enterprises as may be specified by the Institute from
time to time and subject to the attest function of its members. The term
“General Purpose Financial Statements” includes balance sheet, statement
of profit and loss and other statements and explanatory notes which form
part thereof, issued for use of shareholders/members, creditors, employees
and public at large.

44 Published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, January, 1994, pp 639.
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3. According to Accounting Standard 1, Disclosure of Accounting Policies,
‘accrual’ is one of the fundamental accounting assumptions. The Standard
requires that if any fundamental accounting assumption is not followed in the
preparation and presentation of financial statements, the fact should be
disclosed. Accordingly, in respect of individual/bodies covered by para 1
above, the auditor should examine whether the financial statements have
been prepared on accrual basis. In cases where the statute governing the
enterprise requires the preparation and presentation of financial statements
on accrual basis but the financial statements have not been so prepared, the
auditor should qualify his report. On the other hand, where there is no statutory
requirement for preparation and presentation of financial statements on
accrual basis, and the financial statements have been prepared on a basis
other than ‘accrual’ the auditor should describe in his audit report, the basis
of accounting followed, without necessarily making it a subject matter of a
qualification. In such a case the auditor should also examine whether those
provisions of the accounting standards which are applicable in the context of
the basis of accounting followed by the enterprise have been complied with
or not and consider making suitable disclosures/ qualifications in his audit
report accordingly.

4. An example of a disclosure in the audit report of an enterprise which
follows cash basis of accounting is given below:

“It is the policy of the enterprise to prepare its financial statements on
the cash receipts and disbursements basis. On this basis revenue and
the related assets are recognised when received rather than when earned,
and expenses are recognised when paid rather than when the obligation
is incurred. In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair
view of the assets and liabilities arising from cash transactions of .....at
.....and of the revenue collected and expenses paid during the year then
ended on the cash receipts and disbursements basis as described in
Note X.”

VII. Accounting Standard (AS) 6 (Revised), Depreciation
Accounting, Made Mandatory45 

Accounting Standard (AS) 6, Depreciation Accounting, was issued by the
Accounting Standards Board originally in 1982 and was subsequently revised

45 Published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, May, 1995 (page 1544). It may be noted
that pursuant to AS 26, Intangible Assets, becoming mandatory, for the concerned
enterprises, AS 6 stands withdrawn insofar as it relates to amortisation (depreciation)
of intangible assets (see AS 26 published elsewhere in this Compendium).
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in 1994 (please see pages 218-219 of the August 1994 issue of ‘The
Chartered Accountant’).

The Council of the Institute has now decided to make AS 6 mandatory in
respect of accounts for periods commencing on or after April l, 1995. The
mandatory status of AS 6 implies that while discharging their attest function,
it will be the duty of the members of the Institute to examine whether the
said Standard has been complied with in the presentation of financial
statements covered by their audit. In the event of any deviation from the said
Standard, it will be their duty to make adequate disclosures in their audit
reports so that the users of financial statements may be aware of such
deviations. For a detailed guidance on the duties of the members in relation
to mandatory Accounting Standards, reference may be made to the
announcement published in the July 1990 issue of ‘The Chartered Accountant’.

VIII. Applicability of Accounting Standards to Charitable
and/or Religious Organisations46 

The Accounting Standards Board has received a query as to whether the
accounting standards formulated by it are applicable to organisations whose
objects are charitable or religious. The Board has considered this query and
its views in the matter are set forth in the following paragraphs.

The Preface to the Statements of Accounting Standards47 states:

“3.3 The Institute will issue Accounting Standards for use in the
presentation of the general purpose financial statements issued to the
public by such commercial, industrial or business enterprises as may be
specified by the Institute from time to time and subject to the attest
function of its members.”

The reference to commercial, industrial or business enterprises in the aforesaid
paragraph is in the context of the nature of activities carried on by the
enterprise rather than with reference to its objects. It is quite possible that an
enterprise has charitable objects but it carries on, either wholly or in part,
activities of a commercial, industrial or business nature in furtherance of its
46 As approved by the Council; published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, September
1995 (page 79).
With the issuance of the Preface to the Statements of Accounting Standards (revised
2004), this Announcement stands superseded. The revised Preface is published
elsewhere in this Compendium.
47 With the issuance of the Preface to the Statements of Accounting Standards
(revised 2004), the Preface to the Statements of Accounting Standards, issued in
January, 1979, stands superseded.
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objects. The Board believes that Accounting Standards apply in respect of
commercial, industrial or business activities of any enterprise, irrespective of
whether it is profit oriented or is established for charitable or religious
purposes. Accounting Standards will not, however, apply to those activities
which are not of commercial, industrial or business nature, (e.g., an activity
of collecting donations and giving them to flood affected people.)

It is also clarified that exclusion of an entity from the applicability of the
Accounting Standards would be permissible only if no part of the activity of
such entity was commercial, industrial or business in nature. For the removal
of doubts, it is clarified that even if a very small proportion of the activities of
an entity was considered to be commercial, industrial or business in nature,
then it could not claim exemption from the application of Accounting Standards.
The Accounting Standards would apply to all its activities including those
which were not commercial, industrial or business in nature.

IX. Applicability of Accounting Standard 11, Accounting for
the Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates to
Authorised Foreign Exchange Dealers48

Accounting Standard (AS) 11, Accounting for the Effects of Changes in
Foreign Exchange Rates, as revised in 199549, deals with accounting for
foreign currency transactions and translation of financial statements of foreign
branches. It is hereby clarified that the above Standard is not applicable to
forward exchange transactions which are entered into by authorised foreign
exchange dealers, in view of the fact that the nature of such transactions has
certain special features which need to be addressed specifically.50 The

48 Published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, April, 1999 (pages 78-79).
49 This Standard was revised in December, 1994 and published in January, 1995,
issue of ‘The Chartered Accountant’. This Standard has again been revised in 2003
and titled as ‘The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates’, (published in
March, 2003, issue  of ‘The Chartered Accountant’). The revised AS 11(2003) comes
into effect in respect of accounting periods commencing on or after 1-4-2004 and is
mandatory in nature from that date. The revised Standard supersedes AS 11 (1994),
except that in respect of accounting for transactions in foreign currencies entered
into by the reporting enterprise itself or through its branches before the date the
revised AS 11 (2003) comes into effect, AS 11 (1994)  continues to be applicable. See
also Announcements XVIII, XXII, XXXI, XXXII, XXXIII, XXXV, XXXVI and XL.
50 It may be noted that revised AS 11 (2003) addresses the matter specifically and,
accordingly, this Announcement is not relevant to revised AS 11 (2003). See also
Announcements XVIII, XXII, XXXI, XXXII, XXXIII, XXXV, XXXVI and XL.



A-28 Compendium of Accounting Standards

standard shall, however, apply to translation of financial statements of foreign
branches of the foreign exchange dealers.

X. Accounting Standard (AS) 3, Cash Flow Statements,
Made Mandatory51

The Council, at its 211th meeting, held on September 11-13, 2000, considered
the matter relating to making Accounting Standard (AS) 3, Cash Flow
Statements, mandatory.  The Council decided that AS 3 will be mandatory in
nature in respect of accounting periods commencing on or after 1.4.2001 for
the following:

(i) Enterprises whose equity or debt securities are listed on a
recognised stock exchange in India, and enterprises that are in
the process of issuing equity or debt securities that will be listed
on a recognised stock exchange in India as evidenced by the
board of directors’ resolution in this regard.

(ii) All other commercial, industrial and business reporting
enterprises, whose turnover for the accounting period exceeds
Rs. 50 crores.

XI. Applicability of Accounting Standard (AS) 20, Earnings
Per Share52

Accounting Standard (AS) 20, ‘Earnings Per Share’, issued by the Council
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, has come into effect in
respect of accounting periods commencing on or after 1-4-2001 and is
51 Published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, December 2000, (page 65). It may be
noted that the Council, at its 236th meeting, held on September 16-18, 2003, considered
the matter relating to applicability of Accounting Standards to Small and Medium
Sized Enterprises. As a part of this, the Council decided that Accounting Standard
(AS) 3 will not be applicable to Level II and Level III enterprises in its entirety in
respect of accounting periods commencing on or after 1-4-2004. Accordingly, this
Announcement is not relevant in respect of accounting periods commencing on or
after 1-4-2004. See ‘Applicability of Accounting Standards’ (reproduced as
Announcement XVII).
52 Published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, March 2002 (page 1163).  Subsequently,
this clarification has been numbered as General Clarification (GC)-1/2002 (see ‘The
Chartered Accountant’, June 2002, page 1507). Subsequently, this GC was converted
into Accounting Standards Interpretation (ASI) 12 (see ‘The Chartered Accountant’,
March 2004, page 952). Subsequent to Notification of Accounting Standards by the
Central Government under the Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules, 2006,
ASI 12 has been converted into Guidance Note.
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mandatory in nature, from that date, in respect of enterprises whose equity
shares or potential equity shares are listed on a recognised stock exchange in
India.

AS 20 does not mandate an enterprise, which has neither equity shares nor
potential equity shares which are so listed, to calculate and disclose earnings
per share, but, if that enterprise discloses earnings per share for complying
with the requirements of any statute or otherwise, it should calculate and
disclose earnings per share in accordance with AS 20.

Part IV of the Schedule VI to the Companies Act, 195653, requires, among
other things, disclosure of earnings per share.

Accordingly, it is hereby clarified that every company, which is required to
give information under Part IV of the Schedule VI to the Companies Act,
195654, should calculate and disclose earnings per share in accordance with
AS 20, whether its equity shares or potential equity shares are listed on a
recognised stock exchange in India or not.

XII. Applicability of Accounting Standard (AS) 18, Related
Party Disclosures55

The Institute has issued Accounting Standard (AS) 18, Related Party
Disclosures (published in the October 2000, issue of the Institute’s Journal
‘The Chartered Accountant’). AS 18 has come into effect in respect of
accounting periods commencing on or after 1-4-2001 and is mandatory in
nature for all enterprises.

The Council, at its 224th meeting, held on March 8-10, 2002, reconsidered

53 Schedule VI to the Companies Act, 1956, has been revised to be effective from
1.4.2011.
54 ibid.
55 Published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, April 2002 (page 1242). The Council, at
its 236th meeting, held on September 16-18, 2003, considered the matter relating to
applicability of Accounting Standards to Small and Medium Sized Enterprises. As a
part of this, the Council decided that AS 18 will not apply to Level II and Level III
enterprises in its entirety in respect of accounting periods commencing on or after
1.4.2004. Accordingly, this Announcement is not relevant in respect of accounting
periods commencing on or after 1-4-2004. See ‘Applicability of Accounting Standards’
(reproduced as Announcement XVII). For current Status of applicability of AS 18,
see Appendix 1 to this Compendium, ‘Applicability of Accounting Standards to
Various Entities.’
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the applicability of AS 18. The Council decided to make AS 18 mandatory
only to the following enterprises and not to all enterprises as at
present:

(i) Enterprises whose equity or debt securities are listed on a
recognised stock exchange in India, and enterprises that are
in the process of issuing equity or debt securities that will be
listed on a recognised stock exchange in India as evidenced
by the board of directors’ resolution in this regard.

(ii) All other commercial, industrial and business reporting
enterprises, whose turnover for the accounting period
exceeds Rs. 50 crores.

XIII. Clarification on Status of Accounting Standards and
Guidance Notes56

In a situation where certain matters are covered both by an Accounting
Standard and a Guidance Note, issued by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India, the Guidance Note or the relevant portion thereof will
be considered as superseded from the date of the relevant Accounting
Standard coming into effect, unless otherwise specified in the Accounting
Standard.

Similarly, in a situation where certain matters are covered by a
recommendatory Accounting Standard and subsequently, an Accounting
Standard is issued which also covers those matters, the recommendatory
Accounting Standard or the relevant portion thereof will be considered as
superseded from the date of the new Accounting Standard coming into effect,
unless otherwise specified in the new Accounting Standard.

In a situation where certain matters are covered by a mandatory Accounting
Standard and subsequently, an Accounting Standard is issued which also
covers those matters, the earlier Accounting Standard or the relevant portion
thereof will be considered as superseded from the date of the new Accounting
Standard becoming mandatory, unless otherwise specified in the new
Accounting Standard.

56 Published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, April 2002 (page 1242).
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XIV. Accounting Standard (AS) 24, Discontinuing
Operations57 

Accounting Standard (AS) 24, Discontinuing Operations, was issued in
February 2002 as a recommendatory Accounting Standard.  The Council, at
its 224th meeting, held on March 8-10, 2002, decided that AS 24 would be
mandatory in nature in respect of accounting periods commencing on or
after 1-4-2004 for the following:

(i) Enterprises whose equity or debt securities are listed on
a recognised stock exchange in India, and enterprises that
are in the process of issuing equity or debt securities that
will be listed on a recognised stock exchange in India as
evidenced by the board of directors’ resolution in this
regard.

(ii) All other commercial, industrial and business reporting
enterprises, whose turnover for the accounting period
exceeds Rs. 50 crores.

In respect of all other enterprises, the Accounting Standard would be
mandatory in nature in respect of accounting periods commencing on or
after 1-4-2005. Earlier application of the accounting standard would be
encouraged.

XV. Accounting Standards Specified by the Institute of
Chartered Accountants of India under Section 211 of the
Companies Act, 1956
(In respect of ‘specified’ status of Accounting Standards under the
Companies Act, 1956, announcements have been made from time to
time. The current status of the Accounting Standards for the purposes

57 Published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, May, 2002 (page 1378). The Council, at
its 236th meeting, held on September 16-18, 2003, considered the matter relating to
applicability of Accounting Standards to Small and Medium Sized Enterprises. As a
part of this, the Council decided that Accounting Standard (AS) 24 will not be
applicable to Level II and Level III enterprises in its entirety in respect of accounting
periods commencing on or after 1-4-2004 (see ‘Applicability of Accounting Standards’
(reproduced as Announcement XVII)). Accordingly, this Announcement is no longer
relevant. For current Status of applicability of AS 24, see Appendix 1 to this
Compendium ‘Applicability of Accounting Standards to Various Entities’.
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of the Companies Act, 1956, has been included in the Announcement
made by the Council specifying Accounting Standard (AS) 3, Cash Flow
Statements, for the purposes of the Companies Act, 1956. The text of
the Announcement (published in October 2002 issue of ‘The Chartered
Accountant’, page 457) is reproduced below.)

1. Section 211 of the Companies Act, 1956, as amended by the Companies
(Amendment) Act, 1999, requires that every profit and loss account and
balance sheet of the company shall comply with the accounting standards.
For the purpose of Section 211, the expression "accounting standards" means
the standards of accounting recommended by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India as may be prescribed by the Central Government in
consultation with the National Advisory Committee on Accounting Standards
established under sub-section (1) of section 210A of the said Act. Provided
that the standards of accounting specified by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India shall be deemed to be the Accounting Standards until
the accounting standards are prescribed by the Central Government under
section 211 (3C) of the Act.

2. Accounting Standard (AS) 3, Cash Flow Statements58, was made
mandatory in respect of accounting periods commencing on or after 1.4.2001
for the following:

(i) Enterprises whose equity or debt securities are listed on a
recognised stock exchange in India, and enterprises that are in
the process of issuing equity or debt securities that will be listed
on a recognised stock exchange in India as evidenced by the
board of directors' resolution in this regard.

(ii) All other commercial, industrial and business reporting enterprises,
whose turnover for the accounting period exceeds Rs. 50 crores.
(Announcement published in December 2000 issue of the Institute's
Journal.)

58 The Council, at its 236th meeting, held on September 16-18, 2003, considered the
matter relating to applicability of Accounting Standards to Small and Medium Sized
Enterprises. As a part of this, the Council decided that Accounting Standard (AS) 3
will not be applicable to Level II and Level III enterprises in its entirety in respect of
accounting periods commencing on or after 1-4-2004. See ‘Applicability of
Accounting Standards’ (reproduced hereafter as Announcement XVII).
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3. The Council, at its meeting held in September 2002, decided that AS 3
should also be treated as a ‘specified’ accounting standard for the purpose
of section 211 of the Act.59 Accordingly, the companies in respect of which
AS 3 is mandatory, are required to comply with AS 3 under section 211 of
the Companies Act, 1956. In view of this, the statutory auditors of such
companies are required to give an assertion in respect of compliance with
AS 3 along with other ‘specified’ accounting standards while reporting under
section 227 (3)(d) of the Act.

The Council decided that the above position in respect of ‘specified’ status
of AS 3 is applicable in respect of accounting periods commencing on or
after 1-4-2002.

4. Accordingly, in view of the announcements published in the
Institute’s Journal from time to time, in respect of ‘specified’ status
of Accounting Standards, read with this announcement, the extant
position is that all the accounting standards, issued by the Institute
which have been made mandatory by the Institute as indicated in the
respective standards or made mandatory by way of a separate
announcement are ‘specified’ for the purpose of the proviso to section
211 (3C) and section 227 (3)(d) of the Act.

XVI. Applicability of Accounting Standards to Co-operative
Societies60

The following is the General Clarification (GC) - 12/2002, issued by
the Accounting Standards Board of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India, on applicability of Accounting Standards to co-
operative societies:

Paragraph 3.3 of the ‘Preface to the Statements of Accounting Standards’61

provides, inter alia, as below:
59 It may be noted that the Accounting Standards have been notified on 7th December,
2006, by the Central Government under the Companies (Accounting Standards)
Rules, 2006.
60 Published in October 2002 issue of ‘The  Chartered Accountant’, pp. 313, as
General Clarification (GC) - 12/2002.
With the issuance of the Preface to the Statements of Accounting Standards (revised
2004), this Announcement (GC-12/2002) stands superseded.
61 With the issuance of the Preface to the Statements of Accounting Standards
(revised 2004), the Preface to the Statements of Accounting Standards, issued in
January, 1979, stands superseded.
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"3.3 The Institute will issue the Accounting Standards for use in
the presentation of the general purpose financial statements issued
to the public by such commercial, industrial or business enterprises
as may be specified by the Institute from time to time and subject to
the attest function of its members."

In view of the above, the accounting standards issued by the Institute shall
apply in respect of financial statements of co-operative societies, which carry
on commercial, industrial or business activities, and are subject to the attest
function of the members of the Institute. The Accounting Standards made
mandatory by the Institute, as specified in the respective standards or made
mandatory by separate announcements, are also mandatory in respect of
co-operative societies.

For the removal of doubts, it is clarified that even if a very small proportion
of the activities of a co-operative society is considered to be commercial,
industrial or business in nature, then it can not claim exemption from the
application of Accounting Standards. The Accounting Standards would apply
to all its activities including those which are not commercial, industrial or
business in nature.

It is reiterated that mandatory status of an accounting standard implies that it
will be the duty of the members of the Institute to examine whether the
Accounting Standard is complied with in the presentation of financial
statements covered by their audit. In the event of any deviation from the
Accounting Standard, it will be their duty to make adequate disclosures in
their audit reports so that the users of financial statements may be aware of
such deviations.

XVII. APPLICABILITY OF ACCOUNTING STANDARDS62

The Council, at its 236th meeting, held on September 16-18, 2003, considered
the matter relating to applicability of Accounting Standards to Small and

62 Published in ‘The  Chartered Accountant’, November 2003 (pp. 480-489). It may be
noted that, subsequently, the Announcement was partially modified pursuant to a
limited revision to AS 20, Earnings Per Share (published in ‘The  Chartered Account-
ant’, Feb. 2004 (pp. 817-818)). This Announcement incorporates the consequent
modifications.
It may be noted that pursuant to notification of Accounting Standards by Central
Government, the Institute has issued an Announcement regarding ‘Harmonisation
of  various differences between the Accounting Standards issued by the ICAI and
the Accounting Standards notified by the Central Government’, which inter alia,
deals with applicability of Accounting Standards to various entities. Accordingly,
this Announcement stands Superseded (see Announcement XXXVIII).
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Medium Sized Enterprises (SMEs).  The Council decided the following
scheme for applicability of accounting standards to SMEs.  This scheme
comes into effect in respect of accounting periods commencing on or after
1-4-2004.

1. For the purpose of applicability of Accounting Standards, enterprises
are classified into three categories, viz., Level I, Level II and Level III.
Level II and Level III enterprises are considered as SMEs.  The criteria for
different levels are given in Annexure I.

2. Level I enterprises are required to comply fully with all the accounting
standards.

3. It has been decided that no relaxation should be given to Level II and
Level III enterprises in respect of recognition and measurement principles.
Relaxations are provided with regard to disclosure requirements. Accordingly,
Level II and Level III enterprises are fully exempted from certain accounting
standards which primarily lay down disclosure requirements. In respect of
certain other accounting standards, which lay down recognition, measurement
and disclosure requirements, relaxations from certain disclosure requirements
are given.  The exemptions/relaxations are decided to be provided by modifying
the applicability portion of the relevant accounting standards. Modifications
in the relevant existing accounting standards are given in Annexure II.

4. Applicability of Accounting Standards and exemptions/
relaxations for SMEs

So far, the Institute has issued 29 accounting standards.  The applicability
of the accounting standards and exemptions/relaxations for SMEs are as
follows:

I. Accounting Standards applicable to all enterprises in their
entirety (Levels I, II and III)

(i) AS 1, Disclosure of Accounting Policies

(ii) AS 2, Valuation of Inventories

(iii) AS 4, Contingencies and Events Occurring After the Balance
Sheet Date
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(iv) AS 5, Net Profit or Loss for the Period, Prior Period Items and
Changes in Accounting Policies

(v) AS 6, Depreciation Accounting

(vi) AS 7 (revised 2002), Construction Contracts63

AS 7 (issued 1983), Accounting for Construction Contracts

(vii) AS 8, Accounting for Research and Development64

(viii) AS 9, Revenue Recognition

(ix) AS 10, Accounting for Fixed Assets

(x) AS 11 (revised 2003), The Effects of Changes in Foreign
Exchange Rates65

AS 11 (revised 1994), Accounting for the Effects of Changes
in Foreign Exchange Rates

63 The revised AS 7 (2002) came into effect in respect of all contracts entered into
during accounting periods commencing on or after 1-4-2003 and is mandatory in
nature from that date. Accordingly, the pre-revised AS 7 (issued 1983) is not appli-
cable in respect of such contracts.
64 AS 8 is withdrawn from the date AS 26, Intangible Assets, becoming mandatory
for the concerned enterprises.  AS 26 is mandatory in respect of expenditure incurred
on intangible items during accounting periods commencing on or after 1-4-2003 for
the following:
(i) Enterprises whose equity or debt securities are listed on a recognised stock
exchange in India, and enterprises that are in the process of issuing equity or debt
securities that will be listed on a recognised stock exchange in India as evidenced
by the board of directors’ resolution in this regard.
(ii) All other commercial, industrial and business reporting enterprises, whose
turnover for the accounting period exceeds Rs. 50 crores.
In respect of all other enterprises, AS 26 is mandatory in respect of expenditure
incurred on intangible items during accounting periods commencing on or after 1-4-
2004.
65 The revised AS 11 (2003) has come into effect in respect of accounting periods
commencing on or after 1-4-2004 and is mandatory in nature from that date. The
revised Standard (2003) supersedes AS 11 (1994), except that in respect of accounting
for transactions in foreign currencies entered into by the reporting enterprise itself
or through its branches before the date the revised AS 11 (2003) came into effect, AS
11 (1994) continues to be applicable. See also Announcements XVIII,  XXII, XXXI,
XXXII, XXXIII, XXXV, XXXVI and XL, reproduced hereafter.
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(xi) AS 12, Accounting for Government Grants

(xii) AS 13, Accounting for Investments

(xiii) AS 14, Accounting for Amalgamations

(xiv) AS 15, Accounting for Retirement Benefits in the Financial
Statements of Employers66

(xv) AS 16, Borrowing Costs

(xvi) AS 22, Accounting for Taxes on Income67

(xvii) AS 26, Intangible Assets

II. Exemptions/Relaxations for SMEs

(A) Accounting Standards not applicable to Level II and Level III
enterprises in their entirety:

(i) AS 3, Cash Flow Statements

(ii) AS 17, Segment Reporting

(iii) AS 18, Related Party Disclosures68

(iv) AS 24, Discontinuing Operations.69

66 AS 15 (issued 1995) has been revised in 2005 and titled as ‘Employee Benefits’.
Subsequently, two limited revisions have also been made to AS 15 (revised 2005).
AS 15 (revised 2005), after incorporating the said Limited Revisions, came into
effect in respect of accounting periods commencing on or after December 7, 2006.  In
AS 15 (revised 2005), certain exemptions/ relaxations from recognition, measurement
and disclosure requirements have been provided to SMCs, non-corporate entities
falling in Level II and Level III. AS 15 (revised 2005) is published elsewhere in this
Compendium.
67 See Announcement XXI also.
68 Pursuant to Notification of Accounting Standards by the Central Government, AS
18 is applicable in its entirety  to all the companies and non-corporate entities falling
in Level I and Level II (See Announcement XXXVIII).
69 Pursuant to Notification of Accounting Standards by the Central Government, AS
24 is applicable in its entirety to all the companies and non-corporate entities falling
in Level I and Level II (See Announcement XXXVIII).
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(B) Accounting Standards not applicable to Level II and Level III
enterprises since the relevant Regulators require compliance with
them only by certain Level I enterprises70 :

(i) AS 21, Consolidated Financial Statements

(ii) AS 23, Accounting for Investments in Associates in
Consolidated Financial Statements

(iii) AS 27, Financial Reporting of Interests in Joint Ventures (to the
extent of requirements relating to consolidated financial
statements)

(C) Accounting Standards in respect of which relaxations from certain
disclosure requirements have been given to Level II and Level III
enterprises:

(i) AS 19, Leases

Paragraphs 22(c), (e) and (f); 25(a), (b) and (e); 37(a), (f) and
(g); and 46(b), (d) and (e), of AS 19 are not applicable to Level II
and Level III enterprises.

(ii) AS 20, Earnings Per Share

As regards AS 20, diluted earnings per share (both including and
excluding extraordinary items) and information required by
paragraph 48 (ii) of AS 20 are not required to be disclosed by
Level II and Level III enterprises if this standard is applicable to
these enterprises because they disclose earnings per share.  So
far as companies are concerned, since all the companies are
required to apply AS 20 by virtue of the provisions of Part IV of
Schedule VI to the Companies Act, 1956, requiring disclosure of
earnings per share, the position is that the companies which do
not fall in Level I, would not be required to disclose diluted earnings
per share (both including and excluding extraordinary items) and
information required by paragraph 48 (ii) of AS 20.

70 AS 21, AS 23 and AS 27 (relating to consolidated financial statements) are
required to be complied with by an enterprise if the enterprise, pursuant to the
requirements of a statute/regulator or voluntarily, prepares and presents
consolidated financial statements.



Announcements of the Council A-39

(iii) AS 29, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

- Paragraph 67 is not applicable to Level II enterprises

- Paragraphs 66 and 67 are not applicable to Level III enterprises

The above relaxations are incorporated in AS 29 itself.

(D) Accounting Standard applicability of which is deferred for Level
II and Level III enterprises:

AS 28, Impairment of Assets 
71

– For Level I Enterprises applicable from 1-4-2004

– For Level II Enterprises applicable from 1-4-2006

– For Level III Enterprises applicable from 1-4-2008

(E) AS 25, Interim Financial Reporting, does not require any enterprise
to present interim financial report.  It is applicable only if an
enterprise is required or elects to prepare and present an interim
financial report. However, the recognition and measurement
requirements contained in this Standard are applicable to interim
financial results, e.g., quarterly financial results required by the SEBI.

At present, in India, enterprises are not required to present interim
financial report within the meaning of AS 25. Therefore, no enterprise
in India is required to comply with the disclosure and presentation
requirements of AS 25 unless it voluntarily presents interim financial
report within the meaning of AS 25. The recognition and
measurement principles contained in AS 25 are also applicable only
to certain Level I enterprises since only these enterprises are required
by the concerned regulators to present interim financial results.

In view of the above, at present, AS 25 is not mandatorily applicable
to Level II and Level III enterprises in any case.

71 Subsequently, the Council of the Institute has decided to provide relaxations
from measurement principles contained in AS 28, Impairment of Assets, to Level
II and Level III enterprises.  For full text of the Announcement issued in this
regard, reference may be made to Announcement XXIX published hereinafter.
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5. An enterprise which does not disclose certain information pursuant
to the above exemptions/relaxations, should disclose the fact.

6. Where an enterprise has previously qualified for any exemption/
relaxation (being under Level II or Level III), but no longer qualifies for
the relevant exemption/relaxation in the current accounting period, the
relevant standards/requirements become applicable from the current period.
However, the corresponding previous period figures need not be disclosed.

7. Where an enterprise has been covered in Level I and subsequently,
ceases to be so covered, the enterprise will not qualify for exemption/
relaxation available to Level II enterprises, until the enterprise ceases to
be covered in Level I for two consecutive years.  Similar is the case in
respect of an enterprise, which has been covered in Level I or Level II
and subsequently, gets covered under Level III.

Annexure I
Criteria for classification of enterprises

Level I Enterprises

Enterprises which fall in any one or more of the following categories, at
any time during the accounting period, are classified as Level I enterprises:

(i) Enterprises whose equity or debt securities are listed whether in
India or outside India.

(ii) Enterprises which are in the process of listing their equity or debt
securities as evidenced by the board of directors’ resolution in this
regard.

(iii) Banks including co-operative banks.

(iv) Financial institutions.

(v) Enterprises carrying on insurance business.

(vi) All commercial, industrial and business reporting enterprises, whose
turnover for the immediately preceding accounting period on the
basis of audited financial statements exceeds Rs. 50 crore. Turnover
does not include ‘other income’.
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(vii) All commercial, industrial and business reporting enterprises having
borrowings, including public deposits, in excess of Rs. 10 crore at
any time during the accounting period.

(viii) Holding and subsidiary enterprises of any one of the above at any
time during the accounting period.72

Level II Enterprises

Enterprises which are not Level I enterprises but fall in any one or more
of the following categories are classified as Level II enterprises:

(i) All commercial, industrial and business reporting enterprises, whose
turnover for the immediately preceding accounting period on the
basis of audited financial statements exceeds Rs. 40 lakhs but does
not exceed Rs. 50 crore. Turnover does not include  ‘other income’.

(ii) All commercial, industrial and business reporting enterprises having
borrowings, including public deposits, in excess of Rs. 1 crore but not
in excess of Rs. 10 crore at any time during the accounting period.

(iii) Holding and subsidiary enterprises of any one of the above at any
time during the accounting period.

Level III Enterprises

Enterprises which are not covered under Level I and Level II are
considered as Level III enterprises.

72 The Institute has issued an Announcement in 2005 titled ‘Applicability of
Accounting Standards to an Unlisted Indian Company, which is a Subsidiary of
a Foreign Company Listed Outside India’ (published in ‘The Chartered
Accountant’, August 2005 (pp. 338-339)). For full text of the Announcement,
reference may be made to Announcement XXVII published hereinafter.
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73 AS 3 was originally made mandatory in respect of accounting periods
commencing on or after 1-4-2001, for the following:
(i) Enterprises whose equity or debt securities are listed on a recognised stock
exchange in India, and enterprises that are in the process of issuing equity or
debt securities that will be listed on a recognised stock exchange in India as
evidenced by the board of directors’ resolution in this regard.
(ii) All other commercial, industrial and business reporting enterprises, whose
turnover for the accounting period exceeds Rs. 50 crores.
The relevant announcement was published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’,
December 2000, page 65.

Annexure II

Modifications in the relevant existing accounting standards to
address the matter relating to Small and Medium Sized

enterprises

Note: Modifications are indicated as strike-throughs for deletions and
as underlines for additions.

1. Modifications in AS 3, Cash Flow Statements

The ‘applicability’ paragraphs of AS 3 stand modified as under:

“The following is the text of the revised Accounting Standard (AS) 3,
‘Cash Flow Statements’, issued by the Council of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants of India. This Standard supersedes Accounting
Standard (AS) 3, ‘Changes in Financial Position’, issued in June, 1981.

In the initial years, this accounting standard will be recommendatory in
character. During this period, this standard is recommended for use by
companies listed on a recognised stock exchange and other commercial,
industrial and business enterprises in the public and private sectors.

Accounting Standard (AS) 3, ‘Cash Flow Statements’ (revised 1997),
issued by the Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India,
comes into effect in respect of accounting periods commencing on or after
1-4-1997. This Standard supersedes Accounting Standard (AS) 3,
‘Changes in Financial Position’, issued in June 1981. This Standard is
mandatory in nature in respect of accounting periods commencing on or
after 1-4-200473  for the enterprises which fall in any one or more of the
following categories, at any time during the accounting period:
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(i) Enterprises whose equity or debt securities are listed whether in
India or outside India.

(ii) Enterprises which are in the process of listing their equity or debt
securities as evidenced by the board of directors’ resolution in this
regard.

(iii) Banks including co-operative banks.

(iv) Financial institutions.

(v) Enterprises carrying on insurance business.

(vi) All commercial, industrial and business reporting enterprises, whose
turnover for the immediately preceding accounting period on the
basis of audited financial statements exceeds Rs. 50 crore. Turnover
does not include ‘other income’.

(vii) All commercial, industrial and business reporting enterprises having
borrowings, including public deposits, in excess of Rs. 10 crore at
any time during the accounting period.

(viii) Holding and subsidiary enterprises of any one of the above at any
time during the accounting period.

The enterprises which do not fall in any of the above categories are
encouraged, but are not required, to apply this Standard.

Where an enterprise has been covered in any one or more of the above
categories and subsequently, ceases to be so covered, the enterprise will
not qualify for exemption from application of this Standard, until the
enterprise ceases to be covered in any of the above categories for two
consecutive years.

Where an enterprise has previously qualified for exemption from
application of this Standard (being not covered by any of the above
categories) but no longer qualifies for exemption in the current accounting
period, this Standard becomes applicable from the current period.
However, the corresponding previous period figures need not be disclosed.

An enterprise, which, pursuant to the above provisions, does not present
a cash flow statement, should disclose the fact.
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The following is the text of the Accounting Standard.”

The above modifications come into effect in respect of accounting periods
commencing on or after 1-4-2004. Accordingly, the announcement issued
by the Council titled as ‘Accounting Standard (AS) 3, Cash Flow
Statements Made Mandatory’, published in the December 2000 issue of
the Institute’s Journal (page 65) stands withdrawn in respect of accounting
periods commencing on or after 1-4-2004.

2. Modifications in AS 17, Segment Reporting

The ‘applicability’ paragraph of AS 17 stands modified as under:

“The following is the text of Accounting Standard (AS) 17, ‘Segment
Reporting’, issued by the Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
of India,. This Standard comes into effect in respect of accounting periods
commencing on or after 1.4.2001. and is mandatory in nature, from that
date, in respect of the following:

(i) Enterprises whose equity or debt securities are listed on a recognised
stock exchange in India, and enterprises that are in the process of issuing
equity or debt securities that will be listed on a recognised stock exchange
in India as evidenced by the board of directors’ resolution in this regard.

(ii) All other commercial, industrial and business reporting enterprises,
whose turnover for the accounting period exceeds Rs. 50 crores.

This Standard is mandatory in nature in respect of accounting periods
commencing on or after 1-4-200474  for the enterprises which fall in any
one or more of the following categories, at any time during the accounting
period:

74AS 17 was originally made mandatory in respect of accounting periods
commencing on or after 1-4-2001 for the following enterprises:
(i) Enterprises whose equity or debt securities are listed on a recognised stock
exchange in India, and enterprises that are in the process of issuing equity or
debt securities that will be listed on a recognised stock exchange in India as
evidenced by the board of directors’ resolution in this regard.
(ii) All other commercial, industrial and business reporting enterprises, whose
turnover for the accounting period exceeds Rs. 50 crores.
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(i) Enterprises whose equity or debt securities are listed whether in
India or outside India.

(ii) Enterprises which are in the process of listing their equity or debt
securities as evidenced by the board of directors’ resolution in this
regard.

(iii) Banks including co-operative banks.

(iv) Financial institutions.

(v) Enterprises carrying on insurance business.

(vi) All commercial, industrial and business reporting enterprises, whose
turnover for the immediately preceding accounting period on the
basis of audited financial statements exceeds Rs. 50 crore. Turnover
does not include ‘other income’.

(vii) All commercial, industrial and business reporting enterprises having
borrowings, including public deposits, in excess of Rs. 10 crore at
any time during the accounting period.

(viii) Holding and subsidiary enterprises of any one of the above at any
time during the accounting period.

The enterprises which do not fall in any of the above categories are not
required to apply this Standard.

Where an enterprise has been covered in any one or more of the above
categories and subsequently, ceases to be so covered, the enterprise will
not qualify for exemption from application of this Standard, until the
enterprise ceases to be covered in any of the above categories for two
consecutive years.

Where an enterprise has previously qualified for exemption from
application of this Standard (being not covered by any of the above
categories) but no longer qualifies for exemption in the current accounting
period, this Standard becomes applicable from the current period.
However, the corresponding previous period figures need not be disclosed.

An enterprise, which, pursuant to the above provisions, does not disclose
segment information, should disclose the fact.
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The following is the text of the Accounting Standard.”

The above modifications come into effect in respect of accounting periods
commencing on or after 1-4-2004.

3. Modifications in AS 18, Related Party Disclosures

The ‘applicability’ paragraph of AS 18 stands modified as under:

“The following is the text of Accounting Standard (AS) 18, ‘Related Party
Disclosures’, issued by the Council of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India. This Standard comes into effect in respect of
accounting periods commencing on or after 1-4-2001 and is mandatory in
nature.

Accounting Standard (AS) 18, ‘Related Party Disclosures’, issued by the
Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, comes into
effect in respect of accounting periods commencing on or after 1-4-2001.
This Standard is mandatory in nature in respect of accounting periods
commencing on or after 1-4-200475  for the enterprises which fall in any
one or more of the following categories, at any time during the accounting
period:

(i) Enterprises whose equity or debt securities are listed whether in
India or outside India.

(ii) Enterprises which are in the process of listing their equity or debt
securities as evidenced by the board of directors’ resolution in this
regard.

(iii) Banks including co-operative banks.

75AS 18 was earlier made mandatory in respect of accounting periods
commencing on or after 1-4-2001 only for the following enterprises:
(i) Enterprises whose equity or debt securities are listed on a recognised stock
exchange in India, and enterprises that are in the process of issuing equity or
debt securities that will be listed on a recognised stock exchange in India as
evidenced by the board of directors’ resolution in this regard.
(ii) All other commercial, industrial and business reporting enterprises, whose
turnover for the accounting period exceeds Rs. 50 crores.
The relevant announcement was published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, April
2002, page 1242.
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(iv) Financial institutions.

(v) Enterprises carrying on insurance business.

(vi) All commercial, industrial and business reporting enterprises, whose
turnover for the immediately preceding accounting period on the
basis of audited financial statements exceeds Rs. 50 crore. Turnover
does not include ‘other income’.

(vii) All commercial, industrial and business reporting enterprises having
borrowings, including public deposits, in excess of Rs. 10 crore at
any time during the accounting period.

(viii) Holding and subsidiary enterprises of any one of the above at any
time during the accounting period.

The enterprises which do not fall in any of the above categories are not
required to apply this Standard.

Where an enterprise has been covered in any one or more of the above
categories and subsequently, ceases to be so covered, the enterprise will
not qualify for exemption from application of this Standard, until the
enterprise ceases to be covered in any of the above categories for two
consecutive years.

Where an enterprise has previously qualified for exemption from
application of this Standard (being not covered by any of the above
categories) but no longer qualifies for exemption in the current accounting
period, this Standard becomes applicable from the current period.
However, the corresponding previous period figures need not be disclosed.

An enterprise, which, pursuant to the above provisions, does not make
related party disclosures, should disclose the fact.

The following is the text of the Accounting Standard.”

The above modifications come into effect in respect of accounting periods
commencing on or after 1-4-2004. Accordingly, the announcement issued
by the Council titled as ‘Applicability of Accounting Standard (AS) 18,
Related Party Disclosures’, published in the April 2002 issue of the
Institute’s Journal (page 1242) stands withdrawn in respect of accounting
periods commencing on or after 1-4-2004.
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4. Modifications in AS 19, Leases

The ‘applicability’ paragraph of AS 19 stands modified as under:

“The following is the text of Accounting Standard (AS) 19, ‘Leases’,
issued by the Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India,.
This Standard comes into effect in respect of all assets leased during
accounting periods commencing on or after 1.4.2001 and is mandatory in
nature from that date. Accordingly, the ‘Guidance Note on Accounting for
Leases’ issued by the Institute in 1995, is not applicable in respect of such
assets. Earlier application of this Standard is, however, encouraged.

In respect of accounting periods commencing on or after 1-4-200476 , an
enterprise which does not fall in any of the following categories need not
disclose the information required by paragraphs 22(c), (e) and (f); 25(a),
(b) and (e); 37(a), (f) and (g); and 46(b), (d) and (e), of this Standard:

(i) Enterprises whose equity or debt securities are listed whether in
India or outside India.

(ii) Enterprises which are in the process of listing their equity or debt
securities as evidenced by the board of directors’ resolution in this
regard.

(iii) Banks including co-operative banks.

(iv) Financial institutions.

(v) Enterprises carrying on insurance business.

(vi) All commercial, industrial and business reporting enterprises, whose
turnover for the immediately preceding accounting period on the
basis of audited financial statements exceeds Rs. 50 crore. Turnover
does not include ‘other income’.

(vii) All commercial, industrial and business reporting enterprises having
borrowings, including public deposits, in excess of Rs. 10 crore at
any time during the accounting period.

76 AS 19 was originally made mandatory, in its entirety, for all enterprises in
respect of all assets leased during accounting periods commencing on or after
1-4-2001.
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(viii) Holding and subsidiary enterprises of any one of the above at any
time during the accounting period.

In respect of an enterprise which falls in any one or more of the above
categories, at any time during the accounting period, the Standard is
applicable in its entirety.

Where an enterprise has been covered in any one or more of the above
categories and subsequently, ceases to be so covered, the enterprise will
not qualify for exemption from paragraphs 22(c), (e) and (f); 25(a), (b)
and (e); 37(a), (f) and (g); and 46(b), (d) and (e), of this Standard, until
the enterprise ceases to be covered in any of the above categories for two
consecutive years.

Where an enterprise has previously qualified for exemption from
paragraphs 22(c), (e) and (f); 25(a), (b) and (e); 37(a), (f) and (g); and
46(b), (d) and (e), of this Standard (being not covered by any of the above
categories) but no longer qualifies for exemption in the current accounting
period, this Standard becomes applicable, in its entirety, from the current
period. However, the corresponding previous period figures in respect of
above paragraphs need not be disclosed.

An enterprise, which, pursuant to the above provisions, does not disclose
the information required by paragraphs 22(c), (e) and (f); 25(a), (b) and
(e); 37(a), (f) and (g); and 46(b), (d) and (e) should disclose the fact.

The following is the text of the Accounting Standard.”

The above modifications come into effect in respect of accounting periods
commencing on or after 1-4-2004.

5. Modifications in AS 20, Earnings Per Share

The ‘applicability’ paragraph of AS 20 stands modified as under:

“Accounting Standard (AS) 20, ‘Earnings Per Share’, issued by the
Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, comes into
effect in respect of accounting periods commencing on or after 1-4-2001
and is mandatory in nature, from that date, in respect of enterprises whose
equity shares or potential equity shares are listed on a recognised stock
exchange in India.
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An enterprise which has neither equity shares nor potential equity shares
which are so listed but which discloses earnings per share, should calculate
and disclose earnings per share in accordance with this Standard from the
aforesaid date. The following is the text of the Accounting Standard.
However, in respect of accounting periods commencing on or after 1-4-
2004, if any such enterprise does not fall in any of the following categories,
it need not disclose diluted earnings per share (both including and excluding
extraordinary items) and information required by paragraph 48 (ii) of this
Standard77:

(i) Enterprises whose equity securities or potential equity securities are
listed outside India and enterprises whose debt securities (other than
potential equity securities) are listed whether in India or outside
India.

(ii) Enterprises which are in the process of listing their equity or debt
securities as evidenced by the board of directors’ resolution in this
regard.

(iii) Banks including co-operative banks.

(iv) Financial institutions.

(v) Enterprises carrying on insurance business.

(vi) All commercial, industrial and business reporting enterprises, whose
turnover for the immediately preceding accounting period on the
basis of audited financial statements exceeds Rs. 50 crore. Turnover
does not include ‘other income’.

(vii) All commercial, industrial and business reporting enterprises having
borrowings, including public deposits, in excess of Rs. 10 crore at
any time during the accounting period.

77Originally, no exemption was available to an enterprise, which had neither
equity shares nor potential equity shares which were listed on a recognised stock
exchange in India, but which disclosed earnings per share.  It is clarified that no
exemption is available even in respect of accounting periods commencing on or
after 1-4-2004 to enterprises whose equity shares or potential equity shares are
listed on a recognised stock exchange in India.  It is also clarified that this
Standard is not applicable to an enterprise which has neither equity shares nor
potential equity shares which are listed on a recognised stock exchange in India
and which also does not disclose earnings per share.
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(viii) Holding and subsidiary enterprises of any one of the above at any
time during the accounting period.

Where an enterprise (which has neither equity shares nor potential equity
shares which are listed on a recognised stock exchange in India but which
discloses earnings per share) has been covered in any one or more of the
above categories and subsequently, ceases to be so covered, the enterprise
will not qualify for exemption from the disclosure of diluted earnings per
share (both including and excluding extraordinary items) and paragraph 48
(ii) of this Standard, until the enterprise ceases to be covered in any of the
above categories for two consecutive years.

Where an enterprise (which has neither equity shares nor potential equity
shares which are listed on a recognised stock exchange in India but which
discloses earnings per share) has previously qualified for exemption from
the disclosure of diluted earnings per share (both including and excluding
extraordinary items) and paragraph 48 (ii) of this Standard (being not
covered by any of the above categories) but no longer qualifies for
exemption in the current accounting period, this Standard becomes
applicable, in its entirety, from the current period. However, the relevant
corresponding previous period figures need not be disclosed.

If an enterprise (which has neither equity shares nor potential equity
shares which are listed on a recognised stock exchange in India but which
discloses earnings per share), pursuant to the above provisions, does not
disclose the diluted earnings per share (both including and excluding
extraordinary items) and information required by paragraph 48 (ii), it should
disclose the fact.

The following is the text of the Accounting Standard.”

The above modifications come into effect in respect of accounting periods
commencing on or after 1-4-2004.

6. Modifications in AS 24, Discontinuing Operations

The ‘applicability’ paragraph of AS 24 stands modified as under:

“Accounting Standard (AS) 24, ‘Discontinuing Operations’, issued by the
Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, comes into
effect in respect of accounting periods commencing on or after 1-4-2004.
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is recommendatory in nature at present. The following is the text of the
Accounting Standard. This Standard is mandatory in nature in respect of
accounting periods commencing on or after 1-4-200478 for the enterprises
which fall in any one or more of the following categories, at any time
during the accounting period:

(i) Enterprises whose equity or debt securities are listed whether in
India or outside India.

(ii) Enterprises which are in the process of listing their equity or debt
securities as evidenced by the board of directors’ resolution in this
regard.

(iii) Banks including co-operative banks.

(iv) Financial institutions.

(v) Enterprises carrying on insurance business.

(vi) All commercial, industrial and business reporting enterprises, whose
turnover for the immediately preceding accounting period on the
basis of audited financial statements exceeds Rs. 50 crore. Turnover
does not include ‘other income’.

(vii) All commercial, industrial and business reporting enterprises having
borrowings, including public deposits, in excess of Rs. 10 crore at
any time during the accounting period.

(viii) Holding and subsidiary enterprises of any one of the above at any
time during the accounting period.

78It was originally decided to make AS 24 mandatory in respect of accounting
periods commencing on or after 1-4-2004 for the following:
(i) Enterprises whose equity or debt securities are listed on a recognised stock
exchange in India, and enterprises that are in the process of issuing equity or
debt securities that will be listed on a recognised stock exchange in India as
evidenced by the board of directors’ resolution in this regard.
(ii) All other commercial, industrial and business reporting enterprises, whose
turnover for the accounting period exceeds Rs. 50 crores.
In respect of all other enterprises, it was originally decided to make the Standard
mandatory in respect of accounting periods commencing on or after 1-4-2005.
The relevant announcement was published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, May
2002, page 1378.
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Earlier application is encouraged.

The enterprises which do not fall in any of the above categories are not
required to apply this Standard.

Where an enterprise has been covered in any one or more of the above
categories and subsequently, ceases to be so covered, the enterprise will
not qualify for exemption from application of this Standard, until the
enterprise ceases to be covered in any of the above categories for two
consecutive years.

Where an enterprise has previously qualified for exemption from
application of this Standard (being not covered by any of the above
categories) but no longer qualifies for exemption in the current accounting
period, this Standard becomes applicable from the current period.
However, the corresponding previous period figures need not be disclosed.

An enterprise, which, pursuant to the above provisions, does not present
the information relating to the discontinuing operations, should disclose the
fact.

The following is the text of the Accounting Standard.”

The above modifications come into effect in respect of accounting periods
commencing on or after 1-4-2004. Accordingly, the announcement issued
by the Council titled as ‘Accounting Standard (AS) 24, Discontinuing
Operations’, published in the May 2002 issue of the Institute’s Journal
(page 1378) stands withdrawn in respect of accounting periods
commencing on or after 1-4-2004.

7. Modifications in AS 28, Impairment of Assets79

The ‘applicability’ paragraphs of AS 28 stand modified as under:

79With a view to provide relaxations from measurement principles contained in AS
28, Impairment of Assets, to Small and Medium-sized Enterprises (SMEs), the
Council of the Institute has issued an Announcement titled ‘Applicability of
Accounting Standard (AS) 28, Impairment of Assets, to Small and Medium Sized
Enterprises (SMEs)’ (published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, November 2005
(pp. 777-778)).  For full text of the Announcement, reference may be made to
Announcement XXIX published hereinafter.
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“Accounting Standard (AS) 28, ‘Impairment of Assets’, issued by the
Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, comes into
effect in respect of accounting periods commencing on or after 1-4-2004.
and is mandatory in nature from that date for the following:

This Standard is mandatory in nature in respect of accounting periods
commencing on or after:

(a) 1-4-200480, for the enterprises, which fall in any one or more of the
following categories, at any time during the accounting period:

(i) Enterprises whose equity or debt securities are listed whether in
India or outside India.

(ii) Enterprises which are in the process of listing their equity or debt
securities as evidenced by the board of directors’ resolution in this
regard.

(iii) Banks including co-operative banks.

(iv) Financial institutions.

(v) Enterprises carrying on insurance business.

(vi) All commercial, industrial and business reporting enterprises, whose
turnover for the immediately preceding accounting period on the
basis of audited financial statements exceeds Rs. 50 crore. Turnover
does not include ‘other income’.

(vii) All commercial, industrial and business reporting enterprises having
borrowings including public deposits, in excess of Rs. 10 crore at any
time during the accounting period.

80It was originally decided to make AS 28 mandatory in respect of accounting
periods commencing on or after 1-4-2004 for the following:
(i) Enterprises whose equity or debt securities are listed on a recognised stock
exchange in India, and enterprises that are in the process of issuing equity or
debt securities that will be listed on a recognised stock exchange in India as
evidenced by the board of directors’ resolution in this regard.
(ii) All other commercial, industrial and business reporting enterprises, whose
turnover for the accounting period exceeds Rs. 50 crores.
In respect of all other enterprises, it was originally decided to make AS 28
mandatory in respect of accounting periods commencing on or after 1-4-2005.
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(viii) Holding and subsidiary enterprises of any one of the above at any
time during the accounting period.

(b) 1-4-200681 , for the enterprises which do not fall in any of the
categories in (a) above but fall in any one or more of the following
categories:

(i) All commercial, industrial and business reporting enterprises, whose
turnover for the immediately preceding accounting period on the
basis of audited financial statements exceeds Rs. 40 lakhs but does
not exceed Rs. 50 crore. Turnover does not include ‘other income’.

(ii) All commercial, industrial and business reporting enterprises having
borrowings, including public deposits, in excess of Rs. 1 crore but not
in excess of Rs. 10 crore at any time during the accounting period.

(iii) Holding and subsidiary enterprises of any one of the above at any
time during the accounting period.

(c) 1-4-200882 , for the enterprises, which do not fall in any of the
categories in (a) and (b) above.

(i) Enterprises whose equity or debt securities are listed on a recognised
stock exchange in India, and enterprises that are in the process of issuing
equity or debt securities that will be listed on a recognised stock exchange
in India as evidenced by the board of directors’ resolution in this regard.

(ii) All other commercial, industrial and business reporting enterprises,
whose turnover for the accounting period exceeds Rs. 50 crores.

In respect of all other enterprises, the Accounting Standard comes into
effect in respect of accounting periods commencing on or after 1-4-2005
and is mandatory in nature from that date.

Earlier application of the Accounting Standard is encouraged.

The following is the text of the Accounting Standard.”

The above modifications come into effect in respect of accounting periods
commencing on or after 1-4-2004.

81 ibid.
82 ibid.
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Note: In all the above modifications, the footnote clarifying the
implications of ‘mandatory’ status of an accounting standard, will continue
to appear whenever the word ‘mandatory’ is used for the first time as it
presently appears in the respective standards.

XVIII. Treatment of exchange differences under
Accounting Standard (AS) 11 (revised 2003), The Effects of
Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates vis-à-vis Schedule VI
to the Companies Act, 195683

1. The revised Accounting Standard (AS) 11, The Effects of Changes in
Foreign Exchange Rates, was published in the March 2003 issue of the
Institute’s Journal, ‘The Chartered Accountant’, (pp. 916 to 922). Revised
AS 11 will come into effect in respect of accounting periods commencing on
or after 1-4-2004 and is mandatory in nature from that date.  The revised
Standard will supersede Accounting Standard (AS) 11, Accounting for the
Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates (1994), except that in respect
of accounting for transactions in foreign currencies entered into by the
reporting enterprise itself or through its branches before the date this Standard
comes into effect, AS 11 (1994) will continue to be applicable.

2. In this context, it may be noted that Schedule VI to the Companies
Act, 1956, provides, inter alia, that where the original cost and additions
and deductions thereto, relate to any fixed asset which has been acquired
from a country outside India, and in consequence of a change in the rate
of exchange at any time after the acquisition of such asset, there has been
an increase or reduction in the liability of the company, as expressed in
Indian currency, for making payment towards the whole or a part of the
cost of the asset or for repayment of the whole or a part of moneys
borrowed by the company from any person, directly or indirectly, in any
foreign currency specifically for the purpose of acquiring the assets (being
in either case the liability existing immediately before the date on which
the change in the rate of exchange takes effect), the amount by which the
liability is so increased or reduced during the year, shall be added to, or,
as the case may be, deducted from the cost, and the amount arrived at
after such addition or deduction shall be taken to be the cost of the fixed
asset.

83 Published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, November 2003 (pp. 497). This
Announcement has been withdrawn by the Council at its 269th meeting held on July
18, 2007 (See Announcement XXXVI).
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3. The revised AS 11 (2003), however, does not require the adjustment
of exchange differences in the carrying amount of the fixed assets, in the
situations envisaged in Schedule VI to the Companies Act, 1956 (see para
13 of revised AS 11).  As per revised AS 11 (2003), such exchange
differences are required to be recognised in the statement of profit and
loss since it is felt that this treatment is conceptually preferable to that
required in Schedule VI and is in consonance with the international position
in this regard.

4. It may be mentioned that the Institute has decided to take up this
aspect with the Government to consider the same in the revision of
Schedule VI to the Companies Act, 1956. It may be noted that where a
requirement of an accounting standard is different from the applicable law,
the law prevails. Accordingly, a requirement of an accounting standard is
not applicable to the extent it is in conflict with the requirement of the
relevant law. Thus, pending the amendment, if any, to Schedule VI to the
Companies Act, 1956, in respect of the matter, a company adopting the
treatment described in paragraph 2 above will still be considered to be
complying with AS 11 for the purposes of section 211 of the Act.
Accordingly, the auditor of the company should not assert non-compliance
with AS 11 (2003) under section 227(3)(d) of the Act in such a case and
should not qualify his report in this regard on the true and fair view of the
state of the company’s affairs and profit or loss of the company under
section 227(2) of the Act.

XIX.  Applicability of Accounting Standard (AS) 26, Intangible
Assets, to intangible items84

1. Accounting Standard (AS) 26, ‘Intangible Assets’, came into effect
in respect of expenditure incurred on intangible items during accounting
periods commencing on or after 1-4-2003 and is mandatory in nature from
that date for the following:

84 Published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, November 2003 (pp. 479). It may be
noted that pursuant to a limited revision to AS 26, Intangible Assets, effective in
respect of accounting periods commencing on or after 1-4-2003, this Announcement
stands superseded to the extent it deals with VRS expenditure, from the aforesaid
date (see ‘The Chartered Accountant’, April 2004 (pp. 1157)).
AS 15 (revised 2005), inter alia, deals with treatment of VRS expenditure.  AS
15 (revised 2005) comes into effect in respect of accounting periods commencing
on or after 01.04.2006.  The said Standard is published elsewhere in this
Compendium.
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(i) Enterprises whose equity or debt securities are listed on a
recognised stock exchange in India, and enterprises that are in
the process of issuing equity or debt securities that will be listed
on a recognised stock exchange in India as evidenced by the
board of directors’ resolution in this regard.

(ii) All other commercial, industrial and business reporting
enterprises, whose turnover for the accounting period exceeds
Rs. 50 crores.

In respect of all other enterprises, the Accounting Standard will come into
effect in respect of expenditure incurred on intangible items during
accounting periods commencing on or after 1-4-2004 and will be
mandatory in nature from that date.

2. An issue has been raised as to what should be the treatment of the
expenditure incurred on intangible items, which were treated as deferred
revenue expenditure and ordinarily spread over a period of 3 to 5 years
before AS 26 became mandatory and which do not meet the definition of
an ‘asset’ as per AS 26.  The examples of such items are expenditure
incurred in respect of lump sum payment towards a Voluntary Retirement
Scheme (VRS), preliminary expenses etc.  In this context, it is clarified as
below:

(i) The expenditure incurred on intangible items (referred to in paragraph
2 above) after the date AS 26 became/becomes mandatory (1-4-2003 or 1-4-
2004, as the case may be) would have to be expensed when incurred since
these do not meet the definition of an ‘asset’ as per AS 26.

(ii) In respect of the balances of the expenditure incurred on intangible
items (referred to in paragraph 2 above) before the date AS 26 became/
becomes mandatory, appearing in the balance sheet as on 1-4-2003 or 1-4-
2004, as the case may be, paragraphs 99 and 100 of AS 26 are applicable.

In view of the above, it would not be proper to adjust the balances of such
items against the revenue reserves as on 1-4-2003 or 1-4-2004, as the case
may be, and such items should continue to be expensed over a number of
years as originally contemplated, since as per the accounting principles relevant
for deferred revenue expenditure in India, such expenditure is spread over a
period which is normally less than the period contemplated in paragraph 63 of
AS 26.
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(iii) In case an enterprise has already adjusted the above referred balances
of the intangible items appearing in the balance sheet as on 1-4-2003 against
the opening balance of revenue reserves as on 1-4-2003, it should rectify the
same on the basis of the above requirements.

XX. Applicability of AS 4 to impairment of assets not covered
by present Indian Accounting Standards85

1. Accounting Standard (AS) 29, ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets’, issued by the Institute in November 2003, comes into
effect in respect of accounting periods commencing on or after 1-4-2004.
As per AS 29, from the date of this Accounting Standard becoming
mandatory, all paragraphs of Accounting Standard (AS) 4, Contingencies
and Events Occurring After the Balance Sheet Date, that deal with
contingencies (viz., paragraphs 1 (a), 2, 3.1, 4 (4.1 to 4.4), 5 (5.1 to 5.6), 6,
7 (7.1 to 7.3), 9.1 (relevant portion), 9.2, 10, 11, 12 and 16), stand
withdrawn.

2. Paragraph 7 of AS 29 provides that this Statement defines provisions
as liabilities which can be measured only by using a substantial degree of
estimation. It further provides that the term ‘provision’ is also used in the
context of items such as depreciation, impairment of assets and doubtful
debts: these are adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and are not
addressed in this Statement.  In view of this, impairment of assets and
doubtful debts are not covered by AS 29.

3. It may be noted that the paragraphs of AS 4 dealing with
contingencies also cover provision for contingent loss in case of impairment
of assets, not covered by other Accounting Standards, such as, AS 2,
Valuation of Inventories, AS 10, Accounting for Fixed Assets, AS 13,
Accounting for Investments and AS 28, Impairment of Assets (coming into
effect from 1-4-2004).  Accordingly, AS 4 deals with impairment of certain
assets, for example, the impairment of financial assets like receivables
(commonly referred to as the provision for bad and doubtful debts).

4. As may be noted from paragraph 1 above, pursuant to AS 29 coming
into effect, the paragraphs of AS 4 that deal with contingencies stand
withdrawn. It may further be noted that while impairment of certain assets
is covered by some existing Accounting Standards referred to in paragraph
3 above, impairment of financial assets such as receivables, which are not

85 Published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, April 2004 (pp. 1151).



A-60 Compendium of Accounting Standards

covered by AS 29, is expected to be covered in an Accounting Standard
on Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, which is under
preparation.

5. In view of the above, it is brought to the notice of the members and
others that till the issuance of the proposed Accounting Standard on
financial instruments, the paragraphs of AS 4 which deal with
contingencies would remain operational to the extent they cover the
impairment of assets not covered by other Indian Accounting Standards.
Thus, for instance, impairment of receivables (commonly referred to as
the provision for bad and doubtful debts) would continue to be covered by
AS 4.

XXI. Deferment of the Applicability of AS 22 to Non-
corporate Enterprises86

Non-corporate enterprises, such as sole proprietors, partnership firms,
trusts, Hindu Undivided Families, association of persons and co-operative
societies will now be required to follow Accounting Standard (AS) 22,
Accounting for Taxes on Income, in respect of accounting periods
commencing on or after 1-4-2006. The decision to this effect has been
taken by the Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India
(ICAI), at its meeting, held on June 24-26, 2004. The applicability of AS
22 has been deferred for those non-corporate enterprises which were
required to follow AS 22 in respect of accounting periods commencing on
or after 1-4-2003.

It may be noted that the applicability paragraphs of AS 22 provided as
below:

“Accounting Standard (AS) 22, ‘Accounting for Taxes on Income’,
issued by the Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of
India, comes into effect in respect of accounting periods commencing
on or after 1-4-2001. It is mandatory in nature for:

(a) All the accounting periods commencing on or after 01.04.2001,
in respect of the following:

86 Published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, July 2004 (pp. 119).
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(i) Enterprises whose equity or debt securities are listed on
a recognised stock exchange in India and enterprises that are
in the process of issuing equity or debt securities that will be
listed on a recognised stock exchange in India as evidenced by
the board of directors’ resolution in this regard.

(ii) All the enterprises of a group, if the parent presents
consolidated financial statements and the Accounting Standard
is mandatory in nature in respect of any of the enterprises of
that group in terms of (i) above.

(b) All the accounting periods commencing on or after 01.04.2002,
in respect of companies not covered by (a) above.

(c) All the accounting periods commencing on or after 01.04.2003,
in respect of all other enterprises.”

The decision to defer the applicability of AS 22 to enterprises covered by
(c) above so as to make it mandatory in respect of accounting periods
commencing on or after 1-4-2006 instead of 1-4-2003 has been taken by
the Council on a consideration of certain representations and views
expressed at various forums. This decision has been taken with a view to
provide some more time to such enterprises for effective implementation
of AS 22.

XXII. Applicability of Accounting Standard (AS) 11
(revised 2003), The Effects of Changes in Foreign
Exchange Rates, in respect of exchange differences
arising on a forward exchange contract entered into to
hedge the foreign currency risk of a firm commitment or a
highly probable forecast transaction87

1. The revised Accounting Standard (AS) 11, The Effects of Changes
in Foreign Exchange Rates, was published in the March 2003 issue of the
Institute’s Journal, ‘The Chartered Accountant’ (pp. 916 to 922). AS 11
(revised 2003) has come into effect in respect of accounting periods
commencing on or after 1-4-2004 and is mandatory in nature from that
date.

87 Issued on the basis of the decision of the Council at its meeting held on June 24-26,
2004.



A-62 Compendium of Accounting Standards

2. AS 11 (revised 2003) deals, inter alia, with forward exchange
contracts. Paragraphs 36 and 37 of AS 11 (revised 2003) deal with
accounting for a forward exchange contract or any other financial
instrument that is in substance a forward exchange contract, which is not
intended for trading or speculation purposes, i.e., it is for hedging purposes.
Paragraphs 38 and 39 of AS 11 (revised 2003) deal with forward exchange
contracts intended for trading or speculation purposes.

3. An issue has been raised regarding the applicability of AS 11 (revised
2003) to the exchange difference arising on a forward exchange contract
or any other financial instrument that is in substance a forward exchange
contract (hereinafter the term ‘forward exchange contract’ is used to
include such other financial instruments also), entered into by an enterprise
to hedge the foreign currency risk of a firm commitment88 or a highly
probable forecast transaction89.

4. In this regard, it may be noted that paragraphs 36 and 37 of AS 11
(revised 2003) are not intended to deal with forward exchange contracts
which are entered into to hedge the foreign currency risk of a firm
commitment or a highly probable forecast transaction. Further, paragraphs
38 and 39 are also not applicable in respect of such forward exchange
contracts since these contracts are not for trading or speculation purposes.
Accordingly, it is clarified that AS 11 (revised 2003) does not deal with the
accounting of exchange difference arising on a forward exchange contract
entered into to hedge the foreign currency risk of a firm commitment or
a highly probable forecast transaction.90

5. It may be noted that the hedge accounting, in its entirety, including
hedge of a firm commitment or a highly probable forecast transaction, is
proposed to be dealt with in the accounting standard on Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, which is presently under
formulation.

88 A firm commitment is a binding agreement for the exchange of a specified quantity
of resources at a specified price on a specified future date or dates.
89 A forecast transaction is an uncommitted but anticipated future transaction.
90 It has been separately clarified that AS 11 continues to be applicable to exchange
differences in respect of all forward exchange contracts other than those entered
into, to hedge the foreign currency risk of a firm commitment or a highly probable
forecast transaction (published in 'The Chartered Accountant', August 2004, pp. 187).
For subsequent developments in this regard, see also Announcements XXXI, XXXII,
XXXIII, XXXVI and XL published hereinafter.
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XXIII. Elimination of unrealised profits and losses under
AS 21, AS 23 and AS 2791

Accounting Standard (AS) 21, Consolidated Financial Statements, came
into effect in respect of accounting periods commencing on or after 1-
4-2001 and is mandatory from that date if an enterprise presents
consolidated financial statements. Paragraph 16 of AS 21 requires that
intragroup balances and intragroup transactions and resulting unrealised
profits should be eliminated in full. It further provides that unrealised
losses resulting from intragroup transactions should also be eliminated
unless cost cannot be recovered.

There may be transactions between a parent and its subsidiary(ies)
entered into during accounting periods commencing on or after 31-3-
2001. While preparing consolidated financial statements, in respect of
some of the transactions entered into during accounting periods
commencing on or before 31-3-2001, it may not be practicable to
eliminate resulting unrealised profits and losses. It has, therefore,
been decided that elimination of unrealised profits and losses in
respect of transactions entered into during accounting periods
commencing on or before 31-3-2001, is encouraged, but not required
on practical grounds.

The above position also applies in respect of AS 23, Accounting for
Investments in Associates in Consolidated Financial Statements and AS
27, Financial Reporting of Interests in Joint Ventures while applying the
‘equity method’ and ‘proportionate consolidation method’ respectively.

XXIV. Disclosures in cases where a Court/Tribunal makes
an order sanctioning an accounting treatment which is
different from that prescribed by an Accounting
Standard92

Paragraph 4.2 of the ‘Preface to the Statements of Accounting Standards’
(revised 2004) provides as under:

91 Published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, July 2004 (pp. 46).
92 Published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, December 2004 (pp. 825).
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“4.2 The Accounting Standards by their very nature cannot and do
not override the local regulations which govern the preparation and
presentation of financial statements in the country. However, the
ICAI will determine the extent of disclosure to be made in financial
statements and the auditor’s report thereon. Such disclosure may be
by way of appropriate notes explaining the treatment of particular
items. Such explanatory notes will be only in the nature of
clarification and therefore need not be treated as adverse comments
on the related financial statements.”

In the case of Companies, Section 211 (3B) of the Companies Act, 1956,
provides that “Where the profit and loss account and the balance sheet of
the company do not comply with the accounting standards, such companies
shall disclose in its profit and loss account and balance sheet, the following,
namely:

(a) the deviation from the accounting standards;

(b) the reasons for such deviation; and

(c) the financial effect, if any, arising due to such deviation.”

In view of the above, if an item in the financial statements of a Company
is treated differently pursuant to an Order made by the Court/Tribunal, as
compared to the treatment required by an Accounting Standard, following
disclosures should be made in the financial statements of the year in which
different treatment has been given:

1. A description of the accounting treatment made along with the
reason that the same has been adopted because of the Court/
Tribunal Order.

2. Description of the difference between the accounting treatment
prescribed in the Accounting Standard and that followed by the
Company.

3. The financial impact, if any, arising due to such a difference.

It is recommended that the above disclosures should be made by
enterprises other than companies also in similar situations.
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XXV. Treatment of Inter-divisional Transfers93

Attention of the members is invited to the definition of the term ‘revenue’
in Accounting Standard (AS) 9, Revenue Recognition, issued by the
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, which is reproduced below:

“Revenue is the gross inflow of cash, receivables or other
consideration arising in the course of the ordinary activities of
an enterprise from the sale of goods, from the rendering of services,
and from the use by others of enterprise resources yielding interest,
royalties and dividends. Revenue is measured by the charges made
to customers or clients for goods supplied and services rendered to
them and by the charges and rewards arising from the use of
resources by them. In an agency relationship, the revenue is the
amount of commission and not the gross inflow of cash, receivables
or other consideration.” (emphasis supplied)

The use of the word ‘enterprise’ in the definition of the term ‘revenue’
clearly implies that the transfers within the enterprise cannot be considered
as fulfilling the definition of the term ‘revenue’. Thus, the recognition of
inter-divisional transfers as sales is an inappropriate accounting treatment
and is inconsistent with Accounting Standard (AS) 9, Revenue
Recognition. This aspect is further strengthened by considering the
recognition criteria laid down in AS 9. Paragraphs 10 and 11 of AS 9,
reproduced below, provide as to when revenue from the sale of goods
should be recognised:

“10. Revenue from sales or service transactions should be
recognised when the requirements as to performance set out in
paragraphs 11 and 12 are satisfied, provided that at the time of
performance it is not unreasonable to expect ultimate collection.
If at the time of raising of any claim it is unreasonable to expect
ultimate collection, revenue recognition should be postponed.

11. In a transaction involving the sale of goods, performance
should be regarded as being achieved when the following
conditions have been fulfilled:

93 Published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, May 2005 (pp. 1531).
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(i) the seller of goods has transferred to the buyer the
property in the goods for a price or all significant
risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred
to the buyer and the seller retains no effective control
of the goods transferred to a degree usually associated
with ownership; and

(ii) no significant uncertainty exists regarding the amount
of the consideration that will be derived from the sale
of the goods.”

Since in case of inter-divisional transfers, risks and rewards remain within
the enterprise and also there is no consideration from the point of view of
the enterprise as a whole, the recognition criteria for revenue recognition
are also not fulfilled in respect of inter-divisional transfers.

XXVI. Withdrawal of the Statement on Auditing Practices

The Council of the Institute at its 249th meeting held on March 22 to 24,
2005 has decided to withdraw the Statement on Auditing Practices issued
in June 1964, published in the Handbook of Auditing Pronouncements
(2005 edn). The abovementioned statement has been withdrawn pursuant
to the issuance of various Auditing and Assurance Standards and Guidance
Notes on the topics covered by the different paragraphs of the said
statement.

XXVII. Applicability of Accounting Standards to an
Unlisted Indian Company, which is a Subsidiary of a
Foreign Company Listed Outside India94

1. The Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India has
issued an Announcement (see ‘The Chartered Accountant’, November
2003 (pp. 480-489)) on ‘Applicability of Accounting Standards’95 with a

94 Published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, August 2005 (pp. 338-339).
95 It may be noted that the Announcement on ‘Applicability of Accounting
Standards’ stands superseded pursuant to issuance of Announcement XXXVIII
on ‘Harmonisation of Various differences between the Accounting Standards
issued by the ICAI and the Accounting Standards notified by the Central
Government’. Accordingly, this Announcement should be read in context of
Announcement XXXVIII.
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view to lay down the scheme of applicability of Accounting Standards to
Small and Medium Sized Enterprises (SMEs).  As per the said scheme,
all accounting standards are applicable to Level I enterprises.  Level I
enterprises, inter alia, include (i) enterprises whose equity or debt
securities are listed whether in India or outside India, and (ii) holding or
a subsidiary of a Level I enterprise.

2. With regard to above, an issue has been raised as to whether, as per
the above scheme, a foreign company which is incorporated and listed
outside India would also be considered as a Level I enterprise and
consequent to this, whether an unlisted Indian company, which is a
subsidiary of this foreign company, would become a Level I enterprise
merely because of it being a subsidiary of the said foreign company.

3. It is clarified that, in the above-stated scheme, the term ‘enterprise’
includes all entities that are required to prepare their financial statements
as per the Indian GAAPs.  Accordingly, all Indian entities, i.e., the entities
which are incorporated in India, are covered in the said scheme.  The
scheme also covers those foreign entities which are required to prepare
their financial statements as per the Indian GAAPs.  Thus, in case a
foreign company, which is incorporated and listed outside India, is required
to prepare its financial statements as per the Indian GAAPs, it will be
considered as a Level I enterprise.  In such a case, the Indian company,
which is a subsidiary of the aforesaid foreign company, would also be
considered as a Level I enterprise for the reason that it is a subsidiary of
another Level I enterprise.  In case the parent foreign company is not
required to prepare its financial statements as per the Indian GAAPs, its
Indian subsidiary would not be considered to be a Level I enterprise
provided it does not meet any other criteria for becoming Level I enterprise
as per the said scheme.  Thus, in such a situation, the status of the Indian
company under the above scheme will be determined independent of the
status of its parent foreign company.

XXVIII. Tax effect of expenses/income adjusted directly
against the reserves and/or Securities Premium Account96 

1. It has been noticed that some companies are charging certain
expenses, which are otherwise required to be charged to the profit and
loss account, directly against reserves and/or Securities Premium Account
pursuant to the court orders.  In such a case, while the expenses are

96 Published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, September 2005 (pp. 495-496).
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charged to reserves and/or Securities Premium Account, the tax benefit
arising from admissibility of such expenses for tax purposes is not
recognised in the reserves and/or Securities Premium Account.  Such a
situation may also arise where an enterprise adjusts its reserves to give
effect to a change, if any, in accounting policy consequent upon adoption
of an Accounting Standard, in accordance with the transitional provisions
contained in the standard.  Further, a company may adjust an expense
against the Securities Premium Account as allowed under the provisions
of section 78 of the Companies Act, 1956.  A similar situation may arise
where, pursuant to a court order or under transitional provisions prescribed
in an accounting standard, an income, which should have otherwise been
credited to the profit and loss account in accordance with the requirements
of generally accepted accounting principles, may have been directly
credited to a reserve account or a similar account and the tax effect
thereof is not recognised in the reserve account or a similar account.

2. Not recognising the tax benefit, arising from admissibility of expense
charged to the reserves and/or Securities Premium Account, in the
reserves and/or Securities Premium Account is contrary to the generally
accepted accounting principles because it results in recognition and
presentation of tax effect of an expense in a manner which is different
from the manner in which the expense itself has been recognised and
presented.  Similarly, recognising and presenting the tax effect of an
income in a manner which is different from the manner in which income
itself has been recognised and presented is contrary to the generally
accepted accounting principles.  Accordingly, any expense charged directly
to reserves and/or Securities Premium Account should be net of tax
benefits expected to arise from the admissibility of such expenses for tax
purposes. Similarly, any income credited directly to a reserve account or
a similar account should be net of its tax effect.

3. In view of the above, any item of income or expense adjusted directly
to reserves and/or Securities Premium Account should be net of its
tax effect.

XXIX. Applicability of Accounting Standard (AS) 28, Impairment
of Assets, to Small and Medium Sized Enterprises (SMEs)97

1. Accounting Standard (AS) 28, Impairment of Assets, issued by the

97 Published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, November 2005 (pp. 777-778). It may be
noted that the term SMEs here refers to SMCs and non-corporate entities falling in
Level II and Level III (see Announcement XXXVIII).
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Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, comes into
effect in respect of accounting periods commencing on or after 1-4-2004.
The Standard is mandatory in nature from different dates for different
levels of enterprises as below:

(i) To Level I enterprises- from accounting periods commencing on
or after 1.4.2004.

(ii) To Level II enterprises- from accounting periods commencing on
or after 1.4.2006.

(iii) To Level III enterprises- from accounting periods commencing
on or after 1.4.2008.

The criteria for different levels are given in Annexure I.

2. Considering the feedback received from various interest-groups and
the concerns expressed at various forums, it is felt that relaxation should
be given to Level II and Level III enterprises (referred to as ‘Small and
Medium Sized Enterprises’ (SMEs)), from the measurement principles
contained in AS 28, Impairment of Assets.

3. AS 28 defines, inter alia, the following terms:

An impairment loss is the amount by which the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount.

Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s net selling price and its
value in use.

Net selling price is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an
arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties, less
the costs of disposal.

Value in use is the present value of estimated future cash flows expected
to arise from the continuing use of an asset and from its disposal at the
end of its useful life.

4. The relaxations for SMEs in respect of AS 28 have been decided as
below:

(i) Considering that detailed cash flow projections of SMEs are often
not readily available, SMEs are allowed to measure the ‘value in
use’ on the basis of reasonable estimate thereof instead of
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computing the value in use by present value technique. Therefore,
the definition of the term ‘value in use’ in the context of the SMEs
would read as follows:

“Value in use is the present value of estimated future cash
flows expected to arise from the continuing use of an asset
and from its disposal at the end of its useful life, or a reasonable
estimate thereof”.

(ii) The above change in the definition of ‘value in use’ implies that
instead of using the present value technique, a reasonable estimate
of the ‘value in use’ can be made.  Consequently, if an SME
chooses to measure the ‘value in use’ by not using the present
value technique, the relevant provisions of AS 28, such as discount
rate etc., would not be applicable to such an SME. Further, such
an SME need not disclose the information required by paragraph
121(g) of the Standard. Subject to this, the other provisions of AS
28 would be applicable to SMEs.

5. An enterprise, which, pursuant to the above provisions, does not use
the present value technique for measuring value in use, should disclose, the
fact that it has measured its ‘value in use’ on the basis of the reasonable
estimate thereof and the manner in which the estimate has been arrived
at including assumptions that govern the estimate.

6. Where an enterprise has been covered in Level I and subsequently,
ceases to be so covered, the enterprise will not qualify for relaxation/
exemption from the applicability of this Standard, until the enterprise
ceases to be covered in Level I for two consecutive years.

7. Where an enterprise has previously qualified for the above
relaxations (being not covered in Level I) but no longer qualifies for
relaxation in the current accounting period, this Standard becomes
applicable from the current period without the above relaxations. However,
the corresponding previous period figures in respect of the relevant
disclosures need not be provided.

The above provisions are applicable in respect of the accounting
periods commencing on or after 1-4-2006 (for Level II enterprises) and 1-
4-2008 (for Level III enterprises).  However, if an enterprise being a
Level II enterprise starts applying AS 28 from accounting periods beginning
on or after 1-4-2006, it will continue to apply this Standard even if it
ceases to be covered in Level II and becomes a Level III enterprise.
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Annexure I

Criteria for classification of enterprises

Level I Enterprises

Enterprises which fall in any one or more of the following categories, at
any time during the accounting period, are classified as Level I enterprises:

(i) Enterprises whose equity or debt securities are listed whether in
India or outside India.

(ii) Enterprises which are in the process of listing their equity or debt
securities as evidenced by the board of directors’ resolution in this
regard.

(iii) Banks including co-operative banks.

(iv) Financial institutions.

(v) Enterprises carrying on insurance business.

(vi) All commercial, industrial and business reporting enterprises, whose
turnover for the immediately preceding accounting period on the
basis of audited financial statements exceeds Rs. 50 crore.
Turnover does not include ‘other income’.

(vii) All commercial, industrial and business reporting enterprises having
borrowings, including public deposits, in excess of Rs. 10 crore at
any time during the accounting period.

(viii) Holding and subsidiary enterprises of any one of the above at any
time during the accounting period.

Level II Enterprises

Enterprises which are not Level I enterprises but fall in any one or more
of the following categories are classified as Level II enterprises:

(i) All commercial, industrial and business reporting enterprises, whose
turnover for the immediately preceding accounting period on the
basis of audited financial statements exceeds Rs. 40 lakhs but
does not exceed Rs. 50 crore. Turnover does not include  ‘other
income’.

(ii) All commercial, industrial and business reporting enterprises having
borrowings, including public deposits, in excess of Rs. 1 crore but
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not in excess of Rs. 10 crore at any time during the accounting
period.

(iii) Holding and subsidiary enterprises of any one of the above at any
time during the accounting period.

Level III Enterprises

Enterprises which are not covered under Level I and Level II are
considered as Level III enterprises.

XXX. Disclosures regarding Derivative Instruments98

1. In recent years, derivative instruments are increasingly being used
for trading as well as hedging purposes.  A ‘derivative’ is a financial
instrument or other contract with all three of the following characteristics:

(a) its value changes in response to the change in a specified interest
rate, financial instrument price, commodity price, foreign exchange
rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or other
variable, provided in the case of a non-financial variable that the
variable is not specific to a party to the contract (sometimes called
the ‘underlying’);

(b) it requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that
is smaller than would be required for other types of contracts that
would be expected to have a similar response to changes in market
factors; and

(c) it is settled at a future date.

2. Accounting Standard (AS) 1, Disclosure of Accounting Policies,
requires that all significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation
and presentation of financial statements should be disclosed.  In view of
the aforesaid requirement of AS 1, an enterprise should disclose the criteria
applied for recognition and measurement of the derivative instruments
which are used by the enterprise for hedging or for other purposes and the
criteria applied for recognition and measurement of income and expenses
arising from such instruments.

3. The Accounting Standards Board of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India is in the process of developing Accounting Standards
on (i) ‘Financial Instruments: Presentation’, (ii) ‘Financial Instruments:
98 Published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, December 2005 (pp. 927).
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Disclosures’ and (iii) ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement’ which would deal with the presentation, disclosure and
recognition and measurements aspects of all financial instruments including
derivative instruments.99 Pending the issuance of the said Accounting
Standards, the Institute is of the view that with a view to provide
information regarding the extent of risks to which an enterprise is exposed,
it should, as a minimum, make following disclosures in its financial
statements:

(a) category-wise quantitative data about derivative instruments that
are outstanding at the balance sheet date,

(b) the purpose, viz., hedging or speculation, for which such derivative
instruments have been acquired, and

(c) the foreign currency exposures that are not hedged by a derivative
instrument or otherwise.

Effective Date

4. This Announcement is applicable in respect of financial statements
for the accounting period(s) ending on or after March 31, 2006.

XXXI. Accounting for exchange differences arising on a forward
exchange contract entered into to hedge the foreign currency
risk of a firm commitment or a highly probable forecast
transaction100

99 It may be noted that ICAI has issued the Accounting Standards on Financial
Instruments for current status of applicability of these Accounting Standards, see
Announcement XLI.
100 Published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, January 2006 (pp. 1090-1091).  It may be
noted that considering the issue being raised regarding the applicability date of the
Announcement, the Institute has decided that this Announcement is applicable in
respect of accounting period(s) commencing on or after April 1, 2006 (see Announce-
ment XXXII issued in this regard).
Subsequent to the above, certain representations were received and views were
expressed on certain forums regarding the applicability of the Announcement.
Considering these representations and views, the Institute had decided to defer
the applicability of the Announcement by one year.  The Announcement was
made applicable in respect of accounting period(s) commencing on or after April
1, 2007 (see Announcement XXXIII issued in this regard).
Applicability of the Announcement was further deferred for one year (See
Announcement XXXVI). Pursuant to issuance of AS 30 the Council decided to
withdraw the Announcement issued in January 2006 and subsequent
Announcements deferring its applicability (See Announcement XL).
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1. The Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI) issued an
Announcement on ‘Applicability of Accounting Standard (AS) 11 (revised
2003), The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, in respect of
exchange differences arising on a forward exchange contract entered into
to hedge the foreign currency risk of a firm commitment101  or a highly
probable forecast transaction102 (see ‘The Chartered Accountant’, July
2004 (pp. 110)).  As per the Announcement, AS 11 (revised 2003) is not
applicable to the exchange differences arising on forward exchange
contracts entered into to hedge the foreign currency risks of a firm
commitment or a highly probable forecast transaction.  It is stated in the
Announcement that the hedge accounting, in its entirety, including hedge
of a firm commitment or a highly probable forecast transaction, is proposed
to be dealt with in the Accounting Standard on ‘Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement’, which is under formulation.

2. It may be noted that as per the above Announcement, AS 11 (revised
2003) is not applicable to the exchange differences arising on the forward
exchange contracts entered into to hedge the foreign currency risks of a
firm commitment or a highly probable forecast transaction.  Accordingly,
the premium or discount in respect of such contracts continues to be
governed by AS 11 (revised 2003), The Effects of Changes in Foreign
Exchange Rates.

3. It has been noted that in the absence of any authoritative
pronouncement of the Institute on the subject, different enterprises are
accounting for exchange differences arising on such contracts in different
ways which is affecting the comparability of financial statements.  Keeping
this in view, the matter has been reconsidered and the Institute is of the
view that pending the issuance of the proposed Accounting Standard on
‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’, which is under
formulation, exchange differences arising on the forward exchange
contracts entered into to hedge the foreign currency risks of a firm
commitment or a highly probable forecast transaction should be recognised
in the statement of profit and loss in the reporting period in which the
exchange rate changes. Any profit or loss arising on renewal or
cancellation of such contracts should be recognised as income or expense
for the period.

101 A firm commitment is a binding agreement for the exchange of a specified
quantity of resources at a specified price on a specified future date or dates.
102 A forecast transaction is an uncommitted but anticipated future transaction.



Announcements of the Council A-75

XXXII. Applicability Date of Announcement on ‘Accounting for
exchange differences arising on a forward exchange contract
entered into to hedge the foreign currency risk of a firm
commitment or a highly probable forecast transaction’103

1. The Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI), in January
2006, issued an Announcement on ‘Accounting for exchange
differences arising on a forward exchange contract entered into to
hedge the foreign currency risk of a firm commitment or a highly
probable forecast transaction’.  Pending the issuance of the proposed
Accounting Standard on ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement’, which is under formulation, the said Announcement
prescribes the accounting treatment which should be followed in respect
of the exchange differences arising on the forward exchange contracts
entered into to hedge the foreign currency risks of a firm commitment or
a highly probable forecast transaction.

2. An issue has been raised regarding the applicability date of the
Announcement.  The ICAI has considered the issue and it has been
decided that this Announcement is applicable in respect of accounting
period(s) commencing on or after April 1, 2006.  Earlier application of the
Announcement is however encouraged.104

XXXIII. Deferment of Applicability of Announcement on
‘Accounting for exchange differences arising on a forward
exchange contract entered into to hedge the foreign currency
risk of a firm commitment or a highly probable forecast
transaction’105

1. The Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI), in January
2006, issued an Announcement on ‘Accounting for exchange differences

103 Published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, February 2006 (pp. 1243).
104 It may be noted that subsequent to the issuance of this Announcement,
certain representations were received and views were expressed on certain forums
regarding the applicability of the Announcement issued in January 2006.
Considering these representations and views, the Institute had decided to defer
the applicability of the said Announcement by one year.  The said Announcement
was made applicable in respect of accounting period(s) commencing on or after
April 1, 2007 (see Announcement XXXIII issued in this regard). Applicaibility of
the Announcement was further deferred for one year (See Announcement XXXVI).
Pursuant to issuance of AS 30, the Council decided to withdraw the Announcement
issued in January 2006 and subsequent Announcements defering its applicability
(See Announcement XL).
105 Published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, June 2006 (pp. 1774).
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106 It may be noted that applicability of the Announcement issued in January 2006
was further defered for one year (See Announcement XXXVI). Prusuant to issuance
of AS30, the Council decided to withdraw the Announcement issued in January 2006
and subsquent Announcements deferring its applicability (See Announcement XL).
107 Published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, March 2001 (pp. 1480).

arising on a forward exchange contract entered into to hedge the foreign
currency risk of a firm commitment or a highly probable forecast
transaction’.  Pending the issuance of the proposed Accounting Standard
on ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’, which is under
formulation, the said Announcement prescribes the accounting treatment
which should be followed in respect of the exchange differences arising
on the forward exchange contracts entered into to hedge the foreign
currency risks of a firm commitment or a highly probable forecast
transaction.

2. Considering the issues being raised regarding the applicability date of
the Announcement, the ICAI subsequently decided that this Announcement
was applicable in respect of accounting period(s) commencing on or after
April 1, 2006.

3. Certain representations have been received and views have been
expressed on certain forums regarding the applicability of this
Announcement. Considering these representations and views, the Council
of the ICAI has decided to defer the applicability of this Announcement
by one year.  This Announcement would now be applicable in respect of
accounting period(s) commencing on or after April 1, 2007.106

XXXIV Deferment of Applicability of  Accounting Standard (AS)
15, Employee Benefits (revised 2005)107

The Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI), at
its 265th meeting held on February 3-4, 2007, decided to defer the date of
applicability of Accounting Standard (AS) 15, Employee Benefits (revised
2005), issued by the ICAI, keeping in view the practical difficulties and
general hardship being faced by industry. As per the decision, AS 15
comes into effect in respect of accounting periods commencing on or after
December 7, 2006 (instead of April 1, 2006, as stated in the said Standard)
and is mandatory in nature from that date. Earlier application of the
Standard is encouraged.
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XXXV Withdrawal of the Announcement issued by the Council
on ‘Treatment of exchange differences under Accounting
Standard (AS) 11 (revised 2003), The Effects of Changes in
Foreign Exchange Rates vis-à-vis Schedule VI to the Companies
Act, 1956’108

1. The Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India had
issued an Announcement on ‘Treatment of exchange differences under
Accounting Standard (AS) 11 (revised 2003), The Effects of Changes in
Foreign Exchange Rates vis-à-vis Schedule VI to the Companies Act,
1956’, which was published in the November 2003 issue of ‘The Chartered
Accountant’ (pp. 497)109

2. Subsequent to the issuance of the above Announcement, the Ministry
of Company Affairs (now known as the Ministry of Corporate Affairs)
issued the Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules, 2006, by way of
Notification in the Official Gazette dated 7th December, 2006.  As per
Rule 3(2) of the said Rules, the Accounting Standards shall come into
effect in respect of accounting periods commencing on or after the
publication of these accounting standards under the said Notification.

3. AS 11, as published in the above Government Notification, carries a
footnote that “it may be noted that the accounting treatment of exchange
differences contained in this Standard is required to be followed
irrespective of the relevant provisions of Schedule VI to the Companies
Act, 1956”.

4. In view of the above footnote to AS 11, the Council of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants of India has decided at its 269th meeting held
on July 18, 2007, to withdraw the Announcement on ‘Treatment of
exchange differences under Accounting Standard (AS) 11 (revised 2003),
The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates vis-à-vis Schedule VI
to the Companies Act, 1956’, published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’ of
November 2003.  Accordingly, the accounting treatment of exchange
differences contained in AS 11 notified as above is applicable and not the
requirements of Schedule VI to the Act, in respect of accounting periods
commencing on or after 7th December, 2006.

108 Published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, August 2007 (pp. 320).
109 Also published elsewhere in this Compendium (see Announcement XVIII).
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XXXVI Deferment of Applicability of Announcement on
‘Accounting for exchange differences arising on a forward
exchange contract entered into to hedge the foreign currency
risk of a firm commitment or a highly probable forecast
transaction’110

1. The Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI), in January
2006, issued an Announcement on ‘Accounting for exchange differences
arising on a forward exchange contract entered into to hedge the foreign
currency risk of a firm commitment or a highly probable forecast
transaction’.  Pending the issuance of the proposed Accounting Standard
on ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’, which is under
formulation, the said Announcement prescribes the accounting treatment
which should be followed in respect of the exchange differences arising
on the forward exchange contracts entered into to hedge the foreign
currency risks of a firm commitment or a highly probable forecast
transaction.

2. Subsequently, an Announcement was issued in June 2006, deferring
the applicability of the Announcement issued in January 2006, to the
accounting period(s) commencing on or after April 1, 2007.

3. As the proposed Accounting Standard on ‘Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement’, is still to be issued by the Council, the
matter was reconsidered at the 269th meeting of the Council held on July
18, 2007, whereat it has been decided to further defer the applicability of
the Announcement issued in January 2006, to accounting period(s)
commencing on or after April 1, 2008.111

XXXVII Option to an entity to adopt alternative treatment allowed
by way of amendment to the Transitional Provisions of
Accounting Standard (AS) 15, Employee Benefits (revised
2005)112

An amendment by way of limited revision to Accounting Standard (AS)
15, Employee Benefits (revised 2005), has been made with a view to

110 Published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, August 2007 (pp. 320).
111 It may be noted that pursuant to issuance of AS 30, the Council decided to
withdraw the Announcement issued in January 2006 and subsequent
Announcements  deferring its applicability (See Announcement XL).
112 Published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, December 2007 (pp. 992).
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provide, inter alia, an option to an entity to charge additional liability arising
upon the first application of the Standard as an expense over a period upto
five years with a disclosure of un-recognised amount.

The Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India has decided
to give a one time option to the entities which have followed the treatment
prescribed under the Transitional Provisions prior to the above-stated
amendment to adopt the alternative treatment, allowed by way of the said
amendment, from the date the Transitional Provision was so applied.  An
entity is, however, allowed to exercise this option only during the first
accounting year commencing on or after 7th December, 2006.  In case an
entity chooses to adopt the option, the earlier accounting treatment
followed in this respect should be reversed.

XXXVIII Harmonisation of various differences between the
Accounting Standards issued by the ICAI and the Accounting
Standards notified by the Central Government113

The Council has considered the differences between the Accounting
Standards issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India and
the Accounting Standards notified on 7th December, 2006 by the Central
Government under the Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules, 2006.
The Council decided the following scheme for harmonisation of
differences:

1. Harmonisation of Differences between the Accounting
Standards issued by the ICAI and those notified by the
Government on account of language, presentation, etc.

The Council noted that following differences between the Accounting
Standards issued by the ICAI and those notified by the Government are
on account of language, presentation, etc.

(a) The Accounting Standards notified by the Government use the term
‘accounting standard’ or ‘standard’ instead of the word ‘Statement’
used in the Accounting Standards issued by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India

(b) The Accounting Standards notified by the Government use the
heading ‘Main Principles’ instead of ‘Accounting Standard’ appearing
above the bold-italic paragraphs in respect of the old accounting

113 Published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, February 2008 (pp. 1340).
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standards issued by the ICAI. For example, the heading ‘Main
Principles’ appears above paragraphs 24 to 27 of AS 1 notified by
the Government (The other accounting standards notified by the
Government in which this heading is used are AS 4, AS 6, AS 9, AS
10, AS 12, AS 13 and AS 14).

(c) Paragraph numbers of certain Accounting Standards, notified by the
Government have been changed as compared to paragraph numbers
of Accounting Standards issued by the ICAI. For instance, in AS 10,
issued by the ICAI, numbers of paragraphs 9.2, 16.3 to 16.7, 37 and
38 appear even though there is no matter in these paragraphs as the
same have been withdrawn due to subsequent issuance of
Accounting Standards such as AS 16 and AS 26.  In other words,
the above paragraph numbers remain.  However, in the Accounting
Standard notified by the Government, the paragraph numbers have
been changed by omitting the aforesaid paragraphs.

Also, numbering of certain sub-paragraphs, e.g., (a), (b), (c),…. etc.,
have been done in the Accounting Standards notified by the
Government, whereas these were indicated as ‘bullets’ in Accounting
Standards issued by the ICAI.  For example, paragraph 20 of AS 14
and paragraph 24 of AS 18.

(d) The word ‘Illustration’ has been used in the Accounting Standards
notified by the Government instead of ‘Examples’ as used in various
Standards issued by the ICAI.  Similarly, the word ‘Appendix’ used
in the Accounting Standards issued by the ICAI, containing various
examples at the end of an Accounting Standard, has been replaced
by the word ‘Illustrations’ in the notified Accounting Standards.

(e) Accounting Standards issued by the ICAI, at certain places make
reference to the Preface to the Statements of Accounting Standards.
Since the Government has not notified the Preface, some of the
requirements of the Preface, such as the consideration of materiality,
have been included in the ‘General Instructions’ in the Rules.
Accordingly, the Accounting Standards notified by the Government
make reference to the General Instructions.

Since points 1(a) to 1(d), as mentioned above do not create any
substantive difference between Accounting Standards issued by the
ICAI and those notified by the Government, the Council decided to
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change the Standards issued by the ICAI in order to harmonise the
two sets of Accounting Standards. Accordingly, changes are being
made in the Accounting Standards and the amended Accounting
Standards will be published in the Compendium of Accounting
Standards 2008.

With regard to 1(e) above, the Council decided that no amendment
was required in the Accounting Standards issued by the ICAI on
account of the reference to ‘General Instructions’ in the Rules
notified by the Government as compared to the ‘Preface’ in the
Accounting Standards issued by the ICAI.

2. Harmonisation of differences caused by inclusion of the
consensus portion of the Accounting Standards Interpretations
(ASIs) issued by the ICAI in the Accounting Standards notified by
the Government with certain exceptions.

The Council noted that consensus portion of certain ASIs have been
included in the notified Accounting Standards as ‘Explanation’ to the
relevant paragraphs as indicated below:

ASI Title of the ASI
No.
1 Substantial Period of Time (Re.

AS 16)
3 Accounting for Taxes on

Income in the situations of Tax
Holiday under Sections 80-IA
and 80-IB of the Income-tax
Act, 1961 (Re. AS 22)

4 Losses under the head Capital
Gains (Re. AS 22)

5 Accounting for Taxes on
Income in the situations of Tax
Holiday under Sections 10A
and 10B of the Income-tax Act,
1961 (Re. AS 22)

6 Accounting for Taxes on
Income in the context of
Section 115JB of the Income-
tax Act, 1961 (Re. AS 22)

Relevant Paragraph(s) of the
Accounting Standards

Paragraph 3.2 of Accounting Standard
(AS) 16, ‘Borrowing Costs’
Paragraph 13 of Accounting Standard
(AS) 22, ‘Accounting for Taxes on
Income’

Explanation 2 to paragraph 17 of
Accounting Standard (AS) 22,
‘Accounting for Taxes on Income’
Paragraph 13 of Accounting Standard
(AS) 22, ‘Accounting for Taxes on
Income’

Paragraph 21 of Accounting Standard
(AS) 22, ‘Accounting for Taxes on
Income’
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Paragraph 30 of Accounting Standard
(AS) 22, ‘Accounting for Taxes on
Income’

Explanation (b) to paragraph 11 of
Accounting Standard (AS) 21,
‘Consolidated Financial
Statements’Paragraph 7 of Accounting
Standard (AS) 23, ‘Accounting for
Investments in Associates in
Consolidated Financial
Statements’Paragraph 28 of
Accounting Standard (AS) 27,
‘Financial Reporting of Interests in
Joint Ventures’
Explanation 1 to paragraph 17 of
Accounting Standard (AS) 22,
‘Accounting for Taxes on Income’
Paragraph 4(e) of Accounting Standard
(AS) 16, ‘Borrowing Costs’
Paragraphs 26 and 27 of Accounting
Standard (AS) 18, ‘Related Party
Disclosures’
Paragraph 10 of Accounting Standard
(AS) 9, ‘Revenue Recognition’
Paragraph 6 of Accounting Standard
(AS) 21, ‘Consolidated Financial
Statements’
Explanation (b) to paragraph 6 of
Accounting Standard (AS) 23,
‘Accounting for Investments in
Associates in Consolidated Financial
Statements’
Explanation (a) to Paragraph 6 of
Accounting Standard (AS) 23,
‘Accounting for Investments in
Associates in Consolidated Financial
Statements’

Paragraph 4 of Accounting Standard
(AS) 23, ‘Accounting for Investments

7 Disclosure of deferred tax
assets and deferred tax
liabilities in the balance sheet
of a company (Re. AS 22)

8 Interpretation of the term ‘Near
Future’ (Re. AS 21, AS 23 and
AS 27)

9 Virtual certainty supported by
convincing evidence (Re. AS
22)

10 Interpretation of paragraph
4(e) of AS 16 (Re. AS 16)

13 Interpretation of paragraphs 26
and 27 of AS 18 (Re. AS 18)

14 Disclosure of Revenue from
Sales Transactions (Re. AS 9)

15 Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements (Re. AS
21)

16 Treatment of Proposed
Dividend under AS 23 (Re. AS
23)

17 Adjustments to the Carrying
Amount of Investment arising
from Changes in Equity not
Included in the Statement of
Profit and Loss of the
Associate (Re. AS 23)

18 Consideration of Potential
Equity Shares for Determining
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The Council decided to make the consensus portion of the above ASIs a
part of the Accounting Standards issued by the Institute. Accordingly, the
Accounting Standards are being amended to incorporate the consensus
portion of the above mentioned ASIs as ‘Explanation’ to the relevant
paragraphs.

whether an Investee is an
Associate under AS 23 (Re. AS
23)

19 Interpretation of the term
‘intermediaries’ (Re. AS 18)

20 Disclosure of Segment
Information (Re. AS 17)

21 Non-Executive Directors on
the Board-whether related
parties (Re. AS 18)

22 Treatment of Interest for
determining Segment Expense
(Re. AS 17)

24 Definition of ‘Control’ (Re. AS
21)

25 Exclusion of a subsidiary from
consolidation (Re. AS 21)

26 Accounting for taxes on
income in the consolidated
financial statements (Re. AS
21)

28 Disclosure of parent’s/
venturer ’s shares in post-
acquisition reserves of a
subsidiary/jointly controlled
entity (Re. AS 21 and AS 27)

30 Applicability of AS 29 to
Onerous Contracts (Re. AS 29)

in Associates in Consolidated
Financial Statements’

Paragraph 13 of Accounting Standard
(AS) 18, ‘Related Party Disclosures’
Paragraph 38 of Accounting Standard
(AS) 17, ‘Segment Reporting’
Paragraph 14 of Accounting Standard
(AS) 18, ‘Related Party Disclosures’

Point (b) of the definition of ‘Segment
Expense’ under paragraph 5.6 of
Accounting Standard (AS) 17,
‘Segment Reporting’
Paragraph 10 of Accounting Standard
(AS) 21, ‘Consolidated Financial
Statements’
Explanation (a) to paragraph 11 of
Accounting Standard (AS) 21,
‘Consolidated Financial Statements’
Explanation (a) to paragraph 13 of
Accounting Standard (AS) 21,
‘Consolidated Financial Statements’
Explanation (b) to paragraph 13 of
Accounting Standard (AS) 21,
‘Consolidated Financial
Statements’Paragraph 32 of
Accounting Standard (AS) 27,
‘Financial Reporting of Interests in
Joint Ventures’
Paragraph 1(b) of Accounting Standard
(AS) 29, ‘Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets’
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Following ASIs have not been included in the notified Accounting
Standards:

(i) ASI 2 Accounting for Machinery Spares (Re. AS 2 and AS 10)

(ii) ASI 11 Accounting for Taxes on Income in case of an
Amalgamation (Re. AS 22)

(iii) ASI 12 Applicability of AS 20 (Re. AS 20)

(iv) ASI 23 Remuneration paid to key management personnel –
whether a related party transaction (Re. AS 18)

(v) ASI 27 Applicability of AS 25 to Interim Financial Results (Re.
AS 25)

(vi) ASI 29 Turnover in case of Contractors (Re. AS 7 (revised
2002))

The Council decided to withdraw the above ASIs and issue the same as
Guidance Notes except ASI 2 and ASI 11. Guidance Notes are being
separately issued.

3. Harmonisation of differences with regard to applicability of
Accounting Standards to various Levels of entities.

The Council noted that as per its Announcement, ‘Applicability of
Accounting Standards’, issued by the ICAI (published in ‘The Chartered
Accountant’, November 2003), there are three levels of entities. Level II
entities and Level III entities as per the said Announcement are considered
to be the Small and Medium Entities (SMEs). On the other hand, as per
the Accounting Standards notified by the Government, there are two levels,
namely, Small and Medium-sized Companies (SMCs) as defined in the
Rules and companies other than SMCs. Non-SMCs are required to comply
with all the Accounting Standards in their entirety, while certain
exemptions/ relaxations have been given to SMCs. Certain differences in
the criteria for classification of the levels were also noted.

In this regard, the Council decided that the ICAI should continue to have
three levels as at present instead of two as per the Government
notification, as below:

(a) Level I should be as per the existing Level I, modified keeping in
view the definition of SMC under the Government Notification except
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co-operative banks should be included along with the banks and
reference to industrial, commercial and business reporting entities
should be retained as part of the criteria in (vi) and (vii) of the
existing ICAI criteria for Level I.

(b) Level II should include companies other than those covered under
Level I and the non-corporate entities having the same criteria as at
present for ICAI Level II.  The exemptions or relaxations available
to this Level should be the same as available to SMCs under the
Government Notification.

(c) Level III should cover only non-corporates not covered in Levels I
and II.  Exemptions or relaxations available at Level III as at present
should continue to be available at this Level.

(d) Exemptions or relaxations available to enterprises employing less
than 50 employees during the year in respect of AS 15, Employee
Benefits (revised 2005), should continue to be available to non-
corporate entities under Levels II and III.

As a consequence to the above decision of the Council to harmonise with
the notification:

(i) the harmonised criteria for classification of entities and other
instructions regarding SMEs are given in Annexure I;

(ii) applicability of Accounting Standards to companies as per the
Government Notification is given in Annexure II; and

(iii) applicability of Accounting Standards to non-corporate entities is
given in Annexure III.

The Council decided that the above requirements with regard
to SMEs should be applicable to non-corporates for accounting
periods commencing on or after 1-4-2008.

Annexure I

Harmonised Criteria for Classification of Entities

(1) Criteria for classification of non-corporate entities as decided by the
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India
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Level I Entities

Non-corporate entities which fall in any one or more of the following
categories, at the end of the relevant accounting period, are classified as
Level I entities:

(i) Entities whose equity or debt securities are listed or are in the
process of listing on any stock exchange, whether in India or outside
India.

(ii) Banks (including co-operative banks), financial institutions or entities
carrying on insurance business.

(iii) All commercial, industrial and business reporting entities, whose
turnover (excluding other income) exceeds rupees fifty crore in the
immediately preceding accounting year.

(iv) All commercial, industrial and business reporting entities having
borrowings (including public deposits) in excess of rupees ten crore
at any time during the immediately preceding accounting year.

(v) Holding and subsidiary entities of any one of the above.

Level II Entities (SMEs)

Non-corporate entities which are not Level I entities but fall in any one
or more of the following categories are classified as Level II entities:

(i) All commercial, industrial and business reporting entities, whose
turnover (excluding other income) exceeds rupees forty lakh but
does not exceed rupees fifty crore in the immediately preceding
accounting year.

(ii) All commercial, industrial and business reporting entities having
borrowings (including public deposits) in excess of rupees one crore
but not in excess of rupees ten crore at any time during the
immediately preceding accounting year.

(iii) Holding and subsidiary entities of any one of the above.

Level III Entities (SMEs)

Non-corporate entities which are not covered under Level I and Level II
are considered as Level III entities.
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Additional requirements

(1) An SME which does not disclose certain information pursuant to the
exemptions or relaxations given to it should disclose (by way of a note to
its financial statements) the fact that it is an SME and has complied with
the Accounting Standards insofar as they are applicable to entities falling
in Level II or Level III, as the case may be.

(2) Where an entity, being covered in Level II or Level III, had qualified
for any exemption or relaxation previously but no longer qualifies for the
relevant exemption or relaxation in the current accounting period, the
relevant standards or requirements become applicable from the current
period and the figures for the corresponding period of the previous
accounting period need not be revised merely by reason of its having
ceased to be covered in Level II or Level III, as the case may be.  The
fact that the entity was covered in Level II or Level III, as the case may
be, in the previous period and it had availed of the exemptions or
relaxations available to that Level of entities should be disclosed in the
notes to the financial statements.

(3) Where an entity has been covered in Level I and subsequently,
ceases to be so covered, the entity will not qualify for exemption/relaxation
available to Level II entities, until the entity ceases to be covered in Level
I for two consecutive years.  Similar is the case in respect of an entity,
which has been covered in Level I or Level II and subsequently, gets
covered under Level III.

(4) If an entity covered in Level II or Level III opts not to avail of the
exemptions or relaxations available to that Level of entities in respect of
any but not all of the Accounting Standards, it should disclose the
Standard(s) in respect of which it has availed the exemption or relaxation.

(5) If an entity covered in Level II or Level III desires to disclose the
information not required to be disclosed pursuant to the exemptions or
relaxations available to that Level of entities, it should disclose that
information in compliance with the relevant Accounting Standard.

(6) An entity covered in Level II or Level III may opt for availing
certain exemptions or relaxations from compliance with the requirements
prescribed in an Accounting Standard:

Provided that such a partial exemption or relaxation and disclosure should
not be permitted to mislead any person or public.
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(7) In respect of Accounting Standard (AS) 15, Employee Benefits,
exemptions/ relaxations are available to Level II and Level III entities,
under two sub-classifications, viz., (i) entities whose average number of
persons employed during the year is 50 or more, and (ii) entities whose
average number of persons employed during the year is less than 50.  The
requirements stated in paragraphs (1) to (6) above, mutatis mutandis, apply
to these sub-classifications.

(2) Criteria for classification of companies under the
Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules, 2006

Small and Medium-Sized Company (SMC) as defined in Clause 2(f)
of the Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules, 2006:

(f) “Small and Medium Sized Company” (SMC) means, a company-

(i) whose equity or debt securities are not listed or are not in the
process of listing on any stock exchange, whether in India or
outside India;

(ii) which is not a bank, financial institution or an insurance
company;

(iii) whose turnover (excluding other income) does not exceed
rupees fifty crore in the immediately preceding accounting year;

(iv) which does not have borrowings (including public deposits) in
excess of rupees ten crore at any time during the immediately
preceding accounting year; and

(v) which is not a holding or subsidiary company of a company
which is not a small and medium-sized company.

Explanation: For the purposes of clause (f), a company shall qualify
as a Small and Medium Sized Company, if the conditions mentioned
therein are satisfied as at the end of the relevant accounting period.

Non-SMCs

Companies not falling within the definition of SMC are considered as Non-
SMCs.
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Instructions

A. General Instructions

1. SMCs shall follow the following instructions while complying with
Accounting Standards under these Rules:-

1.1 the SMC which does not disclose certain information pursuant to the
exemptions or relaxations given to it shall disclose (by way of a note
to its financial statements) the fact that it is an SMC and has
complied with the Accounting Standards insofar as they are applicable
to an SMC on the following lines:

“The Company is a Small and Medium Sized Company (SMC) as
defined in the General Instructions in respect of Accounting
Standards notified under the Companies Act, 1956. Accordingly, the
Company has complied with the Accounting Standards as applicable
to a Small and Medium Sized Company.”

1.2 Where a company, being an SMC, has qualified for any exemption
or relaxation previously but no longer qualifies for the relevant
exemption or relaxation in the current accounting period, the relevant
standards or requirements become applicable from the current period
and the figures for the corresponding period of the previous
accounting period need not be revised merely by reason of its having
ceased to be an SMC. The fact that the company was an SMC in
the previous period and it had availed of the exemptions or relaxations
available to SMCs shall be disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

1.3 If an SMC opts not to avail of the exemptions or relaxations available
to an SMC in respect of any but not all of the Accounting Standards,
it shall disclose the standard(s) in respect of which it has availed the
exemption or relaxation.

1.4 If an SMC desires to disclose the information not required to be
disclosed pursuant to the exemptions or relaxations available to the
SMCs, it shall disclose that information in compliance with the
relevant accounting standard.

1.5 The SMC may opt for availing certain exemptions or relaxations
from compliance with the requirements prescribed in an Accounting
Standard:
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Provided that such a partial exemption or relaxation and disclosure shall
not be permitted to mislead any person or public.

B. Other Instructions

Rule 5 of the Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules, 2006, provides as
below:

“5. An existing company, which was previously not a Small and
Medium Sized Company (SMC) and subsequently becomes an SMC,
shall not be qualified for exemption or relaxation in respect of
Accounting Standards available to an SMC until the company
remains an SMC for two consecutive accounting periods.”

Annexure II

Applicability of Accounting Standards to Companies

(I) Accounting Standards applicable to all companies in their
entirety for accounting periods commencing on or after 7th

December, 2006

AS 1 Disclosures of Accounting Policies

AS 2 Valuation of Inventories

AS 4 Contingencies and Events Occurring After the Balance Sheet Date

AS 5 Net Profit or Loss for the Period, Prior Period Items and Changes
in Accounting Policies

AS 6 Depreciation Accounting

AS 7 Construction Contracts (revised 2002)

AS 9 Revenue Recognition

AS 10 Accounting for Fixed Assets

AS 11 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates (revised 2003)

AS 12 Accounting for Government Grants

AS 13 Accounting for Investments

AS 14 Accounting for Amalgamations
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AS 16 Borrowing Costs

AS 18 Related Party Disclosures

AS 22 Accounting for Taxes on Income

AS 24 Discontinuing Operations

AS 26 Intangible Assets

(II) Exemptions or Relaxations for SMCs as defined in the
Notification

(A) Accounting Standards not applicable to SMCs in their entirety:

AS 3 Cash Flow Statements.

AS 17 Segment Reporting

(B) Accounting Standards not applicable to SMCs since the relevant
Regulations require compliance with them only by certain Non-
SMCs114:

(i) AS 21, Consolidated Financial Statements

(ii) AS 23, Accounting for Investments in Associates in Consolidated
Financial Statements

(iii) AS 27, Financial Reporting of Interests in Joint Ventures (to the
extent of requirements relating to Consolidated Financial
Statements)

(C) Accounting Standards in respect of which relaxations from
certain requirements have been given to SMCs:

(i) Accounting Standard (AS) 15, Employee Benefits (revised 2005)

(a) paragraphs 11 to 16 of the standard to the extent they deal with
recognition and measurement of short-term accumulating
compensated absences which are non-vesting (i.e., short-term

114 AS 21, AS 23 and AS 27 (relating to consolidated financial statements) are
required to be complied with by a company if the company, pursuant to the
requirements of a statute/regulator or voluntarily, prepares and presents
consolidated financial statements.
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accumulating compensated absences in respect of which employees
are not entitled to cash payment for unused entitlement on leaving);

(b) paragraphs 46 and 139 of the Standard which deal with
discounting of amounts that fall due more than 12 months after the
balance sheet date;

(c) recognition and measurement principles laid down in paragraphs
50 to 116 and presentation and disclosure requirements laid down
in paragraphs 117 to 123 of the Standard in respect of accounting
for defined benefit plans. However, such companies should
actuarially determine and provide for the accrued liability in respect
of defined benefit plans by using the Projected Unit Credit Method
and the discount rate used should be determined by reference to
market yields at the balance sheet date on government bonds as per
paragraph 78 of the Standard. Such companies should disclose
actuarial assumptions as per paragraph 120(l) of the Standard; and

(d) recognition and measurement principles laid down in paragraphs
129 to 131 of the Standard in respect of accounting for other long-
term employee benefits. However, such companies should
actuarially determine and provide for the accrued liability in respect
of other long-term employee benefits by using the Projected Unit
Credit Method and the discount rate used should be determined by
reference to market yields at the balance sheet date on government
bonds as per paragraph 78 of the Standard.

(ii) AS 19, Leases

Paragraphs 22 (c),(e) and (f); 25 (a), (b) and (e); 37 (a) and (f);
and 46 (b) and (d) relating to disclosures are not applicable to
SMCs.

(iii) AS 20, Earnings Per Share

Disclosure of diluted earnings per share (both including and
excluding extraordinary items) is exempted for SMCs.

(iv) AS 28, Impairment of Assets

SMCs are allowed to measure the ‘value in use’ on the basis of
reasonable estimate thereof instead of computing the value in use
by present value technique. Consequently, if an SMC chooses to
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measure the ‘value in use’ by not using the present value technique,
the relevant provisions of AS 28, such as discount rate etc., would
not be applicable to such an SMC. Further, such an SMC need not
disclose the information required by paragraph 121(g) of the
Standard.

(v) AS 29, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

Paragraphs 66 and 67 relating to disclosures are not applicable to
SMCs.

(D) AS 25, Interim Financial Reporting, does not require a company
to present interim financial report.  It is applicable only if a company
is required or elects to prepare and present an interim financial
report.  Only certain Non-SMCs are required by the concerned
regulators to present interim financial results, e.g, quarterly financial
results required by the SEBI. Therefore, the recognition and
measurement requirements contained in this Standard are applicable
to those Non-SMCs for preparation of interim financial results.

Annexure III

Applicability of Accounting Standards to Non-corporate Entities
(As on 1.4.2008)

(I) Accounting Standards applicable to all Non-corporate
Entities in their entirety (Level I, Level II and Level III)

AS 1 Disclosures of Accounting Policies

AS 2 Valuation of Inventories

AS 4 Contingencies and Events Occurring After the Balance Sheet Date

AS 5 Net Profit or Loss for the Period, Prior Period Items and Changes
in Accounting Policies

AS 6 Depreciation Accounting

AS 7 Construction Contracts (revised 2002)

AS 9 Revenue Recognition

AS 10 Accounting for Fixed Assets
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115 AS 21, AS 23 and AS 27 (to the extent these standards relate to preparation
of consolidated financial statements) are required to be complied with by a non-
corporate entity if the non-corporate entity, pursuant to the requirements of a
statute/regulator or  voluntarily, prepares and presents consolidated financial
statements.

AS 11 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates (revised 2003)

AS 12 Accounting for Government Grants

AS 13 Accounting for Investments

AS 14 Accounting for Amalgamations

AS 16 Borrowing Costs

AS 22 Accounting for Taxes on Income

AS 26 Intangible Assets

(II) Exemptions or Relaxations for Non-corporate Entities
falling in Level II and Level III (SMEs)

(A) Accounting Standards not applicable to Non-corporate Entities
falling in Level II  in their entirety:

AS 3 Cash Flow Statements

AS 17 Segment Reporting

(B) Accounting Standards not applicable to Non-corporate Entities
falling in Level III in their entirety:

AS 3 Cash Flow Statements

AS 17 Segment Reporting

AS 18 Related Party Disclosures

AS 24 Discontinuing Operations

(C) Accounting Standards not applicable to all Non-corporate
Entities since the relevant Regulators require compliance with them
only by certain Level I entities:115

(i) AS 21, Consolidated Financial Statements
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(ii) AS 23, Accounting for Investments in Associates in Consolidated
Financial Statements

(iii) AS 27, Financial Reporting of Interests in Joint Ventures (to the
extent of requirements relating to Consolidated Financial
Statements)

(D) Accounting Standards in respect of which relaxations from
certain requirements have been given to Non-corporate Entities
falling in Level II and Level III (SMEs):

(i) Accounting Standard (AS) 15, Employee Benefits (revised 2005)

(1) Level II and Level III Non-corporate entities whose average number
of persons employed during the year is 50 or more are exempted from the
applicability of the following paragraphs:

(a) paragraphs 11 to 16 of the standard to the extent they deal with
recognition and measurement of short-term accumulating
compensated absences which are non-vesting (i.e., short-term
accumulating compensated absences in respect of which employees
are not entitled to cash payment for unused entitlement on leaving);

(b) paragraphs 46 and 139 of the Standard which deal with discounting
of amounts that fall due more than 12 months after the balance
sheet date;

(c) recognition and measurement principles laid down in paragraphs 50
to 116 and presentation and disclosure requirements laid down in
paragraphs 117 to 123 of the Standard in respect of accounting for
defined benefit plans. However, such entities should actuarially
determine and provide for the accrued liability in respect of defined
benefit plans by using the Projected Unit Credit Method and the
discount rate used should be determined by reference to market
yields at the balance sheet date on government bonds as per
paragraph 78 of the Standard. Such entities should disclose actuarial
assumptions as per paragraph 120(l) of the Standard; and

(d) recognition and measurement principles laid down in paragraphs
129 to 131 of the Standard in respect of accounting for other long-
term employee benefits. However, such entities should actuarially
determine and provide for the accrued liability in respect of other
long-term employee benefits by using the Projected Unit Credit
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Method and the discount rate used should be determined by
reference to market yields at the balance sheet date on government
bonds as per paragraph 78 of the Standard.

(2) Level II and Level III Non-corporate entities whose average number
of persons employed during the year is less than 50 are exempted from
the applicability of the following paragraphs:

(a) paragraphs 11 to 16 of the standard to the extent they deal with
recognition and measurement of short-term accumulating
compensated absences which are non-vesting (i.e., short-term
accumulating compensated absences in respect of which employees
are not entitled to cash payment for unused entitlement on leaving);

(b) paragraphs 46 and 139 of the Standard which deal with discounting
of amounts that fall due more than 12 months after the balance
sheet date;

(c) recognition and measurement principles laid down in paragraphs 50
to 116 and presentation and disclosure requirements laid down in
paragraphs 117 to 123 of the Standard in respect of accounting for
defined benefit plans. However, such entities may calculate and
account for the accrued liability under the defined benefit plans by
reference to some other rational method, e.g., a method based on
the assumption that such benefits are payable to all employees at
the end of the accounting year; and

(d) recognition and measurement principles laid down in paragraphs
129 to 131 of the Standard in respect of accounting for other long-
term employee benefits. Such entities may calculate and account
for the accrued liability under the other long-term employee benefits
by reference to some other rational method, e.g., a method based
on the assumption that such benefits are payable to all employees
at the end of the accounting year.

(ii) AS 19, Leases

Paragraphs 22 (c),(e) and (f); 25 (a), (b) and (e); 37 (a) and  (f);
and 46 (b) and (d) relating to disclosures are not applicable to non-
corporate entities falling in Level II .

Paragraphs 22 (c),(e) and (f); 25 (a), (b) and (e); 37 (a), (f) and
(g); and 46 (b), (d) and (e) relating to disclosures are not applicable
to Level III entities.
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(iii) AS 20, Earnings Per Share

Diluted earnings per share (both including and excluding
extraordinary items) is not required to be disclosed by non-corporate
entities falling in Level II and Level III and information required by
paragraph 48(ii) of AS 20 is not required to be disclosed by Level
III entities if this standard is applicable to these entities.

(iv) AS 28, Impairment of Assets

Non-corporate entities falling in Level II and Level III are allowed
to measure the ‘value in use’ on the basis of reasonable estimate
thereof instead of computing the value in use by present value
technique. Consequently, if a non-corporate entity falling in Level II
or Level III chooses to measure the ‘value in use’ by not using the
present value technique, the relevant provisions of AS 28, such as
discount rate etc., would not be applicable to such an entity. Further,
such an entity need not disclose the information required by
paragraph 121(g) of the Standard.

(v) AS 29, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

Paragraphs 66 and 67 relating to disclosures are not applicable to
non-corporate entities falling in Level II and Level III.

(E) AS 25, Interim Financial Reporting, does not require a non-
corporate entity to present interim financial report.  It is applicable
only if a non-corporate entity is required or elects to prepare and
present an interim financial report.  Only certain Level I non-
corporate entities are required by the concerned regulators to present
interim financial results, e.g., quarterly financial results required by
the SEBI. Therefore, the recognition and measurement requirements
contained in this Standard are applicable to those Level I non-
corporate entities for preparation of interim financial results.

XXXIX ACCOUNTING FOR DERIVATIVES116

1. Certain issues have been raised with regard to the foreign currency
derivative exposures of various corporates that are not being fully
accounted for.  These exposures may translate into heavy losses due to

116 Published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, May 2008 (pp. 1945).
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fluctuations in the foreign exchange rates.  The matter was considered by
the Council of the ICAI at its meeting held on March 27-29, 2008.  The
Council decided to clarify the best practice treatment to be followed for
all derivatives, which is contained in the following paragraphs.

2. It may be noted that although the ICAI has issued AS 30, Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, which contains accounting
for derivatives, it becomes recommendatory from 1.04.2009 and
mandatory from 1.04.2011.117  In this scenario, the Council expressed the
view that since the aforesaid Standard contains appropriate accounting for
derivatives, the same can be followed by the entities, as the earlier
adoption of a standard is always encouraged.

3. In case an entity does not follow AS 30, keeping in view the principle
of prudence as enunciated in AS 1, ‘Disclosure of Accounting Policies’,
the entity is required to provide for losses in respect of all outstanding
derivative contracts at the balance sheet date by marking them to market.

4. The entity needs to disclose the policy followed with regard to
accounting for derivatives in its financial statements.

In case AS 30 is followed by the entity, a disclosure of the amounts
recognised in the financial statements should be made.

In case AS 30 is not followed, the losses provided for as suggested in
paragraph 3 above should be separately disclosed by the entity.

5. The auditors should consider making appropriate disclosures in their
reports if the aforesaid accounting treatment and disclosures are not made.

6. In case of forward contracts to which AS 11, ‘The Effects of
Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates’, applies, the entity needs to fully
comply with the requirements of AS 11. Accordingly, this Announcement
does not apply to such contracts.

7. This clarificatory Announcement applies to financial statements for
the period ending March 31, 2008, or thereafter.

117 For current status of applicability of AS 30, see Announcement XLI.
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XL Announcements on ‘Accounting for exchange differences
arising on a forward exchange contract entered into to hedge
the foreign currency risk of a firm commitment or a highly
probable forecast transaction’ withdrawn.118

1. The Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI), in January
2006, issued an Announcement on ‘Accounting for exchange differences
arising on a forward exchange contract entered into to hedge the foreign
currency risk of a firm commitment or a highly probable forecast
transaction’.  Pending the issuance of the proposed Accounting Standard
on ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’, which was
under formulation, the said Announcement prescribed the accounting
treatment which should be followed in respect of the exchange differences
arising on the forward exchange contracts entered into to hedge the foreign
currency risks of a firm commitment or a highly probable forecast
transaction. An Announcement prescribing the applicability date of this
Announcement was issued in February 2006.

2. Subsequently, an Announcement was issued in June 2006, deferring
the applicability of the Announcement issued in January 2006, to the
accounting period(s) commencing on or after April 1, 2007.  The Council,
at its 269th meeting, held on July 18, 2007, decided to further defer the
applicability of the Announcement issued in January 2006, to accounting
period(s) commencing on or after April 1, 2008.

3. The Council, at its 277th meeting, held on March 27 to 29, 2008,
noted that Accounting Standard (AS) 30, ‘Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement’, has already been issued.  Accordingly, it
has decided to withdraw all the Announcements mentioned in the above
paragraphs.

XLI  Application of AS 30, Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement.119

1 AS 30 was issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India
(ICAI) in 2007 but has not yet been notified by the Government under
Section 211(3C) of the Companies Act, 1956. As per this standard;

118 Published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, May 2008 (pp. 1944).
119 Published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, April 2011 (pp. 1575).
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“Accounting Standard (AS) 30, Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement, issued by the Council of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, comes int o effect in
respect of accounting periods commencing on or after 1 -4-2009
and will be recommendatory in nature for an initial period of
two years. This Accounting Standard will become mandatory in
respect of accounting periods commencing on or after 1-4-2011
for all commercial, industrial and business entities except to a
Small and Medium sized Entity….”

2 AS 30 further states;

From the date this Accounting Standard becomes
recommendatory in nature, the following Guidance Notes issued
by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, stand
withdrawn:

(i) Guidance Note on Guarantees & Counter Guarantees Given
by the Companies.

(ii) Guidance Note on Accounting for Investments in the
Financial Statements of Mutual Funds.

(iii) Guidance Note on Accounting for Securitisation.

(iv) Guidance Note on Accounting for Equity Index and Equity
Stock Futures and Options.”

3 Subsequent to the issuance of AS 30, the world witnessed financial
crisis which raised issues with regard to accounting treatment of financial
in struments. Accordingly, various accounting standards setting bodies
including the ICAI examined these aspects. Insofar as International
Accounting Standards Board is concerned certain modifications have been
made in the corresponding International Account ing Standard, viz., IAS
39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement . The
International Accounting Standards Board has also issued IFRS 9,
Financial Instruments, which replaces certain requirements contained in
IAS 39 and it is expected that ultimately the entire IAS 39 on which AS
30 is based is not expected to be replaced before June 30, 2011 as
presently committed by IASB. Accordingly, AS 30 is not expected to
continue in its present form including for those entities for which converged
Indi an Accounting Standards will come into force from 1st April, 2011. In
this changed scenario, the Council has reconsidered the matter regarding
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the status of the existing AS-30 and has decided to issue the following
clarification for the guidance of the Members and others concerned.

4 It is clarified that in respect of the financial statements or other
financial information for the accounting periods commencing on or after 1
st April 2009 and ending on or before 31 st March 2011, the status of AS
30 would be as below:

(i) To the extent of accounting treatments covered by any of the
existing notified accounting standards (for eg. AS 11, AS 13
etc,) the existing accounting standards would continue to prevail
over AS 30.

(ii) In cases where a relevant regulatory authority has prescribed
specific regulatory requirements (eg. Loan impairment,
investment classification or accounting for securitizations by the
RBI ,etc), the prescribed regulatory requirements would continue
to prevail over AS 30.

(iii) The preparers of the financial statements are encouraged to
follow the principles enunciated in the accounting treatments
contained in AS 30. The aforesaid is, however, subject to (i) and
(ii) above.

5. From 1st April 2011 onwards,

(i) the entities to which converged Indian accounting standards will
be applied as per the roadmap issued by MCA, the Indian
Accounting Standard (Ind AS) 39, Financial Instruments;
Recognition and Measurement , will apply.

(ii) for entities other than those covered under paragraph 5(i) above,
the status of AS 30 will continue as clarified in paragraph 4
above .

6. The abovementioned clarifications would also be relevant to the
existing AS 31, Financial Instruments: Presentation and AS 32,
Financial Instruments: Disclosures as well as for Ind AS 32, Financial
Instruments: Presentation and Ind AS 107, Financial Instruments:
Disclosures, after 1st April 2011 onwards.
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Preface to the Statements of
Accounting Standards
(revised 2004)

The following is the text of the Preface to the Statements of
Accounting Standards (revised 2004), issued by the Council of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

With the issuance of this revised Preface, the Preface to the
Statements of Accounting Standards, issued in January, 1979, stands
superseded.

1. Formation of the Accounting Standards Board
1.1 The Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI), recognising
the need to harmonise the diverse accounting policies and practices in use
in India, constituted the Accounting Standards Board (ASB) on 21st April,
1977.

1.2 The composition of the ASB is fairly broad-based and ensures
participation of all interest-groups in the standard-setting process. Apart
from the elected members of the Council of the ICAI nominated on the
ASB, the following are represented on the ASB:

(i) Nominee of the Central Government representing the
Department of Company Affairs on the Council of the ICAI

(ii) Nominee of the Central Government representing the Office of
the Comptroller and Auditor General of India on the Council
of the ICAI

(iii) Nominee of the Central Government representing the Central
Board of Direct Taxes on the Council of the ICAI

(iv) Representative of the Institute of Cost and Works Accountants
of India

(v) Representative of the Institute of Company Secretaries of India

(vi) Representatives of Industry Associations (1 from Associated
Chambers of Commerce and Industry (ASSOCHAM), 1 from



Confederation of Indian Industry (CII) and 1 from Federation
of Indian Chambers of Commerce and Industry (FICCI)

(vii) Representative of Reserve Bank of India

(viii) Representative of Securities and Exchange Board of India

(ix) Representative of Controller General of Accounts

(x) Representative of Central Board of Excise and Customs

(xi) Representatives of Academic Institutions (1 from Universities
and 1 from Indian Institutes of Management)

(xii) Representative of Financial Institutions

(xiii) Eminent professionals co-opted by the ICAI (they may be in
practice or in industry, government, education, etc.)

(xiv) Chairman of the Research Committee and the Chairman of the
Expert Advisory Committee of the ICAI, if they are not
otherwise members of the Accounting Standards Board

(xv) Representative(s) of any other body, as considered appropriate
by the ICAI

2. Objectives and Functions of the Accounting
Standards Board

2.1 The following are the objectives of the Accounting Standards Board:

(i) To conceive of and suggest areas in which Accounting
Standards need to be developed.

(ii) To formulate Accounting Standards with a view to assisting the
Council of the ICAI in evolving and establishing Accounting
Standards in India.

(iii) To examine how far the relevant International Accounting
Standard/International Financial Reporting Standard (see
paragraph 2.3 below) can be adapted while formulating the
Accounting Standard and to adapt the same.
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(iv) To review, at regular intervals, the Accounting Standards from
the point of view of acceptance or changed conditions, and, if
necessary, revise the same.

(v) To provide, from time to time, interpretations and guidance on
Accounting Standards.

(vi) To send comments on various consultative papers such as
Exposure Drafts, Discussion Papers etc., issued by International
Accounting Standards Board and various other International
bodies such as Asian-Oceanian Standard-Setters Group (AOSSG).

(vii) To carry out such other functions relating to Accounting
Standards.

2.2 The main function of the ASB is to formulate Accounting Standards
so that such standards may be established by the ICAI in India. While
formulating the Accounting Standards, the ASB will take into consideration
the applicable laws, customs, usages and business environment prevailing
in India.

2.3 The ICAI, being a full-fledged member of the International Federation
of Accountants (IFAC), is expected, inter alia, to actively promote the
International Accounting Standards Board’s (IASB) pronouncements in the
country with a view to facilitate global harmonisation of accounting
standards. Accordingly, while formulating the Accounting Standards, the
ASB will give due consideration to International Accounting Standards
(IASs) issued by the International Accounting Standards Committee
(predecessor body to IASB) or International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) issued by the IASB, as the case may be, and try to integrate them, to
the extent possible, in the light of the conditions and practices prevailing in
India.

2.4 The Accounting Standards are issued under the authority of the Council
of the ICAI. The ASB has also been entrusted with the responsibility of
propagating the Accounting Standards and of persuading the concerned
parties to adopt them in the preparation and presentation of financial
statements.  The ASB will provide interpretations and guidance on issues
arising from Accounting Standards. The ASB will also review the Accounting
Standards at periodical intervals and, if necessary, revise the same.
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3. General Purpose Financial Statements
3.1 For discharging its functions, the ASB will keep in view the purposes
and limitations of financial statements and the attest function of the auditors.
The ASB will enumerate and describe the basic concept to which accounting
principles should be oriented and state the accounting principles to which
the practices and procedures should conform.

3.2 The ASB will clarify the terms commonly used in financial statements
and suggest improvements in the terminology wherever necessary. The ASB
will examine the various current alternative practices in vogue and endeavour
to eliminate or reduce alternatives within the bounds of rationality.

3.3 Accounting Standards are designed to apply to the general purpose
financial statements and other financial reporting, which are subject to the
attest function of the members of the ICAI. Accounting Standards apply in
respect of any enterprise (whether organised in corporate, co-operative1  or
other forms) engaged in commercial, industrial or business activities,
irrespective of whether it is profit oriented or it is established for charitable
or religious purposes. Accounting Standards will not, however, apply to
enterprises only carrying on the activities which are not of commercial,
industrial or business nature, (e.g., an activity of collecting donations and
giving them to flood affected people). Exclusion of an enterprise from the
applicability of the Accounting Standards would be permissible only if no
part of the activity of such enterprise is commercial, industrial or business
in nature. Even if a very small proportion of the activities of an enterprise is
considered to be commercial, industrial or business in nature, the Accounting
Standards would apply to all its activities including those which are not
commercial, industrial or business in nature2 .

3.4 The term ‘General Purpose Financial Statements’ includes balance
sheet, statement of profit and loss, a cash flow statement (wherever
applicable) and statements and explanatory notes which form part thereof,
issued for the use of various stakeholders, Governments and their agencies
and the public. References to financial statements in this Preface and in the
1 With the issuance of this revised Preface, General Clarification (GC) - 12/2002,
Applicability of Accounting Standards to Co-operative Societies, issued by the
Accounting Standards Board in October 2002, stands superseded.
2 With the issuance of this revised Preface, Announcement on ‘Applicability of
Accounting Standards to Charitable and/or Religious Organisations’, approved by the
Council (published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, September 1995 (page 79)), stands
superseded.
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standards issued from time to time will be construed to refer to General
Purpose Financial Statements.

3.5 Responsibility for the preparation of financial statements and for
adequate disclosure is that of the management of the enterprise. The auditor’s
responsibility is to form his opinion and report on such financial statements.

4. Scope of Accounting Standards
4.1 Efforts will be made to issue Accounting Standards which are in
conformity with the provisions of the applicable laws, customs, usages and
business environment in India.  However, if a particular Accounting Standard
is found to be not in conformity with law, the provisions of the said law will
prevail and the financial statements should be prepared in conformity with
such law.

4.2 The Accounting Standards by their very nature cannot and do not
override the local regulations which govern the preparation and presentation
of financial statements in the country.  However, the ICAI will determine
the extent of disclosure to be made in financial statements and the auditor’s
report thereon.  Such disclosure may be by way of appropriate notes
explaining the treatment of particular items.  Such explanatory notes will be
only in the nature of clarification and therefore need not be treated as adverse
comments on the related financial statements.

4.3 The Accounting Standards are intended to apply only to items which
are material.  Any limitations with regard to the applicability of a specific
Accounting Standard will be made clear by the ICAI from time to time. The
date from which a particular Standard will come into effect, as well as the
class of enterprises to which it will apply, will also be specified by the ICAI.
However, no standard will have retroactive application, unless otherwise
stated.

4.4 The Institute will use its best endeavours to persuade the Government,
appropriate authorities, industrial and business community to adopt the
Accounting Standards in order to achieve uniformity in preparation and
presentation of financial statements.

4.5 In formulation of Accounting Standards, the emphasis would be on
laying down accounting principles and not detailed rules for application
and implementation thereof.
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4.6 The Standards formulated by the ASB include paragraphs in bold italic
type and plain type, which have equal authority. Paragraphs in bold italic
type indicate the main principles. An individual standard should be read in
the context of the objective stated in that standard and this Preface.

4.7 The ASB may consider any issue requiring interpretation on any
Accounting Standard. Interpretations will be issued under the authority of
the Council. The authority of Interpretation is the same as that of Accounting
Standard to which it relates.

5. Procedure for Issuing an Accounting Standard
Broadly, the following procedure is adopted for formulating Accounting
Standards:

5.1 The ASB determines the broad areas in which Accounting Standards
need to be formulated and the priority in regard to the selection thereof.

5.2 In the preparation of Accounting Standards, the ASB will be assisted
by Study Groups constituted to consider specific subjects. In the formation
of Study Groups, provision will be made for wide participation by the
members of the Institute and others.

5.3 The draft of the proposed standard will normally include the following:

(a) Objective of the Standard,

(b) Scope of the Standard,

(c) Definitions of the terms used in the Standard,

(d) Recognition and measurement principles, wherever applicable,

(e) Presentation and disclosure requirements.

5.4 The ASB will consider the preliminary draft prepared by the Study
Group and if any revision of the draft is required on the basis of deliberations,
the ASB will make the same or refer the same to the Study Group.

5.5 The ASB will circulate the draft of the Accounting Standard to the
Council members of the ICAI and the following specified bodies for their
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comments*:

(i) Department of Company Affairs (DCA)

(ii) Comptroller and Auditor General of India (C&AG)

(iii) Central Board of Direct Taxes (CBDT)

(iv) The Institute of Cost and Works Accountants of India (ICWAI)

(v) The Institute of Company Secretaries of India (ICSI)

(vi) Associated Chambers of Commerce and Industry (ASSOCHAM),
Confederation of Indian Industry (CII) and Federation of Indian
Chambers of Commerce and Industry (FICCI)

(vii) Reserve Bank of India (RBI)

(viii) Securities and Exchange Board of India (SEBI)

(ix) Standing Conference of Public Enterprises (SCOPE)

(x) Indian Banks’ Association (IBA)

(xi) Any other body considered relevant by the ASB keeping in view
the nature of the Accounting Standard

5.6 The ASB will hold a meeting with the representatives of specified
bodies to ascertain their views on the draft of the proposed Accounting
Standard.  On the basis of comments received and discussion with the
representatives of specified bodies, the ASB will finalise the Exposure Draft
of the proposed Accounting Standard*.

5.7 The Exposure Draft of the proposed Standard will be issued for
comments by the members of the Institute and the public.  The Exposure
Draft will specifically be sent to specified bodies (as listed above), stock
exchanges, and other interest groups, as appropriate.

5.8 After taking into consideration the comments received, the draft of the
proposed Standard will be finalised by the ASB and submitted to the Council
of the ICAI.

8 Preface to the Statements of Accounting Standards

* The Council of ICAI, at its 291st meeting held on December 16-17, 2009 decided that
procedures in paragraph 5.5 and 5.6 need not be followed in respect of Accounting
Standards issued hithertofore.



5.9 The Council of the ICAI will consider the final draft of the proposed
Standard, and if found necessary, modify the same in consultation with the
ASB.  The Accounting Standard on the relevant subject will then be issued
by the ICAI.

5.10 For a substantive revision of an Accounting Standard, the procedure
followed for formulation of a new Accounting Standard, as detailed above,
will be followed.

5.11 Subsequent to issuance of an Accounting Standard, some aspect(s)
may require revision which are not substantive in nature.  For this purpose,
the ICAI may make limited revision to an Accounting Standard.  The
procedure followed for the limited revision will substantially be the same
as that to be followed for formulation of an Accounting Standard, ensuring
that sufficient opportunity is given to various interest groups and general
public to react to the proposal for limited revision.

6. Compliance with the Accounting Standards
6.1 The Accounting Standards will be mandatory from the respective
date(s) mentioned in the Accounting Standard(s).  The mandatory status of
an Accounting Standard implies that while discharging their attest functions,
it will be the duty of the members of the Institute to examine whether the
Accounting Standard is complied with in the presentation of financial
statements covered by their audit.  In the event of any deviation from the
Accounting Standard, it will be their duty to make adequate disclosures in
their audit reports so that the users of financial statements may be aware of
such deviation.

6.2 Ensuring compliance with the Accounting Standards while preparing
the financial statements is the responsibility of the management of the
enterprise. Statutes governing certain enterprises require of the enterprises
that the financial statements should be prepared in compliance with the
Accounting Standards, e.g., the Companies Act, 1956 (section 211), and
the Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority (Preparation of
Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report of Insurance Companies)
Regulations, 2000.

6.3 Financial Statements cannot be described as complying with the
Accounting Standards unless they comply with all the requirements of
each applicable Standard.

Preface to the Statements of Accounting Standards   9



Contents
INTRODUCTION Paragraphs 1-11

Purpose and Status  1-4

Scope 5-8

Users and Their Information Needs 9-11

THE OBJECTIVE OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 12-21

Financial Position, Performance and Cash Flows 15-21

Notes and Supplementary Schedules 21

UNDERLYING ASSUMPTIONS 22-24

Accrual Basis 22

Going Concern 23

Consistency 24

QUALITATIVE CHARACTERISTICS OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS 25-46

Understandability 26

Relevance 27-30

Materiality 30

Reliability 31-38

Faithful Representation 33-34

Substance Over Form 35

Neutrality 36

Prudence 37

Completeness 38

Comparability 39-42

Continued../. .

Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements

10



Constraints on Relevant and Reliable Information 43-45

Timeliness 43

Balance between Benefit and Cost 44

Balance between Qualitative Characteristics 45

True and Fair View 46

THE ELEMENTS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47-80

Financial Position 49-51

Assets 52-58

Liabilities 59-63

Equity 64-67

Performance 68-72

Income 73-76

Expenses 77-79

Capital Maintenance Adjustments 80

RECOGNITION OF THE ELEMENTS OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS 81-97

The Probability of Future Economic Benefits 84

Reliability of Measurement 85-87

Recognition of Assets 88-89

Recognition of Liabilities 90

Recognition of Income 91-92

Recognition of Expenses 93-97

MEASUREMENT OF THE ELEMENTS OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS 98-100

CONCEPTS OF CAPITAL AND CAPITAL
MAINTENANCE 101-109

Concepts of Capital 101-102

Concepts of Capital Maintenance and the Determination
of Profit 103-109

11



Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements*

The following is the text of the ‘Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements’ issued by the Accounting Standards
Board of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

Introduction
Purpose and Status
1. This Framework sets out the concepts that underlie the preparation and
presentation of financial statements for external users.  The purpose of the
Framework is to:

(a) assist preparers of financial statements in applying Accounting
Standards and in dealing with topics that have yet to form the
subject of an Accounting Standard;

(b) assist the Accounting Standards Board in the development of
future Accounting Standards and in its review of existing
Accounting Standards;

(c) assist the Accounting Standards Board in promoting
harmonisation of regulations, accounting standards and
procedures relating to the preparation and presentation of financial
statements by providing a basis for reducing the number of
alternative accounting treatments permitted by Accounting
Standards;

(d) assist auditors in forming an opinion as to whether financial
statements conform with Accounting Standards;

(e) assist users of financial statements in interpreting the information
contained in financial statements prepared in conformity with
Accounting Standards; and

(f) provide those who are interested in the work of the Accounting

* Issued in July 2000.



Standards Board with information about its approach to the
formulation of Accounting Standards.

2. This Framework is not an Accounting Standard and hence does not
define standards for any particular measurement or disclosure issue.  Nothing
in this Framework overrides any specific Accounting Standard.

3. The Accounting Standards Board recognises that in a limited number of
cases there may be a conflict between the Framework and an Accounting
Standard.  In those cases where there is a conflict, the requirements of the
Accounting Standard prevail over those of the Framework.  As, however, the
Accounting Standards Board will be guided by the Framework in the
development of future Standards and in its review of existing Standards, the
number of cases of conflict between the Framework and Accounting Standards
will diminish through time.

4. The Framework will be revised from time to time on the basis of the
experience of the Accounting Standards Board of working with it.

Scope
5. The Framework deals with:

(a) the objective of financial statements;

(b) the qualitative characteristics that determine the usefulness of
information provided in financial statements;

(c) definition, recognition and measurement of the elements from
which financial statements are constructed; and

(d) concepts of capital and capital maintenance.

6. The Framework is concerned with general purpose financial statements
(hereafter referred to as ‘financial statements’). Such financial statements
are prepared and presented at least annually and are directed toward the
common information needs of a wide range of users.  Some of these users
may require, and have the power to obtain, information in addition to that
contained in the financial statements.  Many users, however, have to rely on
the financial statements as their major source of financial information and
such financial statements should, therefore, be prepared and presented with
their needs in view.  Special purpose financial reports, for example,
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prospectuses and computations prepared for taxation purposes, are outside
the scope of this Framework.  Nevertheless, the Framework may be applied
in the preparation of such special purpose reports where their requirements
permit.

7. Financial statements form part of the process of financial reporting.  A
complete set of financial statements normally includes a balance sheet, a
statement of profit and loss (also known as ‘income statement’), a cash flow
statement and those notes and other statements and explanatory material that
are an integral part of the financial statements. They may also include
supplementary schedules and information based on or derived from, and
expected to be read with, such statements.  Such schedules and supplementary
information may deal, for example, with financial information about business
and geographical segments, and disclosures about the effects of changing
prices.  Financial statements do not, however, include such items as reports
by directors, statements by the chairman, discussion and analysis by
management and similar items that may be included in a financial or annual
report.

8. The Framework applies to the financial statements of all reporting
enterprises engaged in commercial, industrial and business activities, whether
in the public or in the private sector.  A reporting enterprise is an enterprise
for which there are users who rely on the financial statements as their major
source of financial information about the enterprise.

Users and Their Information Needs
9. The users of financial statements include present and potential investors,
employees, lenders, suppliers and other trade creditors, customers,
governments and their agencies and the public.  They use financial statements
in order to satisfy some of their information needs.  These needs include the
following:

(a) Investors. The providers of risk capital are concerned with the
risk inherent in, and return provided by, their investments.  They
need information to help them determine whether they should buy,
hold or sell.  They are also interested in information which enables
them to assess the ability of the enterprise to pay dividends.

(b) Employees. Employees and their representative groups are
interested in information about the stability and profitability of
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their employers.  They are also interested in information which
enables them to assess the ability of the enterprise to provide
remuneration, retirement benefits and employment opportunities.

(c) Lenders. Lenders are interested in information which enables
them to determine whether their loans, and the interest attaching
to them, will be paid when due.

(d) Suppliers and other trade creditors. Suppliers and other creditors
are interested in information which enables them to determine
whether amounts owing to them will be paid when due.  Trade
creditors are likely to be interested in an enterprise over a shorter
period than lenders unless they are dependent upon the
continuance of the enterprise as a major customer.

(e) Customers. Customers have an interest in information about the
continuance of an enterprise, especially when they have a long-
term involvement with, or are dependent on, the enterprise.

(f) Governments and their agencies. Governments and their
agencies are interested in the allocation of resources and,
therefore, the activities of enterprises.  They also require
information in order to regulate the activities of enterprises and
determine taxation policies, and to serve as the basis for
determination of national income and similar statistics.

(g) Public. Enterprises affect members of the public in a variety of
ways.  For example, enterprises may make a substantial
contribution to the local economy in many ways including the
number of people they employ and their patronage of local
suppliers.  Financial statements may assist the public by providing
information about the trends and recent developments in the
prosperity of the enterprise and the range of its activities.

10. While all of the information needs of these users cannot be met by
financial statements, there are needs which are common to all users.  As
providers of risk capital to the enterprise, investors need more comprehensive
information than other users.  The provision of financial statements that
meet their needs will also meet most of the needs of other users that financial
statements can satisfy.

11. The management of an enterprise has the responsibility for the
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preparation and presentation of the financial statements of the enterprise.
Management is also interested in the information contained in the financial
statements even though it has access to additional management and financial
information that helps it carry out its planning, decision-making and control
responsibilities.  Management has the ability to determine the form and
content of such additional information in order to meet its own needs. The
reporting of such information, however, is beyond the scope of this
Framework.

The Objective of Financial Statements
12. The objective of financial statements is to provide information about
the financial position, performance and cash flows of an enterprise that is
useful to a wide range of users in making economic decisions.

13. Financial statements prepared for this purpose meet the common needs
of most users.  However, financial statements do not provide all the
information that users may need to make economic decisions since (a) they
largely portray the financial effects of past events, and (b) do not necessarily
provide non-financial information.

14. Financial statements also show the results of the stewardship of
management, or the accountability of management for the resources entrusted
to it.  Those users who wish to assess the stewardship or accountability of
management do so in order that they may make economic decisions; these
decisions may include, for example, whether to hold or sell their investment
in the enterprise or whether to reappoint or replace the management.

Financial Position, Performance and Cash Flows
15. The economic decisions that are taken by users of financial statements
require an evaluation of the ability of an enterprise to generate cash and cash
equivalents and of the timing and certainty of their generation.  This ability
ultimately determines, for example, the capacity of an enterprise to pay its
employees and suppliers, meet interest payments, repay loans, and make
distributions to its owners.  Users are better able to evaluate this ability to
generate cash and cash equivalents if they are provided with information that
focuses on the financial position, performance and cash flows of an enterprise.

16. The financial position of an enterprise is affected by the economic
resources it controls, its financial structure, its liquidity and solvency, and
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its capacity to adapt to changes in the environment in which it operates.
Information about the economic resources controlled by the enterprise and
its capacity in the past to alter these resources is useful in predicting the
ability of the enterprise to generate cash and cash equivalents in the future.
Information about financial structure is useful in predicting future borrowing
needs and how future profits and cash flows will be distributed among those
with an interest in the enterprise; it is also useful in predicting how successful
the enterprise is likely to be in raising further finance.  Information about
liquidity and solvency is useful in predicting the ability of the enterprise to
meet its financial commitments as they fall due.  Liquidity refers to the
availability of cash in the near future to meet financial commitments over
this period.  Solvency refers to the availability of cash over the longer term
to meet financial commitments as they fall due.

17. Information about the performance of an enterprise, in particular its
profitability, is required in order to assess potential changes in the economic
resources that it is likely to control in the future.  Information about variability
of performance is important in this respect.  Information about performance
is useful in predicting the capacity of the enterprise to generate cash flows
from its existing resource base. It is also useful in forming judgements about
the effectiveness with which the enterprise might employ additional resources.

18. Information concerning cash flows of an enterprise is useful in order
to evaluate its investing, financing and operating activities during the
reporting period.  This information is useful in providing the users with a
basis to assess the ability of the enterprise to generate cash and cash
equivalents and the needs of the enterprise to utilise those cash flows.

19. Information about financial position is primarily provided in a balance
sheet.  Information about performance is primarily provided in a statement
of profit and loss.  Information about cash flows is provided in the financial
statements by means of a cash flow statement.

20. The component parts of the financial statements are interrelated because
they reflect different aspects of the same transactions or other events.
Although each statement provides information that is different from the
others, none is likely to serve only a single purpose nor to provide all the
information necessary for particular needs of users.

Notes and Supplementary Schedules

21. The financial statements also contain notes and supplementary
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schedules and other information.  For example, they may contain additional
information that is relevant to the needs of users about the items in the
balance sheet and statement of profit and loss.  They may include disclosures
about the risks and uncertainties affecting the enterprise and any resources
and obligations not recognised in the balance sheet (such as mineral reserves).
Information about business and geographical segments and the effect of
changing prices on the enterprise may also be provided in the form of
supplementary information.

Underlying Assumptions
Accrual Basis
22. In order to meet their objectives, financial statements are prepared on
the accrual basis of accounting.  Under this basis, the effects of transactions
and other events are recognised when they occur (and not as cash or a cash
equivalent is received or paid) and they are recorded in the accounting records
and reported in the financial statements of the periods to which they relate.
Financial statements prepared on the accrual basis inform users not only of
past events involving the payment and receipt of cash but also of obligations
to pay cash in the future and of resources that represent cash to be received
in the future.  Hence, they provide the type of information about past
transactions and other events that is most useful to users in making economic
decisions.

Going Concern
23. The financial statements are normally prepared on the assumption that
an enterprise is a going concern and will continue in operation for the
foreseeable future.  Hence, it is assumed that the enterprise has neither the
intention nor the need to liquidate or curtail materially the scale of its
operations; if such an intention or need exists, the financial statements may
have to be prepared on a different basis and, if so, the basis used is disclosed.

Consistency
24. In order to achieve comparability of the financial statements of an
enterprise through time, the accounting policies are followed consistently
from one period to another; a change in an accounting policy is made only
in certain exceptional circumstances.
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Qualitative Characteristics of Financial Statements
25. Qualitative characteristics are the attributes that make the information
provided in financial statements useful to users.  The four principal qualitative
characteristics are understandability, relevance, reliability and comparability.

Understandability
26. An essential quality of the information provided in financial statements
is that it must be readily understandable by users. For this purpose, it is
assumed that users have a reasonable knowledge of business and economic
activities and accounting and study the information with reasonable diligence.
Information about complex matters that should be included in the financial
statements because of its relevance to the economic decision-making needs
of users should not be excluded merely on the ground that it may be too
difficult for certain users to understand.

Relevance
27. To be useful, information must be relevant to the decision-making
needs of users.  Information has the quality of relevance when it influences
the economic decisions of users by helping them evaluate past, present or
future events or confirming, or correcting, their past evaluations.

28. The predictive and confirmatory roles of information are interrelated.
For example, information about the current level and structure of asset
holdings has value to users when they endeavour to predict the ability of the
enterprise to take advantage of opportunities and its ability to react to adverse
situations.  The same information plays a confirmatory role in respect of
past predictions about, for example, the way in which the enterprise would
be structured or the outcome of planned operations.

29. Information about financial position and past performance is frequently
used as the basis for predicting future financial position and performance
and other matters in which users are directly interested, such as dividend
and wage payments, share price movements and the ability of the enterprise
to meet its commitments as they fall due.  To have predictive value,
information need not be in the form of an explicit forecast.  The ability to
make predictions from financial statements is enhanced, however, by the
manner in which information on past transactions and events is displayed.
For example, the predictive value of the statement of profit and loss is
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enhanced if unusual, abnormal and infrequent items of income and expense
are separately disclosed.

Materiality

30. The relevance of information is affected by its materiality. Information
is material if its misstatement (i.e., omission or erroneous statement) could
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial
information.  Materiality depends on the size and nature of the item or error,
judged in the particular circumstances of its misstatement. Materiality
provides a threshold or cut-off point rather than being a primary qualitative
characteristic which the information must have if it is to be useful.

Reliability
31. To be useful, information must also be reliable.  Information has the
quality of reliability when it is free from material error and bias and can be
depended upon by users to represent faithfully that which it either purports
to represent or could reasonably be expected to represent.

32. Information may be relevant but so unreliable in nature or
representation that its recognition may be potentially misleading.  For
example, if the validity and amount of a claim for damages under a legal
action against the enterprise are highly uncertain, it may be inappropriate
for the enterprise to recognise the amount of the claim in the balance sheet,
although it may be appropriate to disclose the amount and circumstances of
the claim.

Faithful Representation

33. To be reliable, information must represent faithfully the transactions
and other events it either purports to represent or could reasonably be
expected to represent.  Thus, for example, a balance sheet should represent
faithfully the transactions and other events that result in assets, liabilities
and equity of the enterprise at the reporting date which meet the recognition
criteria.

34. Most financial information is subject to some risk of being less than a
faithful representation of that which it purports to portray.  This is not due
to bias, but rather to inherent difficulties either in identifying the transactions
and other events to be measured or in devising and applying measurement
and presentation techniques that can convey messages that correspond with
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those transactions and events.  In certain cases, the measurement of the
financial effects of items could be so uncertain that enterprises generally
would not recognise them in the financial statements; for example, although
most enterprises generate goodwill internally over time, it is usually difficult
to identify or measure that goodwill reliably.  In other cases, however, it
may be relevant to recognise items and to disclose the risk of error
surrounding their recognition and measurement.

Substance Over Form

35. If information is to represent faithfully the transactions and other events
that it purports to represent, it is necessary that they are accounted for and
presented in accordance with their substance and economic reality and not
merely their legal form.  The substance of transactions or other events is not
always consistent with that which is apparent from their legal or contrived
form. For example, where rights and beneficial interest in an immovable
property are transferred but the documentation and legal formalities are
pending, the recording of acquisition/disposal (by the transferee and
transferor respectively) would in substance represent the transaction entered
into.

Neutrality

36. To be reliable, the information contained in financial statements must
be neutral, that is, free from bias.  Financial statements are not neutral if, by
the selection or presentation of information, they influence the making of a
decision or judgement in order to achieve a predetermined result or outcome.

Prudence

37. The preparers of financial statements have to contend with the
uncertainties that inevitably surround many events and circumstances, such
as the collectability of receivables, the probable useful life of plant and
machinery, and the warranty claims that may occur.  Such uncertainties are
recognised by the disclosure of their nature and extent and by the exercise
of prudence in the preparation of the financial statements.  Prudence is the
inclusion of a degree of caution in the exercise of the judgements needed in
making the estimates required under conditions of uncertainty, such that
assets or income are not overstated and liabilities or expenses are not
understated.  However, the exercise of prudence does not allow, for example,
the creation of hidden reserves or excessive provisions, the deliberate
understatement of assets or income, or the deliberate overstatement of

Framework (issued 2000) 21



liabilities or expenses, because the financial statements would then not be
neutral and, therefore, not have the quality of reliability.

Completeness

38. To be reliable, the information in financial statements must be complete
within the bounds of materiality and cost.  An omission can cause information
to be false or misleading and thus unreliable and deficient in terms of its
relevance.

Comparability
39. Users must be able to compare the financial statements of an enterprise
through time in order to identify trends in its financial position, performance
and cash flows.  Users must also be able to compare the financial statements
of different enterprises in order to evaluate their relative financial position,
performance and cash flows.  Hence, the measurement and display of the
financial effects of like transactions and other events must be carried out in
a consistent way throughout an enterprise and over time for that enterprise
and in a consistent way for different enterprises.

40. An important implication of the qualitative characteristic of
comparability is that users be informed of the accounting policies employed
in the preparation of the financial statements, any changes in those policies
and the effects of such changes.  Users need to be able to identify differences
between the accounting policies for like transactions and other events used
by the same enterprise from period to period and by different enterprises.
Compliance with Accounting Standards, including the disclosure of the
accounting policies used by the enterprise, helps to achieve comparability.

41. The need for comparability should not be confused with mere
uniformity and should not be allowed to become an impediment to the
introduction of improved accounting standards.  It is not appropriate for an
enterprise to continue accounting in the same manner for a transaction or
other event if the policy adopted is not in keeping with the qualitative
characteristics of relevance and reliability.  It is also inappropriate for an
enterprise to leave its accounting policies unchanged when more relevant
and reliable alternatives exist.

42. Users wish to compare the financial position, performance and cash
flows of an enterprise over time.  Hence, it is important that the financial
statements show corresponding information for the preceding period(s).
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Constraints on Relevant and Reliable Information
Timeliness

43. If there is undue delay in the reporting of information it may lose its
relevance.  Management may need to balance the relative merits of timely
reporting and the provision of reliable information.  To provide information
on a timely basis it may often be necessary to report before all aspects of a
transaction or other event are known, thus impairing reliability.  Conversely,
if reporting is delayed until all aspects are known, the information may be
highly reliable but of little use to users who have had to make decisions in
the interim. In achieving a balance between relevance and reliability, the
overriding consideration is how best to satisfy the information needs of
users.

Balance between Benefit and Cost

44. The balance between benefit and cost is a pervasive constraint rather
than a qualitative characteristic.  The benefits derived from information
should exceed the cost of providing it.  The evaluation of benefits and costs
is, however, substantially a judgmental process.  Furthermore, the costs do
not necessarily fall on those users who enjoy the benefits.  Benefits may
also be enjoyed by users other than those for whom the information is
prepared.  For these reasons, it is difficult to apply a cost-benefit test in any
particular case.  Nevertheless, standard-setters in particular, as well as the
preparers and users of financial statements, should be aware of this constraint.

Balance between Qualitative Characteristics

45. In practice, a balancing, or trade-off, between qualitative characteristics
is often necessary.  Generally the aim is to achieve an appropriate balance
among the characteristics in order to meet the objective of financial
statements.  The relative importance of the characteristics in different cases
is a matter of professional judgment.

True and Fair View
46. Financial statements are frequently described as showing a true and fair
view of the financial position, performance and cash flows of an enterprise.
Although this Framework does not deal directly with such concepts, the
application of the principal qualitative characteristics and of appropriate
accounting standards normally results in financial statements that convey
what is generally understood as a true and fair view of such information.
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The Elements of Financial Statements
47. Financial statements portray the financial effects of transactions and
other events by grouping them into broad classes according to their economic
characteristics.  These broad classes are termed the elements of financial
statements.  The elements directly related to the measurement of financial
position in the balance sheet are assets, liabilities and equity.  The elements
directly related to the measurement of performance in the statement of profit
and loss are income and expenses.  The cash flow statement usually reflects
elements of statement of profit and loss and changes in balance sheet
elements; accordingly, this Framework identifies no elements that are unique
to this statement.

48. The presentation of these elements in the balance sheet and the
statement of profit and loss involves a process of sub-classification.  For
example, assets and liabilities may be classified by their nature or function
in the business of the enterprise in order to display information in the manner
most useful to users for purposes of making economic decisions.

Financial Position
49. The elements directly related to the measurement of financial position
are assets, liabilities and equity.  These are defined as follows:

(a) An asset is a resource controlled by the enterprise as a result of
past events from which future economic benefits are expected to
flow to the enterprise.

(b) A liability is a present obligation of the enterprise arising from
past events, the settlement of which is expected to result in an
outflow from the enterprise of resources embodying economic
benefits.

(c) Equity is the residual interest in the assets of the enterprise after
deducting all its liabilities.

50. The definitions of an asset and a liability identify their essential features
but do not attempt to specify the criteria that need to be met before they are
recognised in the balance sheet.  Thus, the definitions embrace items that
are not recognised as assets or liabilities in the balance sheet because they
do not satisfy the criteria for recognition discussed in paragraphs 81 to 97.
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In particular, the expectation that future economic benefits will flow to or
from an enterprise must be sufficiently certain to meet the probability
criterion in paragraph 82 before an asset or liability is recognised.

51. In assessing whether an item meets the definition of an asset, liability
or equity, consideration needs to be given to its underlying substance and
economic reality and not merely its legal form.  Thus, for example, in the
case of hire purchase, the substance and economic reality are that the hire
purchaser acquires the economic benefits of the use of the asset in return for
entering into an obligation to pay for that right an amount approximating to
the fair value of the asset and the related finance charge.  Hence, the hire
purchase gives rise to items that satisfy the definition of an asset and a
liability and are recognised as such in the hire purchaser’s balance sheet.

Assets
52. The future economic benefit embodied in an asset is the potential to
contribute, directly or indirectly, to the flow of cash and cash equivalents to
the enterprise.  The potential may be a productive one that is part of the
operating activities of the enterprise.  It may also take the form of con-
vertibility into cash or cash equivalents or a capability to reduce cash
outflows, such as when an alternative manufacturing process lowers the
costs of production.

53. An enterprise usually employs its assets to produce goods or services
capable of satisfying the wants or needs of customers; because these goods
or services can satisfy these wants or needs, customers are prepared to pay
for them and hence contribute to the cash flows of the enterprise.  Cash
itself renders a service to the enterprise because of its command over other
resources.

54. The future economic benefits embodied in an asset may flow to the
enterprise in a number of ways.  For example, an asset may be:

(a) used singly or in combination with other assets in the production
of goods or services to be sold by the enterprise;

(b) exchanged for other assets;

(c) used to settle a liability; or

(d) distributed to the owners of the enterprise.
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55. Many assets, for example, plant and machinery, have a physical form.
However, physical form is not essential to the existence of an asset; hence
patents and copyrights, for example, are assets if future economic benefits
are expected to flow from them and if they are controlled by the enterprise.

56. Many assets, for example, receivables and property, are associated
with legal rights, including the right of ownership.  In determining the
existence of an asset, the right of ownership is not essential; thus, for
example, an item held under a hire purchase is an asset of the hire purchaser
since the hire purchaser controls the benefits which are expected to flow
from the item. Although the capacity of an enterprise to control benefits is
usually the result of legal rights, an item may nonetheless satisfy the
definition of an asset even when there is no legal control.  For example,
know-how obtained from a development activity may meet the definition
of an asset when, by keeping that know-how secret, an enterprise controls
the benefits that are expected to flow from it.

57. The assets of an enterprise result from past transactions or other past
events.  Enterprises normally obtain assets by purchasing or producing them,
but other transactions or events may also generate assets; examples include
land received by an enterprise from government as part of a programme to
encourage economic growth in an area and the discovery of mineral deposits.
Transactions or other events expected to occur in the future do not in
themselves give rise to assets; hence, for example, an intention to purchase
inventory does not, of itself, meet the definition of an asset.

58. There is a close association between incurring expenditure and
obtaining assets but the two do not necessarily coincide.  Hence, when an
enterprise incurs expenditure, this may provide evidence that future economic
benefits were sought but is not conclusive proof that an item satisfying the
definition of an asset has been obtained.  Similarly, the absence of a related
expenditure does not preclude an item from satisfying the definition of an
asset and thus becoming a candidate for recognition in the balance sheet.

Liabilities
59. An essential characteristic of a liability is that the enterprise has a
present obligation.  An obligation is a duty or responsibility to act or perform
in a certain way.  Obligations may be legally enforceable as a consequence
of a binding contract or statutory requirement.  This is normally the case, for
example, with amounts payable for goods and services received.  Obligations
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also arise, however, from normal business practice, custom and a desire to
maintain good business relations or act in an equitable manner.  If, for
example, an enterprise decides as a matter of policy to rectify faults in its
products even when these become apparent after the warranty period has
expired, the amounts that are expected to be expended in respect of goods
already sold are liabilities.

60. A distinction needs to be drawn between a present obligation and a
future commitment.  A decision by the management of an enterprise to acquire
assets in the future does not, of itself, give rise to a present obligation.  An
obligation normally arises only when the asset is delivered or the enterprise
enters into an irrevocable agreement to acquire the asset.  In the latter case,
the irrevocable nature of the agreement means that the economic
consequences of failing to honour the obligation, for example, because of
the existence of a substantial penalty, leave the enterprise with little, if any,
discretion to avoid the outflow of resources to another party.

61. The settlement of a present obligation usually involves the enterprise
giving up resources embodying economic benefits in order to satisfy the
claim of the other party.  Settlement of a present obligation may occur in a
number of ways, for example, by:

(a) payment of cash;

(b) transfer of other assets;

(c) provision of services;

(d) replacement of that obligation with another obligation; or

(e) conversion of the obligation to equity.

An obligation may also be extinguished by other means, such as a creditor
waiving or forfeiting its rights.

62. Liabilities result from past transactions or other past events.  Thus, for
example, the acquisition of goods and the use of services give rise to trade
creditors (unless paid for in advance or on delivery) and the receipt of a bank
loan results in an obligation to repay the loan. An enterprise may also recognise
future rebates based on annual purchases by customers as liabilities; in this
case, the sale of the goods in the past is the transaction that gives rise to the
liability.
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63. Some liabilities can be measured only by using a substantial degree of
estimation. Such liabilities are commonly described as ‘provisions’.
Examples include provisions for payments to be made under existing
warranties and provisions to cover pension obligations.

Equity
64. Although equity is defined in paragraph 49 as a residual, it may be
sub-classified in the balance sheet.  For example, funds contributed by
owners, reserves representing appropriations of retained earnings,
unappropriated retained earnings and reserves representing capital
maintenance adjustments may be shown separately.  Such classifications
can be relevant to the decision-making needs of the users of financial
statements when they indicate legal or other restrictions on the ability of the
enterprise to distribute or otherwise apply its equity.  They may also reflect
the fact that parties with ownership interests in an enterprise have differing
rights in relation to the receipt of dividends or the repayment of capital.

65. The creation of reserves is sometimes required by law in order to give
the enterprise and its creditors an added measure of protection from the
effects of losses.  Reserves may also be created when tax laws grant
exemptions from, or reductions in, taxation liabilities if transfers to such
reserves are made.  The existence and size of such reserves is information
that can be relevant to the decision-making needs of users.  Transfers to
such reserves are appropriations of retained earnings rather than expenses.

66. The amount at which equity is shown in the balance sheet is dependent
on the measurement of assets and liabilities.  Normally, the aggregate amount
of equity only by coincidence corresponds with the aggregate market value
of the shares of the enterprise or the sum that could be raised by disposing
of either the net assets on a piecemeal basis or the enterprise as a whole on
a going concern basis.

67. Commercial, industrial and business activities are often undertaken
by means of enterprises such as sole proprietorships, partnerships and trusts
and various types of government business undertakings.  The legal and
regulatory framework for such enterprises is often different from that
applicable to corporate enterprises.  For example, unlike corporate
enterprises, in the case of such enterprises, there may be few, if any,
restrictions on the distribution to owners or other beneficiaries of amounts
included in equity.  Nevertheless, the definition of equity and the other aspects
of this Framework that deal with equity are appropriate for such enterprises.
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Performance
68. Profit is frequently used as a measure of performance or as the basis
for other measures, such as return on investment or earnings per share.  The
elements directly related to the measurement of profit are income and
expenses.  The recognition and measurement of income and expenses, and
hence profit, depends in part on the concepts of capital and capital
maintenance used by the enterprise in preparing its financial statements.
These concepts are discussed in paragraphs 101 to 109.

69. Income and expenses are defined as follows:

(a) Income is increase in economic benefits during the accounting
period in the form of inflows or enhancements of assets or
decreases of liabilities that result in increases in equity, other
than those relating to contributions from equity participants.

(b) Expenses are decreases in economic benefits during the
accounting period in the form of outflows or depletions of assets
or incurrences of liabilities that result in decreases in equity, other
than those relating to distributions to equity participants.

70. The definitions of income and expenses identify their essential features
but do not attempt to specify the criteria that need to be met before they are
recognised in the statement of profit and loss.  Criteria for recognition of
income and expenses are discussed in paragraphs 81 to 97.

71. Income and expenses may be presented in the statement of profit and
loss in different ways so as to provide information that is relevant for
economic decision-making.  For example, it is a common practice to
distinguish between those items of income and expenses that arise in the
course of the ordinary activities of the enterprise and those that do not.  This
distinction is made on the basis that the source of an item is relevant in
evaluating the ability of the enterprise to generate cash and cash equivalents
in the future.  When distinguishing between items in this way, consideration
needs to be given to the nature of the enterprise and its operations.  Items
that arise from the ordinary activities of one enterprise may be extraordinary
in respect of another.

72. Distinguishing between items of income and expense and combining
them in different ways also permits several measures of enterprise
performance to be displayed.  These have differing degrees of inclusiveness.
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For example, the statement of profit and loss could display gross margin,
profit from ordinary activities before taxation, profit from ordinary activities
after taxation, and net profit.

Income
73. The definition of income encompasses both revenue and gains.
Revenue arises in the course of the ordinary activities of an enterprise and
is referred to by a variety of different names including sales, fees, interest,
dividends, royalties and rent.

74. Gains represent other items that meet the definition of income and may,
or may not, arise in the course of the ordinary activities of an enterprise.
Gains represent increases in economic benefits and as such are no different
in nature from revenue.  Hence, they are not regarded as a separate element
in this Framework.

75. The definition of income includes unrealised gains.  Gains also include,
for example, those arising on the disposal of fixed assets.  When gains are
recognised in the statement of profit and loss, they are usually displayed
separately because knowledge of them is useful for the purpose of making
economic decisions.

76. Various kinds of assets may be received or enhanced by income; examples
include cash, receivables and goods and services received in exchange for
goods and services supplied.  Income may also result in the settlement of
liabilities.  For example, an enterprise may provide goods and services to a
lender in settlement of an obligation to repay an outstanding loan.

Expenses
77. The definition of expenses encompasses those expenses that arise in
the course of the ordinary activities of the enterprise, as well as losses.
Expenses that arise in the course of the ordinary activities of the enterprise
include, for example, cost of goods sold, wages, and depreciation.  They take
the form of an outflow or depletion of assets or enhancement of liabilities.

78. Losses represent other items that meet the definition of expenses and
may, or may not, arise in the course of the ordinary activities of the enterprise.
Losses represent decreases in economic benefits and as such they are no
different in nature from other expenses.  Hence, they are not regarded as a
separate element in this Framework.
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79. Losses include, for example, those resulting from disasters such as
fire and flood, as well as those arising on the disposal of fixed assets.  The
definition of expenses also includes unrealised losses.  When losses are
recognised in the statement of profit and loss, they are usually displayed
separately because knowledge of them is useful for the purpose of making
economic decisions.

Capital Maintenance Adjustments
80. The revaluation or restatement of assets and liabilities gives rise to
increases or decreases in equity.  While these increases or decreases meet the
definition of income and expenses, they are not included in the statement of
profit and loss under certain concepts of capital maintenance.  Instead, these
items are included in equity as capital maintenance adjustments or revaluation
reserves. These concepts of capital maintenance are discussed in paragraphs
101 to 109 of this Framework.

Recognition of the Elements of Financial
Statements
81. Recognition is the process of incorporating in the balance sheet or
statement of profit and loss an item that meets the definition of an element
and satisfies the criteria for recognition set out in paragraph 82.  It involves
the depiction of the item in words and by a monetary amount and the inclusion
of that amount in the totals of balance sheet or statement of profit and loss.
Items that satisfy the recognition criteria should be recognised in the balance
sheet or statement of profit and loss.  The failure to recognise such items is
not rectified by disclosure of the accounting policies used nor by notes or
explanatory material.

82. An item that meets the definition of an element should be recognised if:

(a) it is probable that any future economic benefit associated with
the item will flow to or from the enterprise; and

(b) the item has a cost or value that can be measured with reliability.

83. In assessing whether an item meets these criteria and therefore qualifies
for recognition in the financial statements, regard needs to be given to the
materiality considerations discussed in paragraph 30.  The interrelationship
between the elements means that an item that meets the definition and
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recognition criteria for a particular element, for example, an asset,
automatically requires the recognition of another element, for example,
income or a liability.

The Probability of Future Economic Benefits
84. The concept of probability is used in the recognition criteria to refer
to the degree of uncertainty that the future economic benefits associated
with the item will flow to or from the enterprise.  The concept is in keeping
with the uncertainty that characterises the environment in which an enterprise
operates.  Assessments of the degree of uncertainty attaching to the flow of
future economic benefits are made on the basis of the evidence available
when the financial statements are prepared.  For example, when it is probable
that a receivable will be realised, it is then justifiable, in the absence of any
evidence to the contrary, to recognise the receivable as an asset.  For a large
population of receivables, however, some degree of non-payment is normally
considered probable; hence, an expense representing the expected reduction
in economic benefits is recognised.

Reliability of Measurement
85. The second criterion for the recognition of an item is that it possesses
a cost or value that can be measured with reliability as discussed in paragraphs
31 to 38 of this Framework.  In many cases, cost or value must be estimated;
the use of reasonable estimates is an essential part of the preparation of
financial statements and does not undermine their reliability.  When, however,
a reasonable estimate cannot be made, the item is not recognised in the
balance sheet or statement of profit and loss.  For example, the damages
payable in a lawsuit may meet the definitions of both a liability and an
expense as well as the probability criterion for recognition; however, if it is
not possible to measure the claim reliably, it should not be recognised as a
liability or as an expense.

86. An item that, at a particular point in time, fails to meet the recognition
criteria in paragraph 82 may qualify for recognition at a later date as a result
of subsequent circumstances or events.

87. An item that possesses the essential characteristics of an element but
fails to meet the criteria for recognition may nonetheless warrant disclosure
in the notes, explanatory material or supplementary schedules.  This is
appropriate when knowledge of the item is considered to be relevant to the
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evaluation of the financial position, performance and cash flows of an
enterprise by the users of financial statements.  Thus, in the example given
in paragraph 85, the existence of the claim would need to be disclosed in the
notes, explanatory material or supplementary schedules.

Recognition of Assets
88. An asset is recognised in the balance sheet when it is probable that the
future economic benefits associated with it will flow to the enterprise and
the asset has a cost or value that can be measured reliably.

89. An asset is not recognised in the balance sheet when expenditure has
been incurred for which it is considered improbable that economic benefits
will flow to the enterprise beyond the current accounting period.  Instead,
such a transaction results in the recognition of an expense in the statement
of profit and loss.  This treatment does not imply either that the intention of
management in incurring expenditure was other than to generate future
economic benefits for the enterprise or that management was misguided.
The only implication is that the degree of certainty that economic benefits
will flow to the enterprise beyond the current accounting period is insufficient
to warrant the recognition of an asset.

Recognition of Liabilities
90. A liability is recognised in the balance sheet when it is probable that an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will result from the
settlement of a present obligation and the amount at which the settlement will
take place can be measured reliably.  In practice, obligations under contracts
that are equally proportionately unperformed (for example, liabilities for
inventory ordered but not yet received) are generally not recognised as
liabilities in the financial statements.  However, such obligations may meet the
definition of liabilities and, provided the recognition criteria are met in the
particular circumstances, may qualify for recognition. In such circumstances,
recognition of liabilities entails recognition of related assets or expenses.

Recognition of Income
91. Income is recognised in the statement of profit and loss when an
increase in future economic benefits related to an increase in an asset or a
decrease of a liability has arisen that can be measured reliably.  This means,
in effect, that recognition of income occurs simultaneously with the
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recognition of increases in assets or decreases in liabilities (for example,
the net increase in assets arising on a sale of goods or services or the decrease
in liabilities arising from the waiver of a debt payable).

92. The procedures normally adopted in practice for recognising income,
for example, the requirement that revenue should be earned, are applications
of the recognition criteria in this Framework.  Such procedures are generally
directed at restricting the recognition as income to those items that can be
measured reliably and have a sufficient degree of certainty.

Recognition of Expenses
93. Expenses are recognised in the statement of profit and loss when a
decrease in future economic benefits related to a decrease in an asset or an
increase of a liability has arisen that can be measured reliably.  This means,
in effect, that recognition of expenses occurs simultaneously with the
recognition of an increase of liabilities or a decrease in assets (for example,
the accrual of employees’ salaries or the depreciation of plant and machinery).

94. Many expenses are recognised in the statement of profit and loss on the
basis of a direct association between the costs incurred and the earning of
specific items of income.  This process, commonly referred to as the matching
of costs with revenues, involves the simultaneous or combined recognition
of revenues and expenses that result directly and jointly from the same
transactions or other events; for example, the various components of expense
making up the cost of goods sold are recognised at the same time as the
income derived from the sale of the goods.  However, the application of the
matching concept under this Framework does not allow the recognition of
items in the balance sheet which do not meet the definition of assets or
liabilities.

95. When economic benefits are expected to arise over several accounting
periods and the association with income can only be broadly or indirectly
determined, expenses are recognised in the statement of profit and loss on
the basis of systematic and rational allocation procedures.  This is often
necessary in recognising the expenses associated with the using up of assets
such as plant and machinery, goodwill, patents and trademarks; in such cases,
the expense is referred to as depreciation or amortisation.  These allocation
procedures are intended to recognise expenses in the accounting periods in
which the economic benefits associated with these items are consumed or
expire.
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96. An expense is recognised immediately in the statement of profit and
loss when an expenditure produces no future economic benefits.  An expense
is also recognised to the extent that future economic benefits from an
expenditure do not qualify, or cease to qualify, for recognition in the balance
sheet as an asset.

97. An expense is recognised in the statement of profit and loss in those
cases also where a liability is incurred without the recognition of an asset,
for example, in the case of a liability under a product warranty.

Measurement of the Elements of Financial
Statements
98. Measurement is the process of determining the monetary amounts at
which the elements of financial statements are to be recognised and carried
in the balance sheet and statement of profit and loss.  This involves the
selection of the particular basis of measurement.

99. A number of different measurement bases are employed to different
degrees and in varying combinations in financial statements.  They include
the following:

(a) Historical cost. Assets are recorded at the amount of cash or
cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the other consideration
given to acquire them at the time of their acquisition.  Liabilities
are recorded at the amount of proceeds received in exchange for
the obligation, or in some circumstances (for example, income
taxes), at the amounts of cash or cash equivalents expected to be
paid to satisfy the liability in the normal course of business.

(b) Current cost. Assets are carried at the amount of cash or cash
equivalents that would have to be paid if the same or an equivalent
asset were acquired currently.  Liabilities are carried at the
undiscounted amount of cash or cash equivalents that would be
required to settle the obligation currently.

(c) Realisable (settlement) value. Assets are carried at the amount
of cash or cash equivalents that could currently be obtained by
selling the asset in an orderly disposal.  Liabilities are carried at
their settlement values, that is, the undiscounted amounts of cash
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or cash equivalents expected to be required to settle the liabilities
in the normal course of business.

(d) Present value. Assets are carried at the present value of the future
net cash inflows that the item is expected to generate in the normal
course of business.  Liabilities are carried at the present value of
the future net cash outflows that are expected to be required to
settle the liabilities in the normal course of business.

100. The measurement basis most commonly adopted by enterprises in
preparing their financial statements is historical cost.  This is usually
combined with other measurement bases.  For example, inventories are
usually carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value and pension
liabilities are carried at their present value.  Furthermore, the current cost
basis may be used as a response to the inability of the historical cost
accounting model to deal with the effects of changing prices of non-monetary
assets.

Concepts of Capital and Capital Maintenance
Concepts of Capital
101. Under a financial concept of capital, such as invested money or
invested purchasing power, capital is synonymous with the net assets or
equity of the enterprise.  Under a physical concept of capital, such as
operating capability, capital is regarded as the productive capacity of the
enterprise based on, for example, units of output per day.

102. The selection of the appropriate concept of capital by an enterprise
should be based on the needs of the users of its financial statements.  Thus,
a financial concept of capital should be adopted if the users of financial
statements are primarily concerned with the maintenance of nominal invested
capital or the purchasing power of invested capital.  If, however, the main
concern of users is with the operating capability of the enterprise, a physical
concept of capital should be used.  The concept chosen indicates the goal to
be attained in determining profit, even though there may be some
measurement difficulties in making the concept operational.
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Concepts of Capital Maintenance and the Determination
of Profit
103. The concepts of capital described in paragraph 101 give rise to the
following concepts of capital maintenance:

(a) Financial capital maintenance. Under this concept, a profit is
earned only if the financial (or money) amount of the net assets
at the end of the period exceeds the financial (or money) amount
of net assets at the beginning of the period, after excluding any
distributions to, and contributions from, owners during the period.
Financial capital maintenance can be measured in either nominal
monetary units or units of constant purchasing power.

(b) Physical capital maintenance. Under this concept, a profit is
earned only if the physical productive capacity (or operating
capability) of the enterprise at the end of the period exceeds the
physical productive capacity at the beginning of the period, after
excluding any distributions to, and contributions from, owners
during the period.

104. The concept of capital maintenance is concerned with how an
enterprise defines the capital that it seeks to maintain.  It provides the linkage
between the concepts of capital and the concepts of profit because it provides
the point of reference by which profit is measured; it is a prerequisite for
distinguishing between an enterprise's return on capital and its return of
capital; only inflows of assets in excess of amounts needed to maintain
capital can be regarded as profit and therefore as a return on capital.  Hence,
profit is the residual amount that remains after expenses (including capital
maintenance adjustments, where appropriate) have been deducted from
income.  If expenses exceed income, the residual amount is a net loss.

105. The physical capital maintenance concept requires the adoption of
the current cost basis of measurement.  The financial capital maintenance
concept, however, does not require the use of a particular basis of
measurement.  Selection of the basis under this concept is dependent on the
type of financial capital that the enterprise is seeking to maintain.

106. The principal difference between the two concepts of capital
maintenance is the treatment of the effects of changes in the prices of assets
and liabilities of the enterprise.  In general terms, an enterprise has maintained
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its capital if it has as much capital at the end of the period as it had at the
beginning of the period.  Any amount over and above that required to maintain
the capital at the beginning of the period is profit.

107. Under the concept of financial capital maintenance where capital is
defined in terms of nominal monetary units, profit represents the increase in
nominal money capital over the period.  Thus, increases in the prices of
assets held over the period, conventionally referred to as holding gains, are,
conceptually, profits.  They may not be recognised as such, however, until
the assets are disposed of in an exchange transaction.  When the concept of
financial capital maintenance is defined in terms of constant purchasing
power units, profit represents the increase in invested purchasing power
over the period.  Thus, only that part of the increase in the prices of assets
that exceeds the increase in the general level of prices is regarded as profit.
The rest of the increase is treated as a capital maintenance adjustment and,
hence, as part of equity.

108. Under the concept of physical capital maintenance when capital is
defined in terms of the physical productive capacity, profit represents the
increase in that capital over the period.  All price changes affecting the
assets and liabilities of the enterprise are viewed as changes in the
measurement of the physical productive capacity of the enterprise; hence,
they are treated as capital maintenance adjustments that are part of equity
and not as profit.

109. The selection of the measurement bases and concept of capital main-
tenance will determine the accounting model used in the preparation of the
financial statements.  Different accounting models exhibit different degrees
of relevance and reliability and, as in other areas, management must seek a
balance between relevance and reliability.  This Framework is applicable to
a range of accounting models and provides guidance on preparing and
presenting the financial statements under the chosen model.
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Accounting Standard (AS) 1
(issued 1979)

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

[This Accounting Standard includes paragraphs set in bold italic type and
plain type, which have equal authority. Paragraphs in bold italic type indicate
the main principles. This Accounting Standard should be read in the context
of the Preface to the Statements of Accounting Standards1 and the
‘Applicability of Accounting Standards to Various Entities’ (See Appendix 1
to this Compendium).]

Introduction
1. This Standard deals with the disclosure of significant accounting policies
followed in preparing and presenting financial statements.

2. The view presented in the financial statements of an enterprise of its
state of affairs and of the profit or loss can be significantly affected by the
accounting policies followed in the preparation and presentation of the
financial statements. The accounting policies followed vary from enterprise
to enterprise. Disclosure of significant accounting policies followed is
necessary if the view presented is to be properly appreciated.

3. The disclosure of some of the accounting policies followed in the
preparation and presentation of the financial statements is required by law
in some cases.

4. The Institute of Chartered Accountants of India has, in Standards issued
by it, recommended the disclosure of certain accounting policies, e.g.,
translation policies in respect of foreign currency items.

5. In recent years, a few enterprises in India have adopted the practice of
including in their annual reports to shareholders a separate statement of
accounting policies followed in preparing and presenting the financial
statements.

1 Attention is specifically drawn to paragraph 4.3 of the Preface, according to which
Accounting Standards are intended to apply only to items which are material.
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6. In general, however, accounting policies are not at present regularly
and fully disclosed in all financial statements. Many enterprises include in
the Notes on the Accounts, descriptions of some of the significant accounting
policies. But the nature and degree of disclosure vary considerably between
the corporate and the non-corporate sectors and between units in the same
sector.

7. Even among the few enterprises that presently include in their annual
reports a separate statement of accounting policies, considerable variation
exists. The statement of accounting policies forms part of accounts in some
cases while in others it is given as supplementary information.

8. The purpose of this Standard is to promote better understanding of
financial statements by establishing through an accounting standard the
disclosure of significant accounting policies and the manner in which
accounting policies are disclosed in the financial statements. Such disclosure
would also facilitate a more meaningful comparison between financial
statements of different enterprises.

Explanation
Fundamental Accounting Assumptions
9. Certain fundamental accounting assumptions underlie the preparation
and presentation of financial statements. They are usually not specifically
stated because their acceptance and use are assumed. Disclosure is necessary
if they are not followed.

10. The following have been generally accepted as fundamental accounting
assumptions:—

a. Going Concern

The enterprise is normally viewed as a going concern, that is, as continuing
in operation for the foreseeable future. It is assumed that the enterprise has
neither the intention nor the necessity of liquidation or of curtailing materially
the scale of the operations.

b. Consistency

It is assumed that accounting policies are consistent from one period to
another.
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c. Accrual

Revenues and costs are accrued, that is, recognised as they are earned or
incurred (and not as money is received or paid) and recorded in the financial
statements of the periods to which they relate. (The considerations affecting
the process of matching costs with revenues under the accrual assumption
are not dealt with in this standard.)

Nature of Accounting Policies
11. The accounting policies refer to the specific accounting principles and
the methods of applying those principles adopted by the enterprise in the
preparation and presentation of financial statements.

12. There is no single list of accounting policies which are applicable to
all circumstances. The differing circumstances in which enterprises operate
in a situation of diverse and complex economic activity make alternative
accounting principles and methods of applying those principles acceptable.
The choice of the appropriate accounting principles and the methods of
applying those principles in the specific circumstances of each enterprise
calls for considerable judgement by the management of the enterprise.

13. The various standards of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of
India combined with the efforts of government and other regulatory agencies
and progressive managements have reduced in recent years the number of
acceptable alternatives particularly in the case of corporate enterprises. While
continuing efforts in this regard in future are likely to reduce the number
still further, the availability of alternative accounting principles and methods
of applying those principles is not likely to be eliminated altogether in view
of the differing circumstances faced by the enterprises.

Areas in Which Differing Accounting Policies are Encountered
14. The following are examples of the areas in which different accounting
policies may be adopted by different enterprises.

(a) Methods of depreciation, depletion and amortisation

(b) Treatment of expenditure during construction

(c) Conversion or translation of foreign currency items
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(d) Valuation of inventories

(e) Treatment of goodwill

(f) Valuation of investments

(g) Treatment of retirement benefits

(h) Recognition of profit on long-term contracts

(i) Valuation of fixed assets

(j) Treatment of contingent liabilities.

15. The above list of examples is not intended to be exhaustive.

Considerations in the Selection of Accounting Policies
16. The primary consideration in the selection of accounting policies by
an enterprise is that the financial statements prepared and presented on the
basis of such accounting policies should represent a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the enterprise as at the balance sheet date and of the
profit or loss for the period ended on that date.

17. For this purpose, the major considerations governing the selection and
application of accounting policies are:—

a. Prudence

In view of the uncertainty attached to future events, profits are not anticipated
but recognised only when realised though not necessarily in cash. Provision
is made for all known liabilities and losses even though the amount cannot
be determined with certainty and represents only a best estimate in the light
of available information.

b. Substance over Form

The accounting treatment and presentation in financial statements of
transactions and events should be governed by their substance and not merely
by the legal form.
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c. Materiality

Financial statements should disclose all “material” items, i.e. items the
knowledge of which might influence the decisions of the user of the financial
statements.

Disclosure of Accounting Policies
18. To ensure proper understanding of financial statements, it is necessary
that all significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation and
presentation of financial statements should be disclosed.

19. Such disclosure should form part of the financial statements.

20 It would be helpful to the reader of financial statements if they are all
disclosed as such in one place instead of being scattered over several
statements, schedules and notes.

21. Examples of matters in respect of which disclosure of accounting
policies adopted will be required are contained in paragraph 14. This list of
examples is not, however, intended to be exhaustive.

22. Any change in an accounting policy which has a material effect should
be disclosed. The amount by which any item in the financial statements is
affected by such change should also be disclosed to the extent ascertainable.
Where such amount is not ascertainable, wholly or in part, the fact should
be indicated. If a change is made in the accounting policies which has no
material effect on the financial statements for the current period but which
is reasonably expected to have a material effect in later periods, the fact of
such change should be appropriately disclosed in the period in which the
change is adopted.

23. Disclosure of accounting policies or of changes therein cannot remedy
a wrong or inappropriate treatment of the item in the accounts.

Main Principles
24. All significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation and
presentation of financial statements should be disclosed.
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25. The disclosure of the significant accounting policies as such should
form part of the financial statements and the significant accounting
policies should normally be disclosed in one place.

26. Any change in the accounting policies which has a material effect
in the current period or which is reasonably expected to have a material
effect in later periods should be disclosed. In the case of a change in
accounting policies which has a material effect in the current period, the
amount by which any item in the financial statements is affected by such
change should also be disclosed to the extent ascertainable. Where such
amount is not ascertainable, wholly or in part, the fact should be indicated.

27. If the fundamental accounting assumptions, viz. Going Concern,
Consistency and Accrual are followed in financial statements, specific
disclosure is not required. If a fundamental accounting assumption is not
followed, the fact should be disclosed.
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Accounting Standard (AS) 2*
(revised 1999)

Valuation of Inventories

[This Accounting Standard includes paragraphs set in bold italic type
and plain type, which have equal authority. Paragraphs in bold italic type
indicate the main principles. This Accounting Standard should be read in
the context of its objective, the Preface to the Statements of Accounting
Standards1 and the ‘Applicability of Accounting Standards to Various Entities’
(See Appendix 1 to this Compendium).]

Objective
A primary issue in accounting for inventories is the determination of the
value at which inventories are carried in the financial statements until the
related revenues are recognised. This Standard deals with the determination
of such value, including the ascertainment of cost of inventories and any
write-down thereof to net realisable value.

Scope
1. This Standard should be applied in accounting for inventories other
than:

(a) work in progress arising under construction contracts,
including directly related service contracts (see Accounting
Standard (AS) 7, Construction Contracts);

(b) work in progress arising in the ordinary course of business of
service providers;

(c) shares, debentures and other financial instruments held as
stock-in-trade; and

* The Standard was originally issued in June 1981.
1 Attention is specifically drawn to paragraph 4.3 of the Preface, according to which
Accounting Standards are intended to apply only to items which are material.
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(d) producers’ inventories of livestock, agricultural and forest
products, and mineral oils, ores and gases to the extent that
they are measured at net realisable value in accordance with
well established practices in those industries.

2. The inventories referred to in paragraph 1 (d) are measured at net realisable
value at certain stages of production. This occurs, for example, when
agricultural crops have been harvested or mineral oils, ores and gases have
been extracted and sale is assured under a forward contract or a government
guarantee, or when a homogenous market exists and there is a negligible risk of
failure to sell. These inventories are excluded from the scope of this Standard.

Definitions
3. The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings
specified:

3.1. Inventories are assets:

(a) held for sale in the ordinary course of business;

(b) in the process of production for such sale; or

(c) in the form of materials or supplies to be consumed in
the production process or in the rendering of services.

3.2. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

4. Inventories encompass goods purchased and held for resale, for example,
merchandise purchased by a retailer and held for resale, computer software
held for resale, or land and other property held for resale. Inventories also
encompass finished goods produced, or work in progress being produced,
by the enterprise and include materials, maintenance supplies, consumables
and loose tools awaiting use in the production process. Inventories do not
include machinery spares which can be used only in connection with an
item of fixed asset and whose use is expected to be irregular; such machinery
spares are accounted for in accordance with Accounting Standard (AS) 10,
Accounting for Fixed Assets.
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Measurement of Inventories
5. Inventories should be valued at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Cost of Inventories
6. The cost of inventories should comprise all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition.

Costs of Purchase

7. The costs of purchase consist of the purchase price including duties
and taxes (other than those subsequently recoverable by the enterprise from
the taxing authorities), freight inwards and other expenditure directly
attributable to the acquisition. Trade discounts, rebates, duty drawbacks and
other similar items are deducted in determining the costs of purchase.

Costs of Conversion

8. The costs of conversion of inventories include costs directly related to
the units of production, such as direct labour. They also include a systematic
allocation of fixed and variable production overheads that are incurred in
converting materials into finished goods. Fixed production overheads are
those indirect costs of production that remain relatively constant regardless
of the volume of production, such as depreciation and maintenance of factory
buildings and the cost of factory management and administration. Variable
production overheads are those indirect costs of production that vary directly,
or nearly directly, with the volume of production, such as indirect materials
and indirect labour.

9. The allocation of fixed production overheads for the purpose of their
inclusion in the costs of conversion is based on the normal capacity of the
production facilities. Normal capacity is the production expected to be
achieved on an average over a number of periods or seasons under normal
circumstances, taking into account the loss of capacity resulting from planned
maintenance. The actual level of production may be used if it approximates
normal capacity. The amount of fixed production overheads allocated to
each unit of production is not increased as a consequence of low production
or idle plant. Unallocated overheads are recognised as an expense in the
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period in which they are incurred. In periods of abnormally high production,
the amount of fixed production overheads allocated to each unit of production
is decreased so that inventories are not measured above cost. Variable
production overheads are assigned to each unit of production on the basis of
the actual use of the production facilities.

10. A production process may result in more than one product being
produced simultaneously. This is the case, for example, when joint products
are produced or when there is a main product and a by-product. When the
costs of conversion of each product are not separately identifiable, they are
allocated between the products on a rational and consistent basis. The
allocation may be based, for example, on the relative sales value of each
product either at the stage in the production process when the products
become separately identifiable, or at the completion of production. Most
by-products as well as scrap or waste materials, by their nature, are
immaterial. When this is the case, they are often measured at net realisable
value and this value is deducted from the cost of the main product. As a
result, the carrying amount of the main product is not materially different
from its cost.

Other Costs

11. Other costs are included in the cost of inventories only to the extent
that they are incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. For example, it may be appropriate to include overheads
other than production overheads or the costs of designing products for
specific customers in the cost of inventories.

12. Interest and other borrowing costs are usually considered as not relating
to bringing the inventories to their present location and condition and are,
therefore, usually not included in the cost of inventories.

Exclusions from the Cost of Inventories

13. In determining the cost of inventories in accordance with paragraph 6,
it is appropriate to exclude certain costs and recognise them as expenses in
the period in which they are incurred. Examples of such costs are:

(a) abnormal amounts of wasted materials, labour, or other production
costs;
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(b) storage costs, unless those costs are necessary in the production
process prior to a further production stage;

(c) administrative overheads that do not contribute to bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition; and

(d) selling and distribution costs.

Cost Formulas
14. The cost of inventories of items that are not ordinarily
interchangeable and goods or services produced and segregated for specific
projects should be assigned by specific identification of their
individual costs.

15. Specific identification of cost means that specific costs are attributed
to identified items of inventory. This is an appropriate treatment for items
that are segregated for a specific project, regardless of whether they have
been purchased or produced. However, when there are large numbers of items
of inventory which are ordinarily interchangeable, specific identification of
costs is inappropriate since, in such circumstances, an enterprise could obtain
predetermined effects on the net profit or loss for the period by selecting a
particular method of ascertaining the items that remain in inventories.

16. The cost of inventories, other than those dealt with in paragraph 14,
should be assigned by using the first-in, first-out (FIFO), or weighted
average cost formula. The formula used should reflect the fairest possible
approximation to the cost incurred in bringing the items of inventory to
their present location and condition.

17. A variety of cost formulas is used to determine the cost of inventories
other than those for which specific identification of individual costs is
appropriate. The formula used in determining the cost of an item of inventory
needs to be selected with a view to providing the fairest possible
approximation to the cost incurred in bringing the item to its present location
and condition. The FIFO formula assumes that the items of inventory which
were purchased or produced first are consumed or sold first, and consequently
the items remaining in inventory at the end of the period are those most
recently purchased or produced. Under the weighted average cost formula,
the cost of each item is determined from the weighted average of the cost of
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similar items at the beginning of a period and the cost of similar items
purchased or produced during the period. The average may be calculated on
a periodic basis, or as each additional shipment is received, depending upon
the circumstances of the enterprise.

Techniques for the Measurement of Cost
18. Techniques for the measurement of the cost of inventories, such as the
standard cost method or the retail method, may be used for convenience if
the results approximate the actual cost. Standard costs take into account
normal levels of consumption of materials and supplies, labour, efficiency
and capacity utilisation. They are regularly reviewed and, if necessary, revised
in the light of current conditions.

19. The retail method is often used in the retail trade for measuring
inventories of large numbers of rapidly changing items that have similar
margins and for which it is impracticable to use other costing methods. The
cost of the inventory is determined by reducing from the sales value of the
inventory the appropriate percentage gross margin. The percentage used
takes into consideration inventory which has been marked down to below
its original selling price. An average percentage for each retail department
is often used.

Net Realisable Value
20. The cost of inventories may not be recoverable if those inventories are
damaged, if they have become wholly or partially obsolete, or if their selling
prices have declined. The cost of inventories may also not be recoverable if
the estimated costs of completion or the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale have increased. The practice of writing down inventories below cost
to net realisable value is consistent with the view that assets should not be
carried in excess of amounts expected to be realised from their sale or use.

21. Inventories are usually written down to net realisable value on an item-
by-item basis. In some circumstances, however, it may be appropriate to
group similar or related items. This may be the case with items of inventory
relating to the same product line that have similar purposes or end uses and
are produced and marketed in the same geographical area and cannot be
practicably evaluated separately from other items in that product line. It is
not appropriate to write down inventories based on a classification of
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inventory, for example, finished goods, or all the inventories in a particular
business segment.

22. Estimates of net realisable value are based on the most reliable evidence
available at the time the estimates are made as to the amount the inventories
are expected to realise. These estimates take into consideration fluctuations
of price or cost directly relating to events occurring after the balance sheet
date to the extent that such events confirm the conditions existing at the
balance sheet date.

23. Estimates of net realisable value also take into consideration the purpose
for which the inventory is held. For example, the net realisable value of the
quantity of inventory held to satisfy firm sales or service contracts is based
on the contract price. If the sales contracts are for less than the inventory
quantities held, the net realisable value of the excess inventory is based on
general selling prices. Contingent losses on firm sales contracts in excess of
inventory quantities held and contingent losses on firm purchase contracts
are dealt with in accordance with the principles enunciated in Accounting
Standard (AS) 4, Contingencies and Events Occurring After the Balance
Sheet Date2.

24. Materials and other supplies held for use in the production of
inventories are not written down below cost if the finished products in
which they will be incorporated are expected to be sold at or above cost.
However, when there has been a decline in the price of materials and it is
estimated that the cost of the finished products will exceed net realisable
value, the materials are written down to net realisable value. In such
circumstances, the replacement cost of the materials may be the best
available measure of their net realisable value.

25. An assessment is made of net realisable value as at each balance sheet
date.
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Disclosure
26. The financial statements should disclose:

(a) the accounting policies adopted in measuring inventories,
including the cost formula used; and

(b) the total carrying amount of inventories and its classification
appropriate to the enterprise.

27. Information about the carrying amounts held in different classifications
of inventories and the extent of the changes in these assets is useful to
financial statement users. Common classifications of inventories are raw
materials and components, work in progress, finished goods, stores and
spares, and loose tools.
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Accounting Standard (AS) 3*
(revised 1997)

Cash Flow Statements

[This Accounting Standard includes paragraphs set in bold italic type
and plain type, which have equal authority. Paragraphs in bold italic type
indicate the main principles. This Accounting Standard should be read in
the context of its objective, the Preface to the Statements of Accounting
Standards1 and the ‘Applicability of Accounting Standards to Various
Entities’ (See Appendix 1 to this Compendium).]

This Accounting Standard is not mandatory for Small and Medium Sized
Companies and non-corporate entities falling in Level II and Level III as
defined in Appendix 1 to this Compendium ‘Applicability of Accounting
Standards to Various Entities.’ Such entities are however encouraged to
comply with this standard.

Objective
Information about the cash flows of an enterprise is useful in providing
users of financial statements with a basis to assess the ability of the
enterprise to generate cash and cash equivalents and the needs of the
enterprise to utilise those cash flows. The economic decisions that are taken
by users require an evaluation of the ability of an enterprise to generate cash
and cash equivalents and the timing and certainty of their generation.

The Standard deals with the provision of information about the historical
changes in cash and cash equivalents of an enterprise by means of a cash
flow statement which classifies cash flows during the period from operating,
investing and financing activities.

* The Standard was originally issued in June 1981 and was titled ‘Changes in Financial
Position’.
1 Attention is specifically drawn to paragraph 4.3 of the Preface, according to which
Accounting Standards are intended to apply only to items which are material.

Cash Flow Statements 53



58 AS 3 (revised 1997)

Scope
1. An enterprise should prepare a cash flow statement and should present
it for each period for which financial statements are presented.

2. Users of an enterprise’s financial statements are interested in how the
enterprise generates and uses cash and cash equivalents. This is the case
regardless of the nature of the enterprise’s activities and irrespective of
whether cash can be viewed as the product of the enterprise, as may be the
case with a financial enterprise. Enterprises need cash for essentially the
same reasons, however different their principal revenue-producing activities
might be. They need cash to conduct their operations, to pay their obligations,
and to provide returns to their investors.

Benefits of Cash Flow Information
3. A cash flow statement, when used in conjunction with the other financial
statements, provides information that enables users to evaluate the changes
in net assets of an enterprise, its financial structure (including its liquidity
and solvency) and its ability to affect the amounts and timing of cash flows
in order to adapt to changing circumstances and opportunities. Cash flow
information is useful in assessing the ability of the enterprise to generate
cash and cash equivalents and enables users to develop models to assess
and compare the present value of the future cash flows of different
enterprises. It also enhances the comparability of the reporting of operating
performance by different enterprises because it eliminates the effects of
using different accounting treatments for the same transactions and events.

4. Historical cash flow information is often used as an indicator of the
amount, timing and certainty of future cash flows. It is also useful in checking
the accuracy of past assessments of future cash flows and in examining the
relationship between profitability and net cash flow and the impact of
changing prices.

Definitions
5. The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings
specified:

5.1. Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits with banks.
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5.2. Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value.

5.3. Cash flows are inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents.

5.4. Operating activities are the principal revenue-producing activities of
the enterprise and other activities that are not investing or financing
activities.

5.5 Investing activities are the acquisition and disposal of long-term
assets and other investments not included in cash equivalents.

5.6 Financing activities are activities that result in changes in the size
and composition of the owners’ capital (including preference share capital
in the case of a company) and borrowings of the enterprise.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
6. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or other purposes. For an investment
to qualify as a cash equivalent, it must be readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and be subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
Therefore, an investment normally qualifies as a cash equivalent only when it
has a short maturity of, say, three months or less from the date of acquisition.
Investments in shares are excluded from cash equivalents unless they are, in
substance, cash equivalents; for example, preference shares of a company
acquired shortly before their specified redemption date (provided there is only
an insignificant risk of failure of the company to repay the amount at maturity).

7. Cash flows exclude movements between items that constitute cash or
cash equivalents because these components are part of the cash management
of an enterprise rather than part of its operating, investing and financing
activities. Cash management includes the investment of excess cash in cash
equivalents.

Presentation of a Cash Flow Statement
8. The cash flow statement should report cash flows during the period
classified by operating, investing and financing activities.
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9. An enterprise presents its cash flows from operating, investing and
financing activities in a manner which is most appropriate to its business.
Classification by activity provides information that allows users to assess
the impact of those activities on the financial position of the enterprise and
the amount of its cash and cash equivalents. This information may also be
used to evaluate the relationships among those activities.

10. A single transaction may include cash flows that are classified
differently. For example, when the instalment paid in respect of a fixed
asset acquired on deferred payment basis includes both interest and loan,
the interest element is classified under financing activities and the loan
element is classified under investing activities.

Operating Activities
11. The amount of cash flows arising from operating activities is a key
indicator of the extent to which the operations of the enterprise have generated
sufficient cash flows to maintain the operating capability of the enterprise,
pay dividends, repay loans and make new investments without recourse to
external sources of financing. Information about the specific components
of historical operating cash flows is useful, in conjunction with other
information, in forecasting future operating cash flows.

12. Cash flows from operating activities are primarily derived from the
principal revenue-producing activities of the enterprise. Therefore, they
generally result from the transactions and other events that enter into the
determination of net profit or loss. Examples of cash flows from operating
activities are:

(a) cash receipts from the sale of goods and the rendering of services;

(b) cash receipts from royalties, fees, commissions and other revenue;

(c) cash payments to suppliers for goods and services;

(d) cash payments to and on behalf of employees;

(e) cash receipts and cash payments of an insurance enterprise for
premiums and claims, annuities and other policy benefits;

(f) cash payments or refunds of income taxes unless they can be
specifically identified with financing and investing activities; and
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(g) cash receipts and payments relating to futures contracts, forward
contracts, option contracts and swap contracts when the contracts
are held for dealing or trading purposes.

13. Some transactions, such as the sale of an item of plant, may give rise
to a gain or loss which is included in the determination of net profit or loss.
However, the cash flows relating to such transactions are cash flows from
investing activities.

14. An enterprise may hold securities and loans for dealing or trading
purposes, in which case they are similar to inventory acquired specifically
for resale. Therefore, cash flows arising from the purchase and sale of dealing
or trading securities are classified as operating activities. Similarly, cash
advances and loans made by financial enterprises are usually classified as
operating activities since they relate to the main revenue-producing activity
of that enterprise.

Investing Activities
15. The separate disclosure of cash flows arising from investing activities
is important because the cash flows represent the extent to which expenditures
have been made for resources intended to generate future income and cash
flows. Examples of cash flows arising from investing activities are:

(a) cash payments to acquire fixed assets (including intangibles).
These payments include those relating to capitalised research and
development costs and self-constructed fixed assets;

(b) cash receipts from disposal of fixed assets (including intangibles);

(c) cash payments to acquire shares, warrants or debt instruments of
other enterprises and interests in joint ventures (other than
payments for those instruments considered to be cash equivalents
and those held for dealing or trading purposes);

(d) cash receipts from disposal of shares, warrants or debt instruments
of other enterprises and interests in joint ventures (other than
receipts from those instruments considered to be cash equivalents
and those held for dealing or trading purposes);

(e) cash advances and loans made to third parties (other than advances
and loans made by a financial enterprise);
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(f) cash receipts from the repayment of advances and loans made to
third parties (other than advances and loans of a financial
enterprise);

(g) cash payments for futures contracts, forward contracts, option
contracts and swap contracts except when the contracts are held
for dealing or trading purposes, or the payments are classified as
financing activities; and

(h) cash receipts from futures contracts, forward contracts, option
contracts and swap contracts except when the contracts are held
for dealing or trading purposes, or the receipts are classified as
financing activities.

16. When a contract is accounted for as a hedge of an identifiable position,
the cash flows of the contract are classified in the same manner as the cash
flows of the position being hedged.

Financing Activities
17. The separate disclosure of cash flows arising from financing activities
is important because it is useful in predicting claims on future cash flows by
providers of funds (both capital and borrowings) to the enterprise. Examples
of cash flows arising from financing activities are:

(a) cash proceeds from issuing shares or other similar instruments;

(b) cash proceeds from issuing debentures, loans, notes, bonds, and
other short or long-term borrowings; and

(c) cash repayments of amounts borrowed.

Reporting Cash Flows from Operating Activities
18. An enterprise should report cash flows from operating activities using
either:

(a) the direct method, whereby major classes of gross cash receipts
and gross cash payments are disclosed; or

(b) the indirect method, whereby net profit or loss is adjusted for
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the effects of transactions of a non-cash nature, any deferrals
or accruals of past or future operating cash receipts or
payments, and items of income or expense associated with
investing or financing cash flows.

19. The direct method provides information which may be useful in
estimating future cash flows and which is not available under the indirect
method and is, therefore, considered more appropriate than the indirect
method. Under the direct method, information about major classes of gross
cash receipts and gross cash payments may be obtained either:

(a) from the accounting records of the enterprise; or

(b) by adjusting sales, cost of sales (interest and similar income and
interest expense and similar charges for a financial enterprise)
and other items in the statement of profit and loss for:

i) changes during the period in inventories and operating
receivables and payables;

ii) other non-cash items; and

iii) other items for which the cash effects are investing or
financing cash flows.

20. Under the indirect method, the net cash flow from operating activities
is determined by adjusting net profit or loss for the effects of:

(a) changes during the period in inventories and operating receivables
and payables;

(b) non-cash items such as depreciation, provisions, deferred taxes,
and unrealised foreign exchange gains and losses; and

(c) all other items for which the cash effects are investing or financing
cash flows.

Alternatively, the net cash flow from operating activities may be presented
under the indirect method by showing the operating revenues and expenses
excluding non-cash items disclosed in the statement of profit and loss and
the changes during the period in inventories and operating receivables and
payables.
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Reporting Cash Flows from Investing and
Financing Activities
21. An enterprise should report separately major classes of gross cash
receipts and gross cash payments arising from investing and financing
activities, except to the extent that cash flows described in paragraphs 22
and 24 are reported on a net basis.

Reporting Cash Flows on a Net Basis
22. Cash flows arising from the following operating, investing or
financing activities may be reported on a net basis:

(a) cash receipts and payments on behalf of customers when the
cash flows reflect the activities of the customer rather than those
of the enterprise; and

(b) cash receipts and payments for items in which the turnover is
quick, the amounts are large, and the maturities are short.

23. Examples of cash receipts and payments referred to in paragraph 22(a)
are:

(a) the acceptance and repayment of demand deposits by a bank;

(b) funds held for customers by an investment enterprise; and

(c) rents collected on behalf of, and paid over to, the owners of
properties.

Examples of cash receipts and payments referred to in paragraph 22(b) are
advances made for, and the repayments of:

(a) principal amounts relating to credit card customers;

(b) the purchase and sale of investments; and

(c) other short-term borrowings, for example, those which have a
maturity period of three months or less.
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24. Cash flows arising from each of the following activities of a financial
enterprise may be reported on a net basis:

(a) cash receipts and payments for the acceptance and repayment
of deposits with a fixed maturity date;

(b) the placement of deposits with and withdrawal of deposits from
other financial enterprises; and

(c) cash advances and loans made to customers and the repayment
of those advances and loans.

Foreign Currency Cash Flows
25. Cash flows arising from transactions in a foreign currency should
be recorded in an enterprise’s reporting currency by applying to the foreign
currency amount the exchange rate between the reporting currency and
the foreign currency at the date of the cash flow. A rate that approximates
the actual rate may be used if the result is substantially the same as would
arise if the rates at the dates of the cash flows were used. The effect of
changes in exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents held in a foreign
currency should be reported as a separate part of the reconciliation of the
changes in cash and cash equivalents during the period.

26. Cash flows denominated in foreign currency are reported in a manner
consistent with Accounting Standard (AS) 11, The Effects of Changes in
Foreign Exchange Rates. This permits the use of an exchange rate that
approximates the actual rate. For example, a weighted average exchange
rate for a period may be used for recording foreign currency transactions.

27. Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in foreign exchange
rates are not cash flows. However, the effect of exchange rate changes on
cash and cash equivalents held or due in a foreign currency is reported in
the cash flow statement in order to reconcile cash and cash equivalents at
the beginning and the end of the period. This amount is presented separately
from cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities and
includes the differences, if any, had those cash flows been reported at the
end-of-period exchange rates.
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Extraordinary Items
28. The cash flows associated with extraordinary items should be
classified as arising from operating, investing or financing activities as
appropriate and separately disclosed.

29. The cash flows associated with extraordinary items are disclosed
separately as arising from operating, investing or financing activities in the
cash flow statement, to enable users to understand their nature and effect on
the present and future cash flows of the enterprise. These disclosures are in
addition to the separate disclosures of the nature and amount of extraordinary
items required by Accounting Standard (AS) 5, Net Profit or Loss for the
Period, Prior Period Items and Changes in Accounting Policies.

Interest and Dividends
30. Cash flows from interest and dividends received and paid should
each be disclosed separately. Cash flows arising from interest paid and
interest and dividends received in the case of a financial enterprise
should be classified as cash flows arising from operating activities. In the
case of other enterprises, cash flows arising from interest paid should be
classified as cash flows from financing activities while interest and
dividends received should be classified as cash flows from investing
activities. Dividends paid should be classified as cash flows from financing
activities.

31. The total amount of interest paid during the period is disclosed in the
cash flow statement whether it has been recognised as an expense in the
statement of profit and loss or capitalised in accordance with Accounting
Standard (AS) 10, Accounting for Fixed Assets.

32. Interest paid and interest and dividends received are usually classified
as operating cash flows for a financial enterprise. However, there is no
consensus on the classification of these cash flows for other enterprises.
Some argue that interest paid and interest and dividends received may be
classified as operating cash flows because they enter into the determination
of net profit or loss. However, it is more appropriate that interest paid and
interest and dividends received are classified as financing cash flows and
investing cash flows respectively, because they are cost of obtaining financial
resources or returns on investments.
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33. Some argue that dividends paid may be classified as a component of
cash flows from operating activities in order to assist users to determine the
ability of an enterprise to pay dividends out of operating cash flows. However,
it is considered more appropriate that dividends paid should be classified as
cash flows from financing activities because they are cost of obtaining
financial resources.

Taxes on Income
34. Cash flows arising from taxes on income should be separately
disclosed and should be classified as cash flows from operating activities
unless they can be specifically identified with financing and investing
activities.

35. Taxes on income arise on transactions that give rise to cash flows that
are classified as operating, investing or financing activities in a cash flow
statement. While tax expense may be readily identifiable with investing or
financing activities, the related tax cash flows are often impracticable to
identify and may arise in a different period from the cash flows of the
underlying transactions. Therefore, taxes paid are usually classified as cash
flows from operating activities. However, when it is practicable to identify
the tax cash flow with an individual transaction that gives rise to cash flows
that are classified as investing or financing activities, the tax cash flow is
classified as an investing or financing activity as appropriate. When tax cash
flow are allocated over more than one class of activity, the total amount of
taxes paid is disclosed.

Investments in Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint
Ventures
36. When accounting for an investment in an associate or a subsidiary
or a joint venture, an investor restricts its reporting in the cash flow
statement to the cash flows between itself and the investee/joint venture,
for example, cash flows relating to dividends and advances.

Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries and
Other Business Units
37. The aggregate cash flows arising from acquisitions and from
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disposals of subsidiaries or other business units should be presented
separately and classified as investing activities.

38. An enterprise should disclose, in aggregate, in respect of both
acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries or other business units during
the period each of the following:

(a) the total purchase or disposal consideration; and

(b) the portion of the purchase or disposal consideration discharged
by means of cash and cash equivalents.

39. The separate presentation of the cash flow effects of acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries and other business units as single line items helps
to distinguish those cash flows from other cash flows. The cash flow effects
of disposals are not deducted from those of acquisitions.

Non-cash Transactions
40. Investing and financing transactions that do not require the use of
cash or cash equivalents should be excluded from a cash flow statement.
Such transactions should be disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements
in a way that provides all the relevant information about these investing
and financing activities.

41. Many investing and financing activities do not have a direct impact on
current cash flows although they do affect the capital and asset structure of
an enterprise. The exclusion of non-cash transactions from the cash flow
statement is consistent with the objective of a cash flow statement as these
items do not involve cash flows in the current period. Examples of non-cash
transactions are:

(a) the acquisition of assets by assuming directly related liabilities;

(b) the acquisition of an enterprise by means of issue of shares; and

(c) the conversion of debt to equity.

Components of Cash and Cash Equivalents
42. An enterprise should disclose the components of cash and cash
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equivalents and should present a reconciliation of the amounts in its cash
flow statement with the equivalent items reported in the balance sheet.

43. In view of the variety of cash management practices, an enterprise
discloses the policy which it adopts in determining the composition of cash
and cash equivalents.

44. The effect of any change in the policy for determining components of
cash and cash equivalents is reported in accordance with Accounting Standard
(AS) 5, Net Profit or Loss for the Period, Prior Period Items and Changes in
Accounting Policies.

Other Disclosures
45. An enterprise should disclose, together with a commentary by
management, the amount of significant cash and cash equivalent balances
held by the enterprise that are not available for use by it.

46. There are various circumstances in which cash and cash equivalent
balances held by an enterprise are not available for use by it. Examples
include cash and cash equivalent balances held by a branch of the enterprise
that operates in a country where exchange controls or other legal restrictions
apply as a result of which the balances are not available for use by the
enterprise.

47. Additional information may be relevant to users in understanding
the financial position and liquidity of an enterprise. Disclosure of this
information, together with a commentary by management, is encouraged
and may include:

(a) the amount of undrawn borrowing facilities that may be available
for future operating activities and to settle capital commitments,
indicating any restrictions on the use of these facilities; and

(b) the aggregate amount of cash flows that represent increases in
operating capacity separately from those cash flows that are
required to maintain operating capacity.

48. The separate disclosure of cash flows that represent increases in
operating capacity and cash flows that are required to maintain operating
capacity is useful in enabling the user to determine whether the enterprise is
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investing adequately in the maintenance of its operating capacity. An
enterprise that does not invest adequately in the maintenance of its operating
capacity may be prejudicing future profitability for the sake of current
liquidity and distributions to owners.
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Illustration I

Cash Flow Statement for an Enterprise other than a
Financial Enterprise
This illustration does not form part of the accounting standard. Its
purpose is to illustrate the application of the accounting standard.

1. The illustration shows only current period amounts.

2. Information from the statement of profit and loss and balance sheet is
provided to show how the statements of cash flows under the direct method
and the indirect method have been derived. Neither the statement of profit
and loss nor the balance sheet is presented in conformity with the disclosure
and presentation requirements of applicable laws and accounting standards.
The working notes given towards the end of this illustration are intended to
assist in understanding the manner in which the various figures appearing
in the cash flow statement have been derived. These working notes do not
form part of the cash flow statement and, accordingly, need not be published.

3. The following additional information is also relevant for the preparation
of the statement of cash flows (figures are in Rs.’000).

(a) An amount of 250 was raised from the issue of share capital and
a further 250 was raised from long term borrowings.

(b) Interest expense was 400 of which 170 was paid during the period.
100 relating to interest expense of the prior period was also paid
during the period.

(c) Dividends paid were 1,200.

(d) Tax deducted at source on dividends received (included in the
tax expense of 300 for the year) amounted to 40.

(e) During the period, the enterprise acquired fixed assets for 350.
The payment was made in cash.

(f) Plant with original cost of 80 and accumulated depreciation of
60 was sold for 20.
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(g) Foreign exchange loss of 40 represents the reduction in the
carrying amount of a short-term investment in foreign-currency
designated bonds arising out of a change in exchange rate between
the date of acquisition of the investment and the balance sheet
date.

(h) Sundry debtors and sundry creditors include amounts relating to
credit sales and credit purchases only.

Balance Sheet as at 31.12.1996

(Rs. ’000)

1996 1995

Assets

Cash on hand and balances with banks 200 25
Short-term investments 670 135
Sundry debtors 1,700 1,200
Interest receivable 100 –
Inventories 900 1,950
Long-term investments 2,500 2,500
Fixed assets at cost                    2,180    1,910
Accumulated depreciation                  (1,450)  (1,060)
Fixed assets (net) 730 850
Total assets 6,800 6,660

Liabilities
Sundry creditors 150 1,890
Interest payable 230 100
Income taxes payable 400 1,000
Long-term debt 1,110 1,040
Total liabilities 1,890 4,030

Shareholders’ Funds
Share capital 1,500 1,250
Reserves 3,410 1,380
Total shareholders’ funds 4,910 2,630
Total liabilities and shareholders’ funds 6,800 6,660
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Statement of Profit and Loss for the period ended 31.12.1996

(Rs. ’000)

Sales 30,650
Cost of sales (26,000)
Gross profit 4,650
Depreciation (450)
Administrative and selling expenses (910)
Interest expense (400)
Interest income 300
Dividend income 200
Foreign exchange loss (40)
Net profit before taxation and extraordinary item 3,350
Extraordinary item – Insurance proceeds from
earthquake disaster settlement 180
Net profit after extraordinary item 3,530
Income-tax (300)
Net profit 3,230

Direct Method Cash Flow Statement [Paragraph 18(a)]

(Rs. ’000)

1996
Cash flows from operating activities

Cash receipts from customers 30,150
Cash paid to suppliers and employees (27,600)
Cash generated from operations 2,550
Income taxes paid (860)
Cash flow before extraordinary item 1,690
Proceeds from earthquake disaster settlement 180

Net cash from operating activities 1,870

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of fixed assets (350)
Proceeds from sale of equipment 20
Interest received 200
Dividends received 160

Net cash from investing activities 30
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Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of share capital 250
Proceeds from long-term borrowings 250
Repayment of long-term borrowings (180)
Interest paid (270)
Dividends paid (1,200)

Net cash used in financing activities (1,150)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 750

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
(see Note 1) 160

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period
(see Note 1) 910

Indirect Method Cash Flow Statement [Paragraph 18(b)]

(Rs. ’000)

1996

Cash flows from operating activities

Net profit before taxation, and extraordinary item 3,350
Adjustments for:

Depreciation 450
Foreign exchange loss 40
Interest income (300)
Dividend income (200)
Interest expense 400

Operating profit before working capital changes 3,740
Increase in sundry debtors (500)
Decrease in inventories 1,050
Decrease in sundry creditors (1,740)
Cash generated from operations 2,550
Income taxes paid (860)
Cash flow before extraordinary item 1,690
Proceeds from earthquake disaster settlement 180

Net cash from operating activities 1,870
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Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of fixed assets (350)
Proceeds from sale of equipment 20
Interest received 200
Dividends received 160

Net cash from investing activities 30

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of share capital 250
Proceeds from long-term borrowings 250
Repayment of long-term borrowings (180)
Interest paid (270)
Dividends paid (1,200)

Net cash used in financing activities (1,150)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 750

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
(see Note 1) 160

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period (see Note 1) 910

Notes to the cash flow statement
(direct method and indirect method)

1. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and balances with banks,
and investments in money-market instruments. Cash and cash equivalents
included in the cash flow statement comprise the following balance sheet
amounts.

1996 1995

Cash on hand and balances with banks   200   25
Short-term investments   670 135
Cash and cash equivalents   870 160
Effect of exchange rate changes     40    –
Cash and cash equivalents as restated   910 160
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Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period include deposits with
banks of 100 held by a branch which are not freely remissible to the company
because of currency exchange restrictions.

The company has undrawn borrowing facilities of 2,000 of which 700 may
be used only for future expansion.

2. Total tax paid during the year (including tax deducted at source on
dividends received) amounted to 900.

Alternative Presentation (indirect method)

As an alternative, in an indirect method cash flow statement, operating profit
before working capital changes is sometimes presented as follows:

Revenues excluding investment income 30,650
Operating expense excluding depreciation (26,910)
Operating profit before working capital changes 3,740

Working Notes

The working notes given below do not form part of the cash flow statement
and, accordingly, need not be published. The purpose of these working
notes is merely to assist in understanding the manner in which various
figures in the cash flow statement have been derived. (Figures are in
Rs. ’000.)

1. Cash receipts from customers

Sales 30,650

Add: Sundry debtors at the beginning of the year 1,200
31,850

Less : Sundry debtors at the end of the year 1,700
30,150
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2. Cash paid to suppliers and employees

Cost of sales 26,000
Administrative and selling expenses 910

26,910
Add: Sundry creditors at the beginning of the 1,890

year
Inventories at the end of the year 900 2,790

29,700
Less:Sundry creditors at the end of the year 150

Inventories at the beginning of the year 1,950 2,100
27,600

3. Income taxes paid (including tax deducted at source from dividends
received)

Income tax expense for the year (including tax deducted 300
at source from dividends received)
Add : Income tax liability at the beginning of the year 1,000

1,300
Less: Income tax liability at the end of the year 400

900

Out of 900, tax deducted at source on dividends received (amounting to 40)
is included in cash flows from investing activities and the balance of 860 is
included in cash flows from operating activities (see paragraph 34).

4. Repayment of long-term borrowings

Long-term debt at the beginning of the year 1,040
Add : Long-term borrowings made during the year 250

1,290
Less : Long-term borrowings at the end of the year 1,110

180

5. Interest paid

Interest expense for the year 400
Add: Interest payable at the beginning of the year 100

500
Less: Interest payable at the end of the year 230

270
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Illustration II
Cash Flow Statement for a Financial Enterprise

This illustration does not form part of the accounting standard. Its purpose
is to illustrate the application of the accounting standard.

1. The illustration shows only current period amounts.

2. The illustration is presented using the direct method.

(Rs. ’000)
1996

Cash flows from operating activities

Interest and commission receipts 28,447
Interest payments (23,463)
Recoveries on loans previously written off 237
Cash payments to employees and suppliers (997)
Operating profit before changes in operating assets 4,224

(Increase) decrease in operating assets:

Short-term funds (650)
Deposits held for regulatory or monetary control purposes 234
Funds advanced to customers (288)
Net increase in credit card receivables (360)
Other short-term securities (120)

Increase (decrease) in operating liabilities:

Deposits from customers 600
Certificates of deposit (200)
Net cash from operating activities before income tax 3,440
Income taxes paid (100)
Net cash from operating activities 3,340

Cash flows from investing activities

Dividends received 250
Interest received 300
Proceeds from sales of permanent investments 1,200
Purchase of permanent investments (600)
Purchase of fixed assets (500)

Net cash from investing activities 650
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Cash flows from financing activities

Issue of shares 1,800
Repayment of long-term borrowings (200)
Net decrease in other borrowings (1,000)
Dividends paid (400)

Net cash from financing activities 200

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 4,190

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 4,650

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 8,840
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Accounting Standard (AS) 4*
(revised 1995)

Contingencies1 and Events Occurring
After the Balance Sheet Date

[This Accounting Standard includes paragraphs set in bold italic type
and plain type, which have equal authority. Paragraphs in bold italic type
indicate the main principles. This Accounting Standard should be read in
the context of the Preface to the Statements of Accounting Standards2 and
the ‘Applicability of Accounting Standards to Various Entities’ (See Appendix
1 to this Compendium).]

Introduction
1. This Standard deals with the treatment in financial statements of

(a) contingencies3, and

(b) events occurring after the balance sheet date.

*The Standard was originally issued in November 1982.
1 Pursuant to AS 29, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets,
becoming mandatory in respect of accounting periods commencing on or after 1-4-
2004, all paragraphs of this Standard that deal with contingencies (viz. paragraphs
1(a), 2, 3.1, 4 (4.1 to 4.4), 5 (5.1 to 5.6), 6, 7 (7.1 to 7.3), 9.1 (relevant portion), 9.2,
10, 11, 12 and 16) stand withdrawn except to the extent they deal with impairment of
assets not covered by other Indian Accounting Standards. For example, impairment
of receivables (commonly referred to as the provision for bad and doubtful debts),
would continue to be covered by AS 4.  (See Announcement on ‘Applicability of AS
4 to impairment of assets not covered by present Accounting Standards’ (published
in ‘The Chartered Accountant’, April 2004, pp. 1151)). This Announcement is
reproduced under the section titled ‘Announcements of the Council regarding status
of various documents issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India’
appearing at the beginning of this Compendium.
2 Attention is specifically drawn to paragraph 4.3 of the Preface, according to which
Accounting Standards are intended to apply only to items which are material.
3 See footnote 1.

76 AS 4 (revised 1995)
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2. The following subjects, which may result in contingencies, are excluded
from the scope of this Standard in view of special considerations applicable
to them:

(a) liabilities of life assurance and general insurance enterprises
arising from policies issued;

(b) obligations under retirement benefit plans; and

(c) commitments arising from long-term lease contracts.

Definitions
3. The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings
specified:

3.1 A contingency is a condition or situation, the ultimate outcome of
which, gain or loss, will be known or determined only on the occurrence,
or non-occurrence, of one or more uncertain future events.

3.2 Events occurring after the balance sheet date are those significant
events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur between the balance
sheet date and the date on which the financial statements are approved by
the Board of Directors in the case of a company, and, by the corresponding
approving authority in the case of any other entity.

Two types of events can be identified:

(a) those which provide further evidence of conditions that existed
at the balance sheet date; and

(b) those which are indicative of conditions that arose subsequent
to the balance sheet date.

Explanation

4. Contingencies
4.1 The term “contingencies” used in this Standard is restricted to
conditions or situations at the balance sheet date, the financial effect of
which is to be determined by future events which may or may not occur.
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4.2 Estimates are required for determining the amounts to be stated in the
financial statements for many on-going and recurring activities of an
enterprise. One must, however, distinguish between an event which is certain
and one which is uncertain. The fact that an estimate is involved does not,
of itself, create the type of uncertainty which characterises a contingency.
For example, the fact that estimates of useful life are used to determine
depreciation, does not make depreciation a contingency; the eventual expiry
of the useful life of the asset is not uncertain. Also, amounts owed for services
received are not contingencies as defined in paragraph 3.1, even though the
amounts may have been estimated, as there is nothing uncertain about the
fact that these obligations have been incurred.

4.3 The uncertainty relating to future events can be expressed by a range
of outcomes. This range may be presented as quantified probabilities, but
in most circumstances, this suggests a level of precision that is not
supported by the available information. The possible outcomes can,
therefore, usually be generally described except where reasonable
quantification is practicable.

4.4 The estimates of the outcome and of the financial effect of
contingencies are determined by the judgement of the management of the
enterprise. This judgement is based on consideration of information
available up to the date on which the financial statements are approved
and will include a review of events occurring after the balance sheet date,
supplemented by experience of similar transactions and, in some cases,
reports from independent experts.

5. Accounting Treatment of Contingent Losses
5.1 The accounting treatment of a contingent loss is determined by the
expected outcome of the contingency. If it is likely that a contingency will
result in a loss to the enterprise, then it is prudent to provide for that loss in
the financial statements.

5.2 The estimation of the amount of a contingent loss to be provided for
in the financial statements may be based on information referred to in
paragraph 4.4.

5.3 If there is conflicting or insufficient evidence for estimating the amount
of a contingent loss, then disclosure is made of the existence and nature of
the contingency.
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5.4 A potential loss to an enterprise may be reduced or avoided because
a contingent liability is matched by a related counter-claim or claim against
a third party. In such cases, the amount of the provision is determined
after taking into account the probable recovery under the claim if no
significant uncertainty as to its measurability or collectability exists.
Suitable disclosure regarding the nature and gross amount of the contingent
liability is also made.

5.5 The existence and amount of guarantees, obligations arising from
discounted bills of exchange and similar obligations undertaken by an
enterprise are generally disclosed in financial statements by way of note,
even though the possibility that a loss to the enterprise will occur, is
remote.

5.6 Provisions for contingencies are not made in respect of general or
unspecified business risks since they do not relate to conditions or situations
existing at the balance sheet date.

6. Accounting Treatment of Contingent Gains
Contingent gains are not recognised in financial statements since their
recognition may result in the recognition of revenue which may never be
realised. However, when the realisation of a gain is virtually certain, then
such gain is not a contingency and accounting for the gain is appropriate.

7. Determination of the Amounts at which Contingencies
are included in Financial Statements
7.1 The amount at which a contingency is stated in the financial statements
is based on the information which is available at the date on which the
financial statements are approved. Events occurring after the balance sheet
date that indicate that an asset may have been impaired, or that a liability
may have existed, at the balance sheet date are, therefore, taken into account
in identifying contingencies and in determining the amounts at which such
contingencies are included in financial statements.

7.2 In some cases, each contingency can be separately identified, and the
special circumstances of each situation considered in the determination of
the amount of the contingency. A substantial legal claim against the enterprise
may represent such a contingency. Among the factors taken into account by
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management in evaluating such a contingency are the progress of the claim
at the date on which the financial statements are approved, the opinions,
wherever necessary, of legal experts or other advisers, the experience of the
enterprise in similar cases and the experience of other enterprises in similar
situations.

7.3 If the uncertainties which created a contingency in respect of an
individual transaction are common to a large number of similar transactions,
then the amount of the contingency need not be individually determined,
but may be based on the group of similar transactions. An example of such
contingencies may be the estimated uncollectable portion of accounts
receivable. Another example of such contingencies may be the warranties
for products sold. These costs are usually incurred frequently and experience
provides a means by which the amount of the liability or loss can be estimated
with reasonable precision although the particular transactions that may result
in a liability or a loss are not identified. Provision for these costs results in
their recognition in the same accounting period in which the related
transactions took place.

8. Events Occurring after the Balance Sheet Date
8.1 Events which occur between the balance sheet date and the date on
which the financial statements are approved, may indicate the need for
adjustments to assets and liabilities as at the balance sheet date or may require
disclosure.

8.2 Adjustments to assets and liabilities are required for events occurring
after the balance sheet date that provide additional information materially
affecting the determination of the amounts relating to conditions existing at
the balance sheet date. For example, an adjustment may be made for a loss
on a trade receivable account which is confirmed by the insolvency of a
customer which occurs after the balance sheet date.

8.3 Adjustments to assets and liabilities are not appropriate for events
occurring after the balance sheet date, if such events do not relate to
conditions existing at the balance sheet date. An example is the decline in
market value of investments between the balance sheet date and the date on
which the financial statements are approved. Ordinary fluctuations in market
values do not normally relate to the condition of the investments at the
balance sheet date, but reflect circumstances which have occurred in the
following period.
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8.4 Events occurring after the balance sheet date which do not affect the
figures stated in the financial statements would not normally require
disclosure in the financial statements although they may be of such
significance that they may require a disclosure in the report of the approving
authority to enable users of financial statements to make proper evaluations
and decisions.

8.5 There are events which, although they take place after the balance
sheet date, are sometimes reflected in the financial statements because of
statutory requirements or because of their special nature. Such items include
the amount of dividend proposed or declared by the enterprise after the
balance sheet date in respect of the period covered by the financial statements.

8.6 Events occurring after the balance sheet date may indicate that the
enterprise ceases to be a going concern. A deterioration in operating results
and financial position, or unusual changes affecting the existence or
substratum of the enterprise after the balance sheet date (e.g., destruction of
a major production plant by a fire after the balance sheet date) may indicate
a need to consider whether it is proper to use the fundamental accounting
assumption of going concern in the preparation of the financial statements.

9. Disclosure
9.1 The disclosure requirements herein referred to apply only in respect of
those contingencies or events which affect the financial position to a material
extent.

9.2 If a contingent loss is not provided for, its nature and an estimate of its
financial effect are generally disclosed by way of note unless the possibility
of a loss is remote (other than the circumstances mentioned in paragraph
5.5). If a reliable estimate of the financial effect cannot be made, this fact is
disclosed.

9.3 When the events occurring after the balance sheet date are disclosed
in the report of the approving authority, the information given comprises
the nature of the events and an estimate of their financial effects or a statement
that such an estimate cannot be made.
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Main Principles

Contingencies4

10. The amount of a contingent loss should be provided for by a charge
in the statement of profit and loss if:

(a) it is probable that future events will confirm that, after taking
into account any related probable recovery, an asset has been
impaired or a liability has been incurred as at the balance sheet
date, and

(b) a reasonable estimate of the amount of the resulting loss can
be made.

11. The existence of a contingent loss should be disclosed in the financial
statements if either of the conditions in paragraph 10 is not met, unless
the possibility of a loss is remote.

12. Contingent gains should not be recognised in the financial
statements.

Events Occurring after the Balance Sheet Date
13. Assets and liabilities should be adjusted for events occurring after
the balance sheet date that provide additional evidence to assist the
estimation of amounts relating to conditions existing at the balance sheet
date or that indicate that the fundamental accounting assumption of
going concern (i.e., the continuance of existence or substratum of the
enterprise) is not appropriate.

14. Dividends stated to be in respect of the period covered by the financial
statements, which are proposed or declared by the enterprise after the
balance sheet date but before approval of the financial statements, should
be adjusted.

15. Disclosure should be made in the report of the approving authority
of those events occurring after the balance sheet date that represent
material changes and commitments affecting the financial position of the
enterprise.

4 See also footnote 1.
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Disclosure
16. If disclosure of contingencies is required by paragraph 11 of this
Standard, the following information should be provided:

(a) the nature of the contingency;

(b) the uncertainties which may affect the future outcome;

(c) an estimate of the financial effect, or a statement that such an
estimate cannot be made.

17. If disclosure of events occurring after the balance sheet date in the
report of the approving authority is required by paragraph 15 of this
Standard, the following information should be provided:

(a) the nature of the event;

(b) an estimate of the financial effect, or a statement that such an
estimate cannot be made.
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Accounting Standard (AS) 5*
(revised 1997)

Net Profit or Loss for the Period,
Prior Period Items and
Changes in Accounting Policies

[This Accounting Standard includes paragraphs set in bold italic type
and plain type, which have equal authority. Paragraphs in bold italic type
indicate the main principles. This Accounting Standard should be read in
the context of its objective, the Preface to the Statements of Accounting
Standards1 and the ‘Applicability of Accounting Standards to Various
Entities’ (See Appendix 1 to this Compendium).]

Objective
The objective of this Standard is to prescribe the classification and disclosure
of certain items in the statement of profit and loss so that all enterprises
prepare and present such a statement on a uniform basis. This enhances the
comparability of the financial statements of an enterprise over time and with
the financial statements of other enterprises. Accordingly, this Standard
requires the classification and disclosure of extraordinary and prior period
items, and the disclosure of certain items within profit or loss from ordinary
activities. It also specifies the accounting treatment for changes in accounting
estimates and the disclosures to be made in the financial statements regarding
changes in accounting policies.

Scope
1. This Standard should be applied by an enterprise in presenting
profit or loss from ordinary activities, extraordinary items and prior

* A limited revision was made in 2001, pursuant to which paragraph 33 has been added
in this standard (see footnote 2).  The Standard was originally issued in November
1982 and was titled ‘Prior Period and Extraordinary Items and Changes in Accounting
Policies’.
1 Attention is specifically drawn to paragraph 4.3 of the Preface, according to which
Accounting Standards are intended to apply only to items which are material.
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period items in the statement of profit and loss, in accounting for changes
in accounting estimates, and in disclosure of changes in accounting
policies.

2. This Standard deals with, among other matters, the disclosure of certain
items of net profit or loss for the period. These disclosures are made in
addition to any other disclosures required by other Accounting Standards.

3. This Standard does not deal with the tax implications of extraordinary
items, prior period items, changes in accounting estimates, and changes in
accounting policies for which appropriate adjustments will have to be made
depending on the circumstances.

Definitions
4. The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings
specified:

4.1. Ordinary activities are any activities which are undertaken by an
enterprise as part of its business and such related activities in which the
enterprise engages in furtherance of, incidental to, or arising from, these
activities.

4.2. Extraordinary items are income or expenses that arise from events or
transactions that are clearly distinct from the ordinary activities of the
enterprise and, therefore, are not expected to recur frequently or regularly.

4.3. Prior period items are income or expenses which arise in the current
period as a result of errors or omissions in the preparation of the financial
statements of one or more prior periods.

4.4. Accounting policies are the specific accounting principles and the
methods of applying those principles adopted by an enterprise in the
preparation and presentation of financial statements.

Net Profit or Loss for the Period
5. All items of income and expense which are recognised in a period
should be included in the determination of net profit or loss for the period
unless an Accounting Standard requires or permits otherwise.
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6. Normally, all items of income and expense which are recognised in a
period are included in the determination of the net profit or loss for the
period. This includes extraordinary items and the effects of changes in
accounting estimates.

7. The net profit or loss for the period comprises the following
components, each of which should be disclosed on the face of the statement
of profit and loss:

(a) profit or loss from ordinary activities; and

(b) extraordinary items.

Extraordinary Items
8. Extraordinary items should be disclosed in the statement of profit
and loss as a part of net profit or loss for the period. The nature and the
amount of each extraordinary item should be separately disclosed in the
statement of profit and loss in a manner that its impact on current profit
or loss can be perceived.

9. Virtually all items of income and expense included in the determination
of net profit or loss for the period arise in the course of the ordinary activities
of the enterprise. Therefore, only on rare occasions does an event or
transaction give rise to an extraordinary item.

10. Whether an event or transaction is clearly distinct from the ordinary
activities of the enterprise is determined by the nature of the event or transaction
in relation to the business ordinarily carried on by the enterprise rather than
by the frequency with which such events are expected to occur. Therefore, an
event or transaction may be extraordinary for one enterprise but not so for
another enterprise because of the differences between their respective ordinary
activities. For example, losses sustained as a result of an earthquake may
qualify as an extraordinary item for many enterprises. However, claims from
policyholders arising from an earthquake do not qualify as an extraordinary
item for an insurance enterprise that insures against such risks.
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11. Examples of events or transactions that generally give rise to
extraordinary items for most enterprises are:

– attachment of property of the enterprise; or

– an earthquake.

Profit or Loss from Ordinary Activities
12. When items of income and expense within profit or loss from
ordinary activities are of such size, nature or incidence that their
disclosure is relevant to explain the performance of the enterprise for
the period, the nature and amount of such items should be disclosed
separately.

13. Although the items of income and expense described in paragraph 12
are not extraordinary items, the nature and amount of such items may be
relevant to users of financial statements in understanding the financial
position and performance of an enterprise and in making projections about
financial position and performance. Disclosure of such information is
sometimes made in the notes to the financial statements.

14. Circumstances which may give rise to the separate disclosure of items
of income and expense in accordance with paragraph 12 include:

(a) the write-down of inventories to net realisable value as well as
the reversal of such write-downs;

(b) a restructuring of the activities of an enterprise and the reversal
of any provisions for the costs of restructuring;

(c) disposals of items of fixed assets;

(d) disposals of long-term investments;

(e) legislative changes having retrospective application;

(f) litigation settlements; and

(g) other reversals of provisions.
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Prior Period Items
15. The nature and amount of prior period items should be separately
disclosed in the statement of profit and loss in a manner that their impact
on the current profit or loss can be perceived.

16. The term ‘prior period items’, as defined in this Standard , refers only
to income or expenses which arise in the current period as a result of errors
or omissions in the preparation of the financial statements of one or more
prior periods. The term does not include other adjustments necessitated by
circumstances, which though related to prior periods, are determined in the
current period, e.g., arrears payable to workers as a result of revision of
wages with retrospective effect during the current period.

17. Errors in the preparation of the financial statements of one or more
prior periods may be discovered in the current period. Errors may occur as
a result of mathematical mistakes, mistakes in applying accounting policies,
misinterpretation of facts, or oversight.

18. Prior period items are generally infrequent in nature and can be
distinguished from changes in accounting estimates. Accounting estimates
by their nature are approximations that may need revision as additional
information becomes known. For example, income or expense recognised
on the outcome of a contingency which previously could not be estimated
reliably does not constitute a prior period item.

19. Prior period items are normally included in the determination of net
profit or loss for the current period. An alternative approach is to show such
items in the statement of profit and loss after determination of current net
profit or loss. In either case, the objective is to indicate the effect of such
items on the current profit or loss.

Changes in Accounting Estimates
20. As a result of the uncertainties inherent in business activities, many
financial statement items cannot be measured with precision but can only
be estimated. The estimation process involves judgments based on the latest
information available. Estimates may be required, for example, of bad debts,
inventory obsolescence or the useful lives of depreciable assets. The use of
reasonable estimates is an essential part of the preparation of financial
statements and does not undermine their reliability.
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21. An estimate may have to be revised if changes occur regarding the
circumstances on which the estimate was based, or as a result of new
information, more experience or subsequent developments. The revision of
the estimate, by its nature, does not bring the adjustment within the definitions
of an extraordinary item or a prior period item.

22. Sometimes, it is difficult to distinguish between a change in an accounting
policy and a change in an accounting estimate. In such cases, the change is
treated as a change in an accounting estimate, with appropriate disclosure.

23. The effect of a change in an accounting estimate should be included
in the determination of net profit or loss in:

(a) the period of the change, if the change affects the period
only; or

(b) the period of the change and future periods, if the change
affects both.

24. A change in an accounting estimate may affect the current period only
or both the current period and future periods. For example, a change in the
estimate of the amount of bad debts is recognised immediately and therefore
affects only the current period. However, a change in the estimated useful
life of a depreciable asset affects the depreciation in the current period and
in each period during the remaining useful life of the asset. In both cases,
the effect of the change relating to the current period is recognised as income
or expense in the current period. The effect, if any, on future periods, is
recognised in future periods.

25. The effect of a change in an accounting estimate should be classified
using the same classification in the statement of profit and loss as was
used previously for the estimate.

26. To ensure the comparability of financial statements of different periods,
the effect of a change in an accounting estimate which was previously
included in the profit or loss from ordinary activities is included in that
component of net profit or loss. The effect of a change in an accounting
estimate that was previously included as an extraordinary item is reported
as an extraordinary item.

27. The nature and amount of a change in an accounting estimate which
has a material effect in the current period, or which is expected to have a
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material effect in subsequent periods, should be disclosed. If it is
impracticable to quantify the amount, this fact should be disclosed.

Changes in Accounting Policies
28. Users need to be able to compare the financial statements of an
enterprise over a period of time in order to identify trends in its financial
position, performance and cash flows. Therefore, the same accounting
policies are normally adopted for similar events or transactions in each period.

29. A change in an accounting policy should be made only if the adoption
of a different accounting policy is required by statute or for compliance
with an accounting standard or if it is considered that the change would
result in a more appropriate presentation of the financial statements of
the enterprise.

30. A more appropriate presentation of events or transactions in the
financial statements occurs when the new accounting policy results in more
relevant or reliable information about the financial position, performance
or cash flows of the enterprise.

31. The following are not changes in accounting policies :

(a) the adoption of an accounting policy for events or transactions
that differ in substance from previously occurring events or
transactions, e.g., introduction of a formal retirement gratuity
scheme by an employer in place of ad hoc ex-gratia payments to
employees on retirement; and

(b) the adoption of a new accounting policy for events or transactions
which did not occur previously or that were immaterial.

32. Any change in an accounting policy which has a material effect
should be disclosed. The impact of, and the adjustments resulting from,
such change, if material, should be shown in the financial statements of
the period in which such change is made, to reflect the effect of such
change. Where the effect of such change is not ascertainable, wholly or in
part, the fact should be indicated. If a change is made in the accounting
policies which has no material effect on the financial statements for the
current period but which is reasonably expected to have a material effect
in later periods, the fact of such change should be appropriately disclosed
in the period in which the change is adopted.



   Net Profit or Loss for the Period     97

33. A change in accounting policy consequent upon the adoption of an
Accounting Standard should be accounted for in accordance with the
specific transitional provisions, if any, contained in that Accounting
Standard. However, disclosures required by paragraph 32 of this Standard
should be made unless the transitional provisions of any other Accounting
Standard require alternative disclosures in this regard.2

2 As a limited revision to AS 5, the Council of the Institute decided to add this paragraph
in AS 5 in 2001. This revision came into effect in respect of accounting periods
commencing on or after 1.4.2001 (see ‘The Chartered Accountant’, September 2001,
pp. 342).
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Accounting Standard (AS) 6*
(revised 1994)

Depreciation Accounting

[This Accounting Standard includes paragraphs set in bold italic type and
plain type, which have equal authority. Paragraphs in bold italic type indicate
the main principles. This Accounting Standard should be read in the context
of the Preface to the Statements of Accounting Standards1 and the
‘Applicability of Accounting Standards to Various Entities’ (See Appendix 1
to this Compendium).]

Introduction
1. This Standard deals with depreciation accounting and applies to all
depreciable assets, except the following items to which special considerations
apply:—

(i) forests, plantations and similar regenerative natural resources;

(ii) wasting assets including expenditure on the exploration for and
extraction of minerals, oils, natural gas and similar non-
regenerative resources;

(iii) expenditure on research and development;

(iv) goodwill and other intangible assets;

(v) live stock.

This standard also does not apply to land unless it has a limited useful life
for the enterprise.

2. Different accounting policies for depreciation are adopted by different
enterprises. Disclosure of accounting policies for depreciation followed by

* Accounting Standard (AS) 6, Depreciation Accounting, was issued by the Institute in
November 1982.
1 Attention is specifically drawn to paragraph 4.3 of the Preface, according to which
Accounting Standards are intended to apply only to items which are material.

94 AS 6 (issued 1982)
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2 This Standard does not deal with the treatment of the revaluation difference which
may arise when historical costs are substituted by revaluations.

an enterprise is necessary to appreciate the view presented in the financial
statements of the enterprise.

Definitions
3. The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings
specified:

3.1 Depreciation is a measure of the wearing out, consumption or
other loss of value of a depreciable asset arising from use, effluxion of
time or obsolescence through technology and market changes.
Depreciation is allocated so as to charge a fair proportion of the
depreciable amount in each accounting period during the expected
useful life of the asset. Depreciation includes amortisation of assets
whose useful life is predetermined.

3.2 Depreciable assets are assets which

(i) are expected to be used during more than one accounting
period; and

(ii) have a limited useful life; and

(iii) are held by an enterprise for use in the production or supply of
goods and services, for rental to others, or for administrative
purposes and not for the purpose of sale in the ordinary course
of business.

3.3 Useful life is either (i) the period over which a depreciable asset is
expected to be used by the enterprise; or (ii) the number of production or
similar units expected to be obtained from the use of the asset by the
enterprise.

3.4 Depreciable amount of a depreciable asset is its historical cost, or
other amount substituted for historical cost2  in the financial statements,
less the estimated residual value.
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Explanation
4. Depreciation has a significant effect in determining and presenting the
financial position and results of operations of an enterprise. Depreciation is
charged in each accounting period by reference to the extent of the depreciable
amount, irrespective of an increase in the market value of the assets.

5. Assessment of depreciation and the amount to be charged in respect
thereof in an accounting period are usually based on the following three
factors:

(i) historical cost or other amount substituted for the historical cost
of the depreciable asset when the asset has been revalued;

(ii) expected useful life of the depreciable asset; and

(iii) estimated residual value of the depreciable asset.

6. Historical cost of a depreciable asset represents its money outlay or its
equivalent in connection with its acquisition, installation and commissioning
as well as for additions to or improvement thereof. The historical cost of a
depreciable asset may undergo subsequent changes arising as a result of
increase or decrease in long term liability on account of exchange
fluctuations, price adjustments, changes in duties or similar factors.

7. The useful life of a depreciable asset is shorter than its physical life and
is:

(i) pre-determined by legal or contractual limits, such as the expiry
dates of related leases;

(ii) directly governed by extraction or consumption;

(iii) dependent on the extent of use and physical deterioration on
account of wear and tear which again depends on operational
factors, such as, the number of shifts for which the asset is to be
used, repair and maintenance policy of the enterprise etc.; and

(iv) reduced by obsolescence arising from such factors as:

(a) technological changes;
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(b) improvement in production methods;

(c) change in market demand for the product or service output
of the asset; or

(d) legal or other restrictions.

8. Determination of the useful life of a depreciable asset is a matter of
estimation and is normally based on various factors including experience
with similar types of assets. Such estimation is more difficult for an asset
using new technology or used in the production of a new product or in the
provision of a new service but is nevertheless required on some reasonable
basis.

9. Any addition or extension to an existing asset which is of a capital
nature and which becomes an integral part of the existing asset is depreciated
over the remaining useful life of that asset. As a practical measure, however,
depreciation is sometimes provided on such addition or extension at the
rate which is applied to an existing asset. Any addition or extension which
retains a separate identity and is capable of being used after the existing
asset is disposed of, is depreciated independently on the basis of an estimate
of its own useful life.

10. Determination of residual value of an asset is normally a difficult matter.
If such value is considered as insignificant, it is normally regarded as nil.
On the contrary, if the residual value is likely to be significant, it is estimated
at the time of acquisition/installation, or at the time of subsequent revaluation
of the asset. One of the bases for determining the residual value would be
the realisable value of similar assets which have reached the end of their
useful lives and have operated under conditions similar to those in which
the asset will be used.

11. The quantum of depreciation to be provided in an accounting period
involves the exercise of judgement by management in the light of technical,
commercial, accounting and legal requirements and accordingly may need
periodical review. If it is considered that the original estimate of useful life
of an asset requires any revision, the unamortised depreciable amount of
the asset is charged to revenue over the revised remaining useful life.

12. There are several methods of allocating depreciation over the useful
life of the assets. Those most commonly employed in industrial and
commercial enterprises are the straightline method and the reducing balance
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method. The management of a business selects the most appropriate
method(s) based on various important factors e.g., (i) type of asset, (ii) the
nature of the use of such asset and (iii) circumstances prevailing in the
business. A combination of more than one method is sometimes used. In
respect of depreciable assets which do not have material value, depreciation
is often allocated fully in the accounting period in which they are acquired.

13. The statute governing an enterprise may provide the basis for
computation of the depreciation. For example, the Companies Act, 1956 lays
down the rates of depreciation in respect of various assets. Where the
management’s estimate of the useful life of an asset of the enterprise is
shorter than that envisaged under the provisions of the relevant statute, the
depreciation provision is appropriately computed by applying a higher rate.
If the management’s estimate of the useful life of the asset is longer than that
envisaged under the statute, depreciation rate lower than that envisaged by
the statute can be applied only in accordance with requirements of the statute.

14. Where depreciable assets are disposed of, discarded, demolished or
destroyed, the net surplus or deficiency, if material, is disclosed separately.

15. The method of depreciation is applied consistently to provide
comparability of the results of the operations of the enterprise from period
to period. A change from one method of providing depreciation to another
is made only if the adoption of the new method is required by statute or for
compliance with an accounting standard or if it is considered that the change
would result in a more appropriate preparation or presentation of the financial
statements of the enterprise. When such a change in the method of
depreciation is made, depreciation is recalculated in accordance with the
new method from the date of the asset coming into use. The deficiency or
surplus arising from retrospective recomputation of depreciation in
accordance with the new method is adjusted in the accounts in the year in
which the method of depreciation is changed. In case the change in the
method results in deficiency in depreciation in respect of past years, the
deficiency is charged in the statement of profit and loss. In case the change
in the method results in surplus, the surplus is credited to the statement of
profit and loss. Such a change is treated as a change in accounting policy
and its effect is quantified and disclosed.

16. Where the historical cost of an asset has undergone a change due to
circumstances specified in para 6 above, the depreciation on the revised
unamortised depreciable amount is provided prospectively over the residual
useful life of the asset.
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Disclosure
17. The depreciation methods used, the total depreciation for the period for
each class of assets, the gross amount of each class of depreciable assets and
the related accumulated depreciation are disclosed in the financial statements
alongwith the disclosure of other accounting policies. The depreciation rates
or the useful lives of the assets are disclosed only if they are different from
the principal rates specified in the statute governing the enterprise.

18. In case the depreciable assets are revalued, the provision for
depreciation is based on the revalued amount on the estimate of the remaining
useful life of such assets. In case the revaluation has a material effect on the
amount of depreciation, the same is disclosed separately in the year in which
revaluation is carried out.

19. A change in the method of depreciation is treated as a change in an
accounting policy and is disclosed accordingly.3

Main Principles
20. The depreciable amount of a depreciable asset should be allocated
on a systematic basis to each accounting period during the useful life of
the asset.

21. The depreciation method selected should be applied consistently from
period to period. A change from one method of providing depreciation to
another should be made only if the adoption of the new method is required
by statute or for compliance with an accounting standard or if it is
considered that the change would result in a more appropriate preparation
or presentation of the financial statements of the enterprise. When such a
change in the method of depreciation is made, depreciation should be
recalculated in accordance with the new method from the date of the asset
coming into use. The deficiency or surplus arising from retrospective
recomputation of depreciation in accordance with the new method should
be adjusted in the accounts in the year in which the method of depreciation
is changed. In case the change in the method results in deficiency in
depreciation in respect of past years, the deficiency should be charged in
the statement of profit and loss. In case the change in the method results
in surplus, the surplus should be credited to the statement of profit and

3 Refer to AS 5.
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loss. Such a change should be treated as a change in accounting policy
and its effect should be quantified and disclosed.

22. The useful life of a depreciable asset should be estimated after
considering the following factors:

(i) expected physical wear and tear;

(ii) obsolescence;

(iii) legal or other limits on the use of the asset.

23. The useful lives of major depreciable assets or classes of depreciable
assets may be reviewed periodically. Where there is a revision of the
estimated useful life of an asset, the unamortised depreciable amount
should be charged over the revised remaining useful life.

24. Any addition or extension which becomes an integral part of the
existing asset should be depreciated over the remaining useful life of that
asset. The depreciation on such addition or extension may also be provided
at the rate applied to the existing asset. Where an addition or extension
retains a separate identity and is capable of being used after the existing
asset is disposed of, depreciation should be provided independently on the
basis of an estimate of its own useful life.

25. Where the historical cost of a depreciable asset has undergone a
change due to increase or decrease in long term liability on account of
exchange fluctuations, price adjustments, changes in duties or similar
factors, the depreciation on the revised unamortised depreciable amount
should be provided prospectively over the residual useful life of the asset.

26. Where the depreciable assets are revalued, the provision for
depreciation should be based on the revalued amount and on the estimate
of the remaining useful lives of such assets. In case the revaluation has a
material effect on the amount of depreciation, the same should be disclosed
separately in the year in which revaluation is carried out.

27. If any depreciable asset is disposed of, discarded, demolished or
destroyed, the net surplus or deficiency, if material, should be disclosed
separately.
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28. The following information should be disclosed in the financial
statements:

(i) the historical cost or other amount substituted for historical
cost of each class of depreciable assets;

(ii) total depreciation for the period for each class of assets; and

(iii) the related accumulated depreciation.

29. The following information should also be disclosed in the financial
statements alongwith the disclosure of other accounting policies:

(i) depreciation methods used; and

(ii) depreciation rates or the useful lives of the assets, if they are
different from the principal rates specified in the statute
governing the enterprise.
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Accounting Standard (AS) 7*
(revised 2002)

Construction Contracts

[This Accounting Standard includes paragraphs set in bold italic type and
plain type, which have equal authority. Paragraphs in bold italic type indicate
the main principles. This Accounting Standard should be read in the context
of its objective, the Preface to the Statements of Accounting Standards1 and
the ‘Applicability of Accounting Standards to Various Entities’ (See Appendix
1 to this Compendium).]

Objective
The objective of this Standard is to prescribe the accounting treatment of
revenue and costs associated with construction contracts. Because of the
nature of the activity undertaken in construction contracts, the date at which
the contract activity is entered into and the date when the activity is completed
usually fall into different accounting periods. Therefore, the primary issue
in accounting for construction contracts is the allocation of contract revenue
and contract costs to the accounting periods in which construction work is
performed.  This Standard uses the recognition criteria established in the
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements to
determine when contract revenue and contract costs should be recognised
as revenue and expenses in the statement of profit and loss. It also provides
practical guidance on the application of these criteria.

* Originally issued in December 1983 and titled as ‘Accounting for Construction
Contracts’. The Standard was revised in 2002 and came into effect in respect of all
contracts entered into during accounting periods commencing on or after 1-4-2003 and
is mandatory in nature from that date.  Accordingly, Accounting Standard (AS) 7,
‘Accounting for Construction Contracts’, issued by the Institute in December 1983, is
not applicable in respect of such contracts.
1 Attention is specifically drawn to paragraph 4.3 of the Preface, according to which
Accounting Standards are intended to apply only to items which are material.
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Scope

1. This Standard should be applied in accounting for construction
contracts in the financial statements of contractors.

Definitions

2. The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings
specified:

2.1 A construction contract is a contract specifically negotiated for the
construction of an asset or a combination of assets that are closely
interrelated or interdependent in terms of their design, technology and
function or their ultimate purpose or use.

2.2 A fixed price contract is a construction contract in which the
contractor agrees to a fixed contract price, or a fixed rate per unit of
output, which in some cases is subject to cost escalation clauses.

2.3 A cost plus contract is a construction contract in which the contractor
is reimbursed for allowable or otherwise defined costs, plus percentage of
these costs or a fixed fee.

3. A construction contract may be negotiated for the construction of a
single asset such as a bridge, building, dam, pipeline, road, ship or tunnel. A
construction contract may also deal with the construction of a number of
assets which are closely interrelated or interdependent in terms of their
design, technology and function or their ultimate purpose or use; examples
of such contracts include those for the construction of refineries and other
complex pieces of plant or equipment.

4. For the purposes of this Standard, construction contracts include:

(a) contracts for the rendering of services which are directly related
to the construction of the asset, for example, those for the services
of project managers and architects; and

(b) contracts for destruction or restoration of assets, and the
restoration of the environment following the demolition of assets.
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5. Construction contracts are formulated in a number of ways which, for
the purposes of this Standard, are classified as fixed price contracts and
cost plus contracts. Some construction contracts may contain characteristics
of both a fixed price contract and a cost plus contract, for example, in the
case of a cost plus contract with an agreed maximum price.  In such
circumstances, a contractor needs to consider all the conditions in paragraphs
22 and 23 in order to determine when to recognise contract revenue and
expenses.

Combining and Segmenting Construction
Contracts
6. The requirements of this Standard are usually applied separately to each
construction contract. However, in certain circumstances, it is necessary to
apply the Standard to the separately identifiable components of a single
contract or to a group of contracts together in order to reflect the substance
of a contract or a group of contracts.

7. When a contract covers a number of assets, the construction of each
asset should be treated as a separate construction contract when:

(a) separate proposals have been submitted for each asset;

(b) each asset has been subject to separate negotiation and the
contractor and customer have been able to accept or reject that
part of the contract relating to each asset; and

(c) the costs and revenues of each asset can be identified.

8. A group of contracts, whether with a single customer or with several
customers, should be treated as a single construction contract when:

(a) the group of contracts is negotiated as a single package;

(b) the contracts are so closely interrelated that they are, in effect,
part of a single project with an overall profit margin; and

(c) the contracts are performed concurrently or in a continuous
sequence.

9. A contract may provide for the construction of an additional asset at



Construction Contracts     111

the option of the customer or may be amended to include the construction
of an additional asset. The construction of the additional asset should be
treated as a separate construction contract when:

(a) the asset differs significantly in design, technology or function
from the asset or assets covered by the original contract; or

(b) the price of the asset is negotiated without regard to the original
contract price.

Contract Revenue
10. Contract revenue should comprise:

(a) the initial amount of revenue agreed in the contract; and

(b) variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments:

(i) to the extent that it is probable that they will result in
revenue; and

(ii) they are capable of being reliably measured.

11. Contract revenue is measured at the consideration received or
receivable. The measurement of contract revenue is affected by a variety of
uncertainties that depend on the outcome of future events.  The estimates
often need to be revised as events occur and uncertainties are resolved.
Therefore, the amount of contract revenue may increase or decrease from
one period to the next. For example:

(a) a contractor and a customer may agree to variations or claims
that increase or decrease contract revenue in a period subsequent
to that in which the contract was initially agreed;

(b) the amount of revenue agreed in a fixed price contract may
increase as a result of cost escalation clauses;

(c) the amount of contract revenue may decrease as a result of
penalties arising from delays caused by the contractor in the
completion of the contract; or

(d) when a fixed price contract involves a fixed price per unit of
output, contract revenue increases as the number of units is
increased.
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12. A variation is an instruction by the customer for a change in the scope
of the work to be performed under the contract. A variation may lead to an
increase or a decrease in contract revenue. Examples of variations are changes
in the specifications or design of the asset and changes in the duration of the
contract.  A variation is included in contract revenue when:

(a) it is probable that the customer will approve the variation and
the amount of revenue arising from the variation; and

(b) the amount of revenue can be reliably measured.

13. A claim is an amount that the contractor seeks to collect from the
customer or another party as reimbursement for costs not included in the
contract price. A claim may arise from, for example, customer caused delays,
errors in specifications or design, and disputed variations in contract work.
The measurement of the amounts of revenue arising from claims is subject
to a high level of uncertainty and often depends on the outcome of
negotiations. Therefore, claims are only included in contract revenue when:

(a) negotiations have reached an advanced stage such that it is
probable that the customer will accept the claim; and

(b) the amount that it is probable will be accepted by the customer
can be measured reliably.

14. Incentive payments are additional amounts payable to the contractor
if specified performance standards are met or exceeded. For example, a
contract may allow for an incentive payment to the contractor for early
completion of the contract. Incentive payments are included in contract
revenue when:

(a) the contract is sufficiently advanced that it is probable that the
specified performance standards will be met or exceeded; and

(b) the amount of the incentive payment can be measured reliably.

Contract Costs

15. Contract costs should comprise:

(a) costs that relate directly to the specific contract;
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(b) costs that are attributable to contract activity in general and
can be allocated to the contract; and

(c) such other costs as are specifically chargeable to the customer
under the terms of the contract.

16. Costs that relate directly to a specific contract include:

(a) site labour costs, including site supervision;

(b) costs of materials used in construction;

(c) depreciation of plant and equipment used on the contract;

(d) costs of moving plant, equipment and materials to and from the
contract site;

(e) costs of hiring plant and equipment;

(f) costs of design and technical assistance that is directly related to
the contract;

(g) the estimated costs of rectification and guarantee work, including
expected warranty costs; and

(h) claims from third parties.

These costs may be reduced by any incidental income that is not included in
contract revenue, for example income from the sale of surplus materials and
the disposal of plant and equipment at the end of the contract.

17. Costs that may be attributable to contract activity in general and can
be allocated to specific contracts include:

(a) insurance;

(b) costs of design and technical assistance that is not directly related
to a specific contract; and

(c) construction overheads.
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Such costs are allocated using methods that are systematic and rational and
are applied consistently to all costs having similar characteristics. The
allocation is based on the normal level of construction activity. Construction
overheads include costs such as the preparation and processing of
construction personnel payroll. Costs that may be attributable to contract
activity in general and can be allocated to specific contracts also include
borrowing costs as per Accounting Standard (AS) 16, Borrowing Costs.

18. Costs that are specifically chargeable to the customer under the terms
of the contract may include some general administration costs and
development costs for which reimbursement is specified in the terms of the
contract.

19. Costs that cannot be attributed to contract activity or cannot be allocated
to a contract are excluded from the costs of a construction contract. Such
costs include:

(a) general administration costs for which reimbursement is not
specified in the contract;

(b) selling costs;

(c) research and development costs for which reimbursement is not
specified in the contract; and

(d) depreciation of idle plant and equipment that is not used on a
particular contract.

20. Contract costs include the costs attributable to a contract for the period
from the date of securing the contract to the final completion of the contract.
However, costs that relate directly to a contract and which are incurred in
securing the contract are also included as part of the contract costs if they
can be separately identified and measured reliably and it is probable that the
contract will be obtained. When costs incurred in securing a contract are
recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred, they are
not included in contract costs when the contract is obtained in a subsequent
period.
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Recognition of Contract Revenue and Expenses

21. When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated
reliably, contract revenue and contract costs associated with the
construction contract should be recognised as revenue and expenses
respectively by reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity
at the reporting date. An expected loss on the construction contract should
be recognised as an expense immediately in accordance with paragraph
35.

22. In the case of a fixed price contract, the outcome of a construction
contract can be estimated reliably when all the following conditions are
satisfied:

(a) total contract revenue can be measured reliably;

(b) it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
contract will flow to the enterprise;

(c) both the contract costs to complete the contract and the stage
of contract completion at the reporting date can be measured
reliably; and

(d) the contract costs attributable to the contract can be clearly
identified and measured reliably so that actual contract costs
incurred can be compared with prior estimates.

23. In the case of a cost plus contract, the outcome of a construction
contract can be estimated reliably when all the following conditions are
satisfied:

(a) it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
contract will flow to the enterprise; and

(b) the contract costs attributable to the contract, whether or not
specifically reimbursable, can be clearly identified and
measured reliably.

24. The recognition of revenue and expenses by reference to the stage of
completion of a contract is often referred to as the percentage of completion
method. Under this method, contract revenue is matched with the contract
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costs incurred in reaching the stage of completion, resulting in the reporting
of revenue, expenses and profit which can be attributed to the proportion of
work completed. This method provides useful information on the extent of
contract activity and performance during a period.

25. Under the percentage of completion method, contract revenue is
recognised as revenue in the statement of profit and loss in the accounting
periods in which the work is performed. Contract costs are usually recognised
as an expense in the statement of profit and loss in the accounting periods in
which the work to which they relate is performed. However, any expected
excess of total contract costs over total contract revenue for the contract is
recognised as an expense immediately in accordance with paragraph 35.

26. A contractor may have incurred contract costs that relate to future
activity on the contract. Such contract costs are recognised as an asset
provided it is probable that they will be recovered. Such costs represent an
amount due from the customer and are often classified as contract work in
progress.

27. When an uncertainty arises about the collectability of an amount already
included in contract revenue, and already recognised in the statement of
profit and loss, the uncollectable amount or the amount in respect of which
recovery has ceased to be probable is recognised as an expense rather than
as an adjustment of the amount of contract revenue.

28. An enterprise is generally able to make reliable estimates after it has
agreed to a contract which establishes:

(a) each party’s enforceable rights regarding the asset to be
constructed;

(b) the consideration to be exchanged; and

(c) the manner and terms of settlement.

It is also usually necessary for the enterprise to have an effective internal
financial budgeting and reporting system. The enterprise reviews and, when
necessary, revises the estimates of contract revenue and contract costs as
the contract progresses. The need for such revisions does not necessarily
indicate that the outcome of the contract cannot be estimated reliably.
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29. The stage of completion of a contract may be determined in a variety
of ways. The enterprise uses the method that measures reliably the work
performed. Depending on the nature of the contract, the methods may include:

(a) the proportion that contract costs incurred for work performed
upto the reporting date bear to the estimated total contract costs;
or

(b) surveys of work performed; or

(c) completion of a physical proportion of the contract work.

Progress payments and advances received from customers may not
necessarily reflect the work performed.

30. When the stage of completion is determined by reference to the contract
costs incurred upto the reporting date, only those contract costs that reflect
work performed are included in costs incurred upto the reporting date.
Examples of contract costs which are excluded are:

(a) contract costs that relate to future activity on the contract, such
as costs of materials that have been delivered to a contract site or
set aside for use in a contract but not yet installed, used or applied
during contract performance, unless the materials have been made
specially for the contract; and

(b) payments made to subcontractors in advance of work performed
under the subcontract.

31. When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated
reliably:

(a) revenue should be recognised only to the extent of contract costs
incurred of which recovery is probable; and

(b) contract costs should be recognised as an expense in the period
in which they are incurred.

An expected loss on the construction contract should be recognised as an
expense immediately in accordance with paragraph 35.

32. During the early stages of a contract it is often the case that the outcome
of the contract cannot be estimated reliably. Nevertheless, it may be probable
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that the enterprise will recover the contract costs incurred. Therefore, contract
revenue is recognised only to the extent of costs incurred that are expected
to be recovered.  As the outcome of the contract cannot be estimated reliably,
no profit is recognised. However, even though the outcome of the contract
cannot be estimated reliably, it may be probable that total contract costs will
exceed total contract revenue. In such cases, any expected excess of total
contract costs over total contract revenue for the contract is recognised as
an expense immediately in accordance with paragraph 35.

33. Contract costs recovery of which is not probable are recognised as an
expense immediately. Examples of circumstances in which the recoverability
of contract costs incurred may not be probable and in which contract costs
may, therefore, need to be recognised as an expense immediately include
contracts:

(a) which are not fully enforceable, that is, their validity is seriously
in question;

(b) the completion of which is subject to the outcome of pending
litigation or legislation;

(c) relating to properties that are likely to be condemned or
expropriated;

(d) where the customer is unable to meet its obligations; or

(e) where the contractor is unable to complete the contract or
otherwise meet its obligations under the contract.

34. When the uncertainties that prevented the outcome of the contract
being estimated reliably no longer exist, revenue and expenses associated
with the construction contract should be recognised in accordance with
paragraph 21 rather than in accordance with paragraph 31.

Recognition of Expected Losses
35. When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract
revenue, the expected loss should be recognised as an expense immediately.

36. The amount of such a loss is determined irrespective of:

(a) whether or not work has commenced on the contract;
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(b) the stage of completion of contract activity; or

(c) the amount of profits expected to arise on other contracts which
are not treated as a single construction contract in accordance
with paragraph 8.

Changes in Estimates
37. The percentage of completion method is applied on a cumulative basis
in each accounting period to the current estimates of contract revenue and
contract costs. Therefore, the effect of a change in the estimate of contract
revenue or contract costs, or the effect of a change in the estimate of the
outcome of a contract, is accounted for as a change in accounting estimate
(see Accounting Standard (AS) 5, Net Profit or Loss for the Period, Prior
Period Items and Changes in Accounting Policies). The changed estimates
are used in determination of the amount of revenue and expenses recognised
in the statement of profit and loss in the period in which the change is made
and in subsequent periods.

Disclosure
38. An enterprise should disclose:

(a) the amount of contract revenue recognised as revenue in the
period;

(b) the methods used to determine the contract revenue recognised
in the period; and

(c) the methods used to determine the stage of completion of
contracts in progress.

39. An enterprise should disclose the following for contracts in progress
at the reporting date:

(a) the aggregate amount of costs incurred and recognised profits
(less recognised losses) upto the reporting date;

(b) the amount of advances received; and

(c) the amount of retentions.

40. Retentions are amounts of progress billings which are not paid until
the satisfaction of conditions specified in the contract for the payment of
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such amounts or until defects have been rectified. Progress billings are
amounts billed for work performed on a contract whether or not they have
been paid by the customer. Advances are amounts received by the contractor
before the related work is performed.

41. An enterprise should present:

(a) the gross amount due from customers for contract work as an
asset; and

(b) the gross amount due to customers for contract work as a
liability.

42. The gross amount due from customers for contract work is the net
amount of:

(a) costs incurred plus recognised profits; less

(b) the sum of recognised losses and progress billings

for all contracts in progress for which costs incurred plus recognised profits
(less recognised losses) exceeds progress billings.

43. The gross amount due to customers for contract work is the net amount of:

(a) the sum of recognised losses and progress billings; less

(b) costs incurred plus recognised profits

for all contracts in progress for which progress billings exceed costs incurred
plus recognised profits (less recognised losses).

44. An enterprise discloses any contingencies in accordance with
Accounting Standard (AS) 4, Contingencies and Events Occurring After
the Balance Sheet Date2.  Contingencies may arise from such items as
warranty costs, penalties or possible losses.

2 Pursuant to AS 29, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, becom-
ing mandatory, all paragraphs of AS 4 that deal with contingencies stand withdrawn
except to the extent they deal with impairment of assets not covered by other
Accounting Standards.
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Illustration
This illustration does not form part of the Accounting Standard.  Its purpose
is to illustrate the application of the Accounting Standard to assist in clarifying
its meaning.

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The following are illustrations of accounting policy disclosures:

Revenue from fixed price construction contracts is recognised on the
percentage of completion method, measured by reference to the percentage
of labour hours incurred upto the reporting date to estimated total labour
hours for each contract.

Revenue from cost plus contracts is recognised by reference to the
recoverable costs incurred during the period plus the fee earned, measured
by the proportion that costs incurred upto the reporting date bear to the
estimated total costs of the contract.

The Determination of Contract Revenue and Expenses

The following illustration illustrates one method of determining the stage
of completion of a contract and the timing of the recognition of contract
revenue and expenses (see paragraphs 21 to 34 of the Standard). (Amounts
shown hereinbelow are in Rs. lakhs)

A construction contractor has a fixed price contract for Rs. 9,000 to build a
bridge.  The initial amount of revenue agreed in the contract is Rs. 9,000.
The contractor’s initial estimate of contract costs is Rs. 8,000.  It will take 3
years to build the bridge.

By the end of year 1, the contractor’s estimate of contract costs has increased
to Rs. 8,050.

In year 2, the customer approves a variation resulting in an increase in contract
revenue of Rs. 200 and estimated additional contract costs of Rs. 150.  At
the end of year 2, costs incurred include Rs. 100 for standard materials
stored at the site to be used in year 3 to complete the project.
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The contractor determines the stage of completion of the contract by
calculating the proportion that contract costs incurred for work performed
upto the reporting date bear to the latest estimated total contract costs.  A
summary of the financial data during the construction period is as follows:

(amount in Rs. lakhs)

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3

Initial amount of revenue agreed in contract 9,000 9,000 9,000

Variation    —    200    200

Total contract revenue 9,000 9,200 9,200

Contract costs incurred upto the reporting date 2,093 6,168 8,200

Contract costs to complete 5,957 2,032    —

Total estimated contract costs 8,050 8,200 8,200

Estimated Profit 950 1,000 1,000

Stage of completion 26% 74% 100%

The stage of completion for year 2 (74%) is determined by excluding from
contract costs incurred for work performed upto the reporting date, Rs. 100
of standard materials stored at the site for use in year 3.

The amounts of revenue, expenses and profit recognised in the statement of
profit and loss in the three years are as follows:

Recognised in Recognised in
Prior years current year

Year 1

Revenue (9,000x .26)    2,340      2,340
Expenses (8,050x .26)    2,093      2,093

Profit      247        247
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Year 2

Revenue (9,200x .74) 6,808 2,340 4,468
Expenses (8,200x .74) 6,068 2,093 3,975

Profit   740   247   493

Year 3

Revenue (9,200x 1.00) 9,200 6,808 2,392
Expenses 8,200 6,068 2,132

Profit 1,000   740    260

Contract Disclosures

A contractor has reached the end of its first year of operations.  All its contract
costs incurred have been paid for in cash and all its progress billings and
advances have been received in cash.  Contract costs incurred for contracts
B, C and E include the cost of materials that have been purchased for the
contract but which have not been used in contract performance upto the
reporting date.  For contracts B, C and E, the customers have made advances
to the contractor for work not yet performed.
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The status of its five contracts in progress at the end of year 1 is as follows:

Contract

(amount in Rs. lakhs)

A B C D E Total

Contract Revenue recognised in 145 520 380 200 55 1,300
accordance with paragraph 21

Contract Expenses recognised in 110 450 350 250 55 1,215
accordance with paragraph 21

Expected Losses recognised in — — —  40 30     70
accordance with paragraph 35

Recognised profits less 35  70  30 (90) (30)     15
recognised losses

Contract Costs incurred in the 110 510 450 250 100 1,420
period

Contract Costs incurred recognised
as contract expenses in the period
in accordance with paragraph 21 110 450 350 250 55 1,215

Contract Costs that relate to future
activity recognised as an asset in
accordance with paragraph 26 —  60 100 — 45   205

Contract Revenue (see above) 145 520 380 200 55 1,300
Progress Billings (paragraph 40) 100 520 380 180 55 1,235

Unbilled Contract Revenue  45 — — 20 —      65

Advances (paragraph 40) — 80 20 — 25    125

The amounts to be disclosed in accordance with the Standard are as follows:

Contract revenue recognised as revenue in the period
[paragraph 38(a)] 1,300

Contract costs incurred and recognised profits
(less recognised losses) upto the reporting date
[paragraph 39(a)] 1,435

Advances received [paragraph 39(b)] 125



Construction Contracts     125

Gross amount due from customers for contract work—
presented as an asset in accordance with paragraph 41(a) 220

Gross amount due to customers for contract work—
presented as a liability in accordance with paragraph 41(b) (20)

The amounts to be disclosed in accordance with paragraphs 39(a), 41(a)
and 41(b) are calculated as follows:

(amount in Rs. lakhs)

A B C D E Total

Contract Costs incurred 110 510 450 250 100 1,420

Recognised profits less 35 70 30 (90) (30) 15
recognised losses

145 580 480 160 70 1,435

Progress billings 100 520 380 180 55 1,235

Due from customers 45 60 100 — 15 220

Due to customers — — — (20) — (20)

The amount disclosed in accordance with paragraph 39(a) is the same as the
amount for the current period because the disclosures relate to the first year
of operation.
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Accounting Standard (AS) 911111

(issued 1985)

Revenue Recognition

[This Accounting Standard includes paragraphs set in bold italic type and
plain type, which have equal authority. Paragraphs in bold italic type indicate
the main principles. This Accounting Standard should be read in the context
of the Preface to the Statements of Accounting Standards2 and the
‘Applicability of Accounting Standards to Various Entities’ (See Appendix 1
to this Compendium).]

Introduction
1. This Standard deals with the bases for recognition of revenue in the
statement of profit and loss of an enterprise. The Standard is concerned
with the recognition of revenue arising in the course of the ordinary activities
of the enterprise from

— the sale of goods,

— the rendering of services, and

— the use by others of enterprise resources yielding interest, royalties
and dividends.

2. This Standard does not deal with the following aspects of revenue
recognition to which special considerations apply:

(i) Revenue arising from construction contracts;3

(ii) Revenue arising from hire-purchase, lease agreements;

1 It is reiterated that this Accounting Standard (as is the case of other accounting
standards) assumes that the three fundamental accounting assumptions i.e., going
concern, consistency and accrual have been followed in the preparation and presentation
of financial statements.
2 Attention is specifically drawn to paragraph 4.3 of the Preface, according to which
Accounting Standards are intended to apply only to items which are material.
3 Refer to AS 7 on ‘Construction Contracts’.

122 AS 9 (issued 1985)
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(iii) Revenue arising from government grants and other similar
subsidies;

(iv) Revenue of insurance companies arising from insurance contracts.

3. Examples of items not included within the definition of “revenue” for
the purpose of this Standard are:

(i) Realised gains resulting from the disposal of, and unrealised gains
resulting from the holding of, non-current assets e.g. appreciation
in the value of fixed assets;

(ii) Unrealised holding gains resulting from the change in value of
current assets, and the natural increases in herds and agricultural
and forest products;

(iii) Realised or unrealised gains resulting from changes in foreign
exchange rates and adjustments arising on the translation of
foreign currency financial statements;

(iv) Realised gains resulting from the discharge of an obligation at
less than its carrying amount;

(v) Unrealised gains resulting from the restatement of the carrying
amount of an obligation.

Definitions
4. The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings
specified:

4.1 Revenue is the gross inflow of cash, receivables or other consideration
arising in the course of the ordinary activities of an enterprise4 from the
sale of goods, from the rendering of services, and from the use by others

4 The Institute has issued an Announcement in 2005 titled ‘Treatment of Inter-divi-
sional Transfers’ (published in ‘The Chartered Accountant’ May 2005, pp. 1531).  As
per the Announcement, the recognition of inter-divisional transfers as sales is an inap-
propriate accounting treatment and is inconsistent with Accounting Standard 9.  [For
full text of the Announcement reference may be made to the section titled ‘Announce-
ments of the Council regarding status of various documents issued by the Institute of
Chartered Accountants of India’ appearing at the beginning of this Compendium.]
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of enterprise resources yielding interest, royalties and dividends. Revenue
is measured by the charges made to customers or clients for goods supplied
and services rendered to them and by the charges and rewards arising
from the use of resources by them. In an agency relationship, the revenue
is the amount of commission and not the gross inflow of cash, receivables
or other consideration.

4.2 Completed service contract method is a method of accounting which
recognises revenue in the statement of profit and loss only when the
rendering of services under a contract is completed or substantially
completed.

4.3 Proportionate completion method is a method of accounting which
recognises revenue in the statement of profit and loss proportionately with
the degree of completion of services under a contract.

Explanation
5. Revenue recognition is mainly concerned with the timing of recognition
of revenue in the statement of profit and loss of an enterprise. The amount
of revenue arising on a transaction is usually determined by agreement
between the parties involved in the transaction. When uncertainties exist
regarding the determination of the amount, or its associated costs, these
uncertainties may influence the timing of revenue recognition.

6. Sale of Goods
6.1 A key criterion for determining when to recognise revenue from a
transaction involving the sale of goods is that the seller has transferred the
property in the goods to the buyer for a consideration. The transfer of property
in goods, in most cases, results in or coincides with the transfer of significant
risks and rewards of ownership to the buyer. However, there may be situations
where transfer of property in goods does not coincide with the transfer of
significant risks and rewards of ownership. Revenue in such situations is
recognised at the time of transfer of significant risks and rewards of
ownership to the buyer. Such cases may arise where delivery has been delayed
through the fault of either the buyer or the seller and the goods are at the
risk of the party at fault as regards any loss which might not have occurred
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but for such fault. Further, sometimes the parties may agree that the risk
will pass at a time different from the time when ownership passes.

6.2 At certain stages in specific industries, such as when agricultural crops
have been harvested or mineral ores have been extracted, performance may
be substantially complete prior to the execution of the transaction generating
revenue. In such cases when sale is assured under a forward contract or a
government guarantee or where market exists and there is a negligible risk
of failure to sell, the goods involved are often valued at net realisable value.
Such amounts, while not revenue as defined in this Standard, are sometimes
recognised in the statement of profit and loss and appropriately described.

7. Rendering of Services
7.1 Revenue from service transactions is usually recognised as the service
is performed, either by the proportionate completion method or by the
completed service contract method.

(i) Proportionate completion method—Performance consists of the
execution of more than one act. Revenue is recognised
proportionately by reference to the performance of each act. The
revenue recognised under this method would be determined on
the basis of contract value, associated costs, number of acts or
other suitable basis. For practical purposes, when services are
provided by an indeterminate number of acts over a specific period
of time, revenue is recognised on a straight line basis over the
specific period unless there is evidence that some other method
better represents the pattern of performance.

(ii) Completed service contract method—Performance consists of
the execution of a single act. Alternatively, services are performed
in more than a single act, and the services yet to be performed
are so significant in relation to the transaction taken as a whole
that performance cannot be deemed to have been completed until
the execution of those acts. The completed service contract
method is relevant to these patterns of performance and
accordingly revenue is recognised when the sole or final act takes
place and the service becomes chargeable.
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8. The Use by Others of Enterprise Resources Yielding
Interest, Royalties and Dividends
8.1 The use by others of such enterprise resources gives rise to:

(i) interest—charges for the use of cash resources or amounts due
to the enterprise;

(ii) royalties—charges for the use of such assets as know-how,
patents, trade marks and copyrights;

(iii) dividends—rewards from the holding of investments in shares.

8.2 Interest accrues, in most circumstances, on the time basis determined
by the amount outstanding and the rate applicable. Usually, discount or
premium on debt securities held is treated as though it were accruing over
the period to maturity.

8.3 Royalties accrue in accordance with the terms of the relevant agreement
and are usually recognised on that basis unless, having regard to the substance
of the transactions, it is more appropriate to recognise revenue on some
other systematic and rational basis.

8.4 Dividends from investments in shares are not recognised in the
statement of profit and loss until a right to receive payment is established.

8.5 When interest, royalties and dividends from foreign countries require
exchange permission and uncertainty in remittance is anticipated, revenue
recognition may need to be postponed.

9. Effect of Uncertainties on Revenue Recognition
9.1 Recognition of revenue requires that revenue is measurable and that
at the time of sale or the rendering of the service it would not be unreasonable
to expect ultimate collection.

9.2 Where the ability to assess the ultimate collection with reasonable
certainty is lacking at the time of raising any claim, e.g., for escalation of
price, export incentives, interest etc., revenue recognition is postponed to
the extent of uncertainty involved. In such cases, it may be appropriate to
recognise revenue only when it is reasonably certain that the ultimate
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collection will be made. Where there is no uncertainty as to ultimate
collection, revenue is recognised at the time of sale or rendering of service
even though payments are made by instalments.

9.3 When the uncertainty relating to collectability arises subsequent to
the time of sale or the rendering of the service, it is more appropriate to
make a separate provision to reflect the uncertainty rather than to adjust the
amount of revenue originally recorded.

9.4 An essential criterion for the recognition of revenue is that the
consideration receivable for the sale of goods, the rendering of services or
from the use by others of enterprise resources is reasonably determinable.
When such consideration is not determinable within reasonable limits, the
recognition of revenue is postponed.

9.5 When recognition of revenue is postponed due to the effect of
uncertainties, it is considered as revenue of the period in which it is properly
recognised.

Main Principles
10. Revenue from sales or service transactions should be recognised
when the requirements as to performance set out in paragraphs 11 and 12
are satisfied, provided that at the time of performance it is not unreasonable
to expect ultimate collection. If at the time of raising of any claim it is
unreasonable to expect ultimate collection, revenue recognition should
be postponed.

Explanation :

The amount of revenue from sales transactions (turnover) should be
disclosed in the following manner on the face of the statement of profit or
loss :

Turnover (Gross) XX

Less: Excise Duty XX

Turnover (Net) XX

The amount of excise duty to be deducted from the turnover should be the
total excise duty for the year except the excise duty related to the difference
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between the closing start and opening stock. The excise duty related to the
difference between the closing stock and opening stock should be
recognised separately in the statement of profit or loss, with an explanatory
note in the notes to accounts to explain the nature of the two amounts of
excise duty.

11. In a transaction involving the sale of goods, performance should be
regarded as being achieved when the following conditions have been
fulfilled:

(i) the seller of goods has transferred to the buyer the property in
the goods for a price or all significant risks and rewards of
ownership have been transferred to the buyer and the seller
retains no effective control of the goods transferred to a degree
usually associated with ownership; and

(ii) no significant uncertainty exists regarding the amount of the
consideration that will be derived from the sale of the goods.

12. In a transaction involving the rendering of services, performance
should be measured either under the completed service contract method
or under the proportionate completion method, whichever relates the
revenue to the work accomplished. Such performance should be regarded
as being achieved when no significant uncertainty exists regarding the
amount of the consideration that will be derived from rendering the service.

13. Revenue arising from the use by others of enterprise resources
yielding interest, royalties and dividends should only be recognised when
no significant uncertainty as to measurability or collectability exists. These
revenues are recognised on the following bases:

(i) Interest : on a time proportion basis taking into
account the amount outstanding and the
rate applicable.

(ii) Royalties : on an accrual basis in accordance with the
terms of the relevant agreement.

(iii) Dividends from : when the owner’s right to receive payment
investments in is established.
shares
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Disclosure
14. In addition to the disclosures required by Accounting Standard 1 on
‘Disclosure of Accounting Policies’ (AS 1), an enterprise should also
disclose the circumstances in which revenue recognition has been
postponed pending the resolution of significant uncertainties.

Illustrations

These illustrations do not form part of the Accounting Standard. Their
purpose is to illustrate the application of the Standard to a number of
commercial situations in an endeavour to assist in clarifying application of
the Standard.

A. Sale of Goods
1. Delivery is delayed at buyer’s request and buyer takes title and accepts
billing

Revenue should be recognised notwithstanding that physical delivery has
not been completed so long as there is every expectation that delivery will
be made. However, the item must be on hand, identified and ready for delivery
to the buyer at the time the sale is recognised rather than there being simply
an intention to acquire or manufacture the goods in time for delivery.

2. Delivered subject to conditions

(a) installation and inspection i.e. goods are sold subject to installation,
inspection etc.

Revenue should normally not be recognised until the customer accepts
delivery and installation and inspection are complete. In some cases, however,
the installation process may be so simple in nature that it may be appropriate
to recognise the sale notwithstanding that installation is not yet completed
(e.g. installation of a factory-tested television receiver normally only requires
unpacking and connecting of power and antennae).

(b) on approval

Revenue should not be recognised until the goods have been formally
accepted by the buyer or the buyer has done an act adopting the transaction
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